
 
 

 

 

 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held in the The Main Hall at Spennymoor 
Leisure Centre on Wednesday 20 October 2021 at 10.00 a.m. to 
transact the following business:- 
 
 

1. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 
September 2021  (Pages 5 - 20) 

 

2. To receive any declarations of interest from Members   
 

3. Chair's Announcements   
 

4. Leader's Report   
 

5. Questions from the Public   
 

6. Petitions   
 

7. Report from the Cabinet  (Pages 21 - 40) 
 

8. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 - Report of 
Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 41 - 60) 

 

9. Treasury Management Outturn 2020/21 - Report of 
Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 61 - 72) 

 

10. Report of the Audit Committee for the Period September 
2020 to August 2021 - Report of Chair of the Audit 
Committee  (Pages 73 - 86) 

 

11. Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2020-2021 - 
Report of Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel  (Pages 
87 - 118) 

 



 

 

12. Adoption of Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 
- Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth  (Pages 119 - 200) 

 

13. Motions on Notice   
 

 Councillor F Tinsley to Move 
 
This Council condemns the changes made by the 
Conservative government to the way Adult Social Care is 
funded in England. This includes the introduction of an 
‘Adult Social Care Cap’ of £86K and increases to National 
Insurance contributions which will have a disproportionate 
financial impact on younger members of society and small 
businesses recovering from the Covid 19 pandemic.  The 
changes will have an unfair impact on residents of County 
Durham because the Adult Social Care Cap is a much 
higher proportion of the average value of houses in County 
Durham than in many other parts of the country. 
 
Councillor P Molloy to Move 
 
The Council’s Armed Forces discount enables all serving 
personnel, both regular and reserve, to take advantage of 
an 18% discount on gym or swim memberships. The 
approach was one of two additional ways of supporting 
members of the armed forces. It was agreed to implement 
this to help retain the Council’s Gold Award status in the 
Ministry of Defence’s Employer Recognition Scheme.  
 
The Council does not currently provide armed forces 
veterans per se with a discount on gym or swim 
membership.  To keep this Council in line with its 
commitment to the armed forces covenant, I would like to 
propose that this Council acknowledges that armed forces 
veterans are part of the armed forces community and 
resolves: 
 
i),To request that the relevant Portfolio Holder and Armed 
Forces Champion review the discount scheme  (with 
relevant Officers) to consider extending the armed forces 
discount for gym and swimming memberships to veterans. 
 

14. Questions from Members   
 

 
 



 

 

And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 12th day of October 2021 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At an Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the The Main Hall - 
Spennymoor Leisure Centre on Wednesday 22 September 2021 at 10.00 
am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor W Stelling in the Chair 
 

Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
B Avery, B Bainbridge (Vice-Chair), A Batey, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, G Binney, 
D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, J Cairns, J Chaplow, R Charlton-Lainé, J Charlton, 
J Cosslett, B Coult, R Crute, M Currah, S Deinali, T Duffy, K Earley, J Elmer, 
K Fantarrow, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, J Griffiths, O Gunn, C Hampson, 
D Haney, A Hanson, P Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, J Higgins, L Holmes, 
C Hood, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, M Johnson, 
N Jones, P Jopling, L Kennedy, C Lines, L Maddison, R Manchester, C Marshall, 
C Martin, L Mavin, B McAloon, M McGaun, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, 
S McMahon, J Miller, B Moist, P Molloy, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, 
D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, A Reed, 
G Richardson, I Roberts, M Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, 
A Savory, E Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, 
A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, F Tinsley, S Townsend, 
C Varty, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes, M Wilson, S Wilson and D Wood 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors K Batey, J Blakey, 
I Cochrane, K Hawley, D Howarth, J Howey, B Kellett, E Mavin, S Quinn, 
S Robinson, J Shuttleworth, T Smith, P Taylor and E Waldock 
 

 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Chair reported with regret the 
passing of former Chester-le-Street District Councillor Richard Court who 
represented the Lumley Ward on the District Council from 2007 to 2009.  
Members gave a moments reflection out of respect to Richard. 
 

1 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2021 were confirmed by the 
Council as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



2 Declarations of interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda 
 

3 Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair informed Council that, as restrictions had gradually eased, he had 
started to resume some of the more regular functions as Chair of the Council 
as follows: 

 met with the Police and Crime Commissioner for County Durham and 
Darlington, Joy Allen; 

 visited Villa Real and Bishop Ian Ramsey Schools, attended the Battle 
of Britain Service in Durham Cathedral and had visited the Land, Air 
and Sea Museum in Sunderland; 

 attended the Seaham Food Festival.  It was fantastic to see the 
thousands of people supporting the event to support independent 
traders, boost business recovery and enjoy the outdoor theatre, music 
and taster activities against the stunning backdrop of Seaham.  
Seaham Food Festival was just one of a number of events which 
helped to showcase the county’s cultural offer as the Council bid to 
become UK City of Culture 2025.  The Chair was sure that the Bishop 
Auckland Food festival taking place on 2 and 3 October would be 
equally as successful. 

 
Councillor A Hopgood, Leader of the Council, moved a Motion without 
Notice under Council Procedure Rule 11 to change the order of business on 
the Agenda to consider Item No 8 as the next Item so that the Interim Chief 
Executive could join the meeting.  The Leader also moved that standing 
orders be suspended to allow Motions to be heard and debated to a 
maximum time of 12.15 p.m. to allow the Agenda to be completed before the 
2½ hour deadline.  Seconded by Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader and 
Portfolio Holder for Finance. 
 
Both Motions were unanimously agreed. 
 

4 Appointment of Chief Executive  
 
The Council considered a report of the Chief Officer Appointments 
Committee regarding the appointment of the Chief Executive of Durham 
County Council (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Moved by Councillor Hopgood, Seconded by Councillor C Marshall and 
 
 
 

Page 6



 
Resolved: 
That John Hewitt be appointed to the post of Chief Executive Officer with 
immediate effect. 
 
John Hewitt, Chief Executive, joined the meeting. 
 

5 Leader's Report  
 
The Council noted a report from the Leader of the Council as follows: 
 
The Leader welcomed all Members back following the summer recess and 
hoped they were all able to take some time out to enjoy the warm weather 
and recharge their batteries. 
 
The council’s response to the pandemic remained at the heart of much of the 
council’s work, although the Leader was pleased to report that the vast 
majority of services that had to close due to Government restrictions were 
now back up and running again.  
 
The council had also launched its Covid Acts of Kindness campaign, to 
highlight and recognise some of the wonderful things people across the 
region had done to support others during the pandemic and to provide 
ongoing support.  If any Member knew someone who deserved to be 
nominated, more information was available on the Beat Covid North East 
website. 
 
County Durham’s campaign to become UK City of Culture 2025 was 
gathering pace, with the next stage of the bidding process approaching.  The 
Leader encouraged everyone to visit the Durham 2025 website and share 
the council’s social media messages with as many people as possible.  
 
Last week, Cabinet met for the first time following the summer recess and 
approved plans to invest £49.6 million in the expansion of NETPark at 
Sedgefield.  The third phase of developing the region’s premier science and 
technology park would help create more and better jobs for residents, and 
would be worth up to £625 million to the county’s economy. 
 
The County Durham Care Academy had been awarded a £70,165 grant by 
the Workforce Development Fund to help local care providers cover the 
expense of upskilling their staff.  This funding was in addition to a £44,000 
grant awarded last year and would assist in expanding the academy’s 
training offer. 
 
During the recess, young people across the county received their GCSE and 
A level results.  These students experienced unprecedented challenges 

Page 7



during their last academic year, including two lockdowns and periods in 
between when many students were likely to have had to self-isolate.  The 
Leader was sure council would join her in praising all of the county’s young 
people for the dedication and resilience in these unprecedented times and 
also in thanking the school and council staff who had supported them. 
 
Over the summer break, the council’s Area Action Partnerships provided a 
wide range of support to children and young people through the free Fun and 
Food programme.  The initiative provided healthy food for those who took 
part and was set up in response to the fact that some families struggled to 
keep children fed and entertained while they were off school. 
 
An estimated 190 community facilities in the county were set to benefit from 
combined funding of more than £700,000 to help them recover from the 
pandemic.  Venues had been invited to apply for grants from the Covid 
Outbreak Management Fund to help them reopen safely. 
 
The Leader was pleased to report that visitors to Chester-le-Street could now 
enjoy free internet access, with the introduction of public wi-fi in the town 
centre.  Funded by the council, the free public wi-fi was part of the council’s 
multimillion-pound Towns and Villages scheme to enhance the vibrancy of 
communities across the county and aimed to help boost footfall in the town 
following the easing of coronavirus restrictions. 
 
The autumn would see the return of Lumiere, the UK’s leading light festival, 
which would run across four nights from 18 to 21 November.  The council 
was aiming for this year’s event to be bigger and better than ever to light up 
the county as the dark nights took hold. 
 
Following the success of Seaham Food Festival, Bishop Auckland Food 
Festival returned on Saturday 2 and Sunday 3 October.  The event would 
offer a packed programme of cookery demonstrations and entertainment as 
well as fresh produce courtesy of the county’s finest food producers. 
 

6 Questions from the Public  
 
One public question had been received from Mr Cunningham as follows: 
 
Reading from the Council’s latest Statement of Accounts on Page 124, I note 
that the Council holds a remainder, from the original gift of six millions 
Sterling of taxpayers’ cash: of three million one hundred and sixty thousand 
Pounds Sterling which has been ‘invested’ (my emphasis) in redeemable 
preference shares in Durham Cricket Community Interest Company 
(DCCIC); formerly the Durham County Cricket Club.  My training and 
expertise is in heavy Electrical Engineering, and not in Finance, but, having 
studied the Accounts of the DCCIC, even a neophyte or mere beginner 

Page 8



would swiftly realise that there is little or no chance of seeing even a fraction 
of that cash owed the Council being either available or still there at the end of 
the “Loan period” (again, my emphasis), mainly due to the parlous financial 
position of the aforementioned DCCIC; which owes nearly £6 million pounds 
Sterling.  The Council’s duty is to supervise and care for the cash entrusted 
to it by the people who voted for you, and should make every effort to recoup 
any money handed to prop up inadequately financed and poorly-run risky 
endeavours.  As I have previously stated, I am no financial expert, but I 
would ask the Leaders of the New Administration if we should not indeed see 
the Council, as the majority Debtor, strongly advise the DCCIC directors that 
they should provide new capital; and allow the redemption of the Loan: or 
look at the viability of forcing this Company into Liquidation, sell the land to a 
developer, and see the return of Council Taxpayer’s cash from the developer 
back into the Council’s bank accounts? 
 
Councillor R Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance thanked Mr 
Cunningham for his question and gave the following response: 
 
Durham County Cricket Club is one of the only major representative sports 
teams that represent the county on the national stage and able to bring 
international sport to the county and ensure the county of Durham receives 
exposure on a global stage. 
 
This has been recognised in the past, with the county council providing 
financial support to the club in the form of loans, very much in line with the 
support other local authorities across the country have provided to their 
county cricket clubs.  At the same time, the council has always sought to be 
prudent in the funding provided, has set clear expectations on repayment of 
any sums it has loaned it and has sought to protect the public funding 
invested. 
 
In this regard the county council provided loans of £4.3 million to the cricket 
club between 2009 and 2014, a period that culminated in the staging of an 
Ashes five day game at Chester-le-Street in 2013.  Over the period 2009 to 
2017 the cricket club repaid £560,000 of principal repayments and were also 
required to pay £750,000 of interest that was being charged at rates of up to 
7.5%.  This interest return to the council being significantly higher than what 
the council could have received from investing this sum elsewhere. 
 
During 2016 and 2017 the council worked in partnership with the English 
Cricket Board to secure the future of the cricket club.  As part of this 
arrangement the English Cricket Board agreed to write off all of their debt 
whilst the council agreed to convert its remaining outstanding debt of £3.740 
million into ten-year redeemable preference shares. In this circumstance the 
redeemable preference shares do not attract dividend payments but the 

Page 9



value of the redeemable preference shares must be repaid to the council 
over the 10 year period to 2027. 
 
In that regard the cricket club have continued to commit to repay sums to 
reduce the value of the sum to be redeemed even during the period of the 
pandemic.  In total since 2017 the club have redeemed £780,000 from the 
outstanding sum, resulting in the sum still to be redeemed reducing to £2.960 
million currently.  The council have board membership to the club and have 
access to all financial performance information.  This would indicate that the 
club are in a stronger position that at any time over the last 10 years and are 
now receiving additional income in relation to the new ‘hundred’ cricket 
competition. 
 
To summarise, the council has provided £4.3 million of financial support to 
the cricket club, with this support provided a number of years ago now.  To 
date the cricket club have repaid or redeemed £1.340 million or 30% of this 
sum, with £2.960 million still left to be redeemed. Interest repayments of 
£760,000 have been received.  In line with the 10 year redemption deadline, 
the council fully expects that the outstanding £2.960 million will be redeemed 
by 2027 and are content that the improved financial position of the club will 
ensure this is the outcome that is achieved. 
 

7 Petitions  
 
There were no petitions for consideration. 
 

8 Report from the Cabinet  
 
The Council noted a report from the Cabinet which provided information on 
issues considered by the Cabinet at its meeting held on 7 July 2021 (for copy 
see file of Minutes). 
 

9 Motions on Notice  
 
Moved by Councillor J Miller, Seconded by Councillor L Hovvels 
 
In 2020, during the COVID-19 pandemic, it was highlighted that many school 
children go hungry during school holidays, with the campaign for central 
Government to fund free school meals.  However, what was missed is that 
school holidays take place every year, and not just during pandemics.  This 
means that children are at risk of hunger every year-round.  And it is not just 
children that are at risk of hunger, as many parents across the County are 
struggling with being able to afford the household necessities, with food 
being just one example.  Some adults are working multiple jobs but are still 
struggling with this issue.  And when the pandemic is finally over, and the 

Page 10



impact on family finances truly comes to light, this problem will become 
bigger and harder. 
 
A Food Action Plan would be able to highlight the areas across the County 
that are most affected by this crisis, and enable a local response, by 
empowering community groups, AAPs and local councillors to become 
involved in supporting those that need the Council’s help. 
 
Therefore, this Council resolves to: 
 
Request the lead Member for Food Poverty within Cabinet, to work across all 
parties within the Council, to create a consistent and inclusive Food Action 
Plan that reflects and addresses the needs of all families across County 
Durham. 
 
An Amendment was Moved by Councillor A Shield, Portfolio Holder for 
Equality and Inclusion, Seconded by Councillor T Duffy 
 
Therefore, this Council resolves to:  
 
To request that the appropriate Portfolio Holder within the Joint 
Administration Request the lead Member for involved in dealing with Food 
Poverty within Cabinet, to work works with all partners, stakeholders across 
all parties within and the relevant officers of this the Council, to develop 
create a consistent and a holistic and all-encompassing inclusive Food 
Action Plan Poverty Strategy that reflects and addresses the needs of all 
vulnerable and disadvantaged families across County Durham, and to 
promote effective engagement and positive interaction with all members to 
ensure that families in need are fully and comprehensively supported. 
 
Councillor C Marshall questioned the legality of the wording Joint 
Administration in the amendment and whether there was any formal 
agreement establishing the Joint Administration.  There was no reference to 
the Joint Administration in the Constitution.  The Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services advised that there was a Memorandum of 
Understanding between the Groups which had formed the Joint 
Administration and that Cabinet had been appointed in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services advised 
that the amendment was valid. 
 
Councillor R Crute informed Council that he wished to move an amendment 
to the amendment to remove the term Joint Administration and replace it with 
Cabinet.  The Head of Legal and Democratic Services advised Council that 
under the Rules of Debate only one amendment could be moved at a time. 
 

Page 11



Councillor P Sexton moved that the Amendment be put to the vote, 
Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson.  The Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services informed Council that under Council Procedure Rules if, in Council’s 
view, it considered the matter had been sufficiently discussed, the procedural 
motion would be put to the vote. 
 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services clarified that a vote was being 
taken on the procedural motion to put the amendment to a vote. 
 
Upon a vote being taken it was 
 
Resolved: 
That the amendment be put to the vote. 
 
For the Amendment 
Councillors B Avery, B Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, D Brown, L Brown, 
J Cairns, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
K Fantarrow, D Freeman, D Haney, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, 
C Hood, A Hopgood, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, 
C Lines, L Maddison, C Martin, L Mavin, B McAloon, M McGaun, B Moist, 
P Molloy, J Nicholson, D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, 
A Reed, G Richardson, M I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, 
A Savory, E Scott, P Sexton, A Shield, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, 
W Stelling, A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, D Sutton-Lloyd, M Walton, 
A Watson and M Wilkes. 
 
Against the Amendment 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, G Binney, D Boyes, J Chaplow, R Charlton-Lainé, R Crute, 
S Deinali, K Earley, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, C Hampson, 
A Hanson, S Henig, J Higgins, L Hovvels, M Johnson, L Kennedy, 
R Manchester, C Marshall, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, S McMahon, 
J Miller, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, I Roberts, K Shaw, 
A Surtees, F Tinsley, A Townsend, C Varty, M Wilson, S Wilson and D 
Wood. 
 
The Amendment was carried and therefore became the Substantive Motion 
 
An Amendment was moved by Councillor R Crute, Seconded by Councillor 
K Shaw, that the words ‘Joint Administration’ be removed from the 
Substantive Motion and replaced with the word ‘Cabinet’. 
 
Councillor M McKeown Moved a procedural motion that the Amendment be 
put to the vote, Seconded by Councillor D Wood.  The Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services advised that there as there were no Members 

Page 12



registered to speak Councillor Crute’s Amendment could be put to the vote 
without the need for a vote on the procedural motion. 
 
For the Amendment 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, G Binney, D Boyes, J Chaplow, R Charlton-Lainé, R Crute, 
S Deinali, K Earley, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, C Hampson, 
A Hanson, S Henig, J Higgins, L Hovvels, M Johnson, L Kennedy, C Lines, 
R Manchester, C Marshall, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, S McMahon, 
J Miller, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, I Roberts, K Shaw, 
A Surtees, F Tinsley, A Townsend, C Varty, M Wilson, S Wilson, and D 
Wood. 
 
Against the Amendment 
Councillors B Avery, B Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, D Brown, L Brown, 
J Cairns, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
K Fantarrow, D Freeman, D Haney, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, 
C Hood, A Hopgood, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, 
L Maddison, C Martin, L Mavin, B McAloon, M McGaun, B Moist, P Molloy, 
J Nicholson, D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, 
G Richardson, M I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, 
E Scott, P Sexton, A Shield, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, W Stelling, 
A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, D Sutton-Lloyd, M Walton, A Watson and 
M Wilkes. 
 
The Amendment was Lost. 
 
 
A vote was then taken on the Substantive Motion. 
 
For the Motion 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
B Avery, B Bainbridge, A Batey, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, G Binney, D Boyes, 
D Brown, L Brown, J Cairns, J Chaplow, J Charlton, R Charlton-Lainé, 
J Cosslett, B Coult, R Crute, M Currah, S Deinali, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
K Fantarrow, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, J Griffiths, O Gunn, 
C Hampson, D Haney, A Hanson, P Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, 
J Higgins, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, 
A Jackson, M Johnson, N Jones, P Jopling, L Kennedy, C Lines, L 
Maddison, R Manchester, C Marshall, C Martin, L Mavin, B McAloon, M 
McGaun, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, S McMahon, J Miller, B Moist, 
P Molloy, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, D Oliver, R Ormerod, E 
Peeke, R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, I 
Roberts, M I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E 
Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, W 
Stelling, A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, F Tinsley, 

Page 13



A Townsend, C Varty, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes, M Wilson, S Wilson 
and D Wood. 
 
Abstention 
Councillor K Earley 
 
The Substantive Motion was carried. 
 
The Chair informed Council that the second Motion on the Agenda had been 
withdrawn by Councillor Deinali and therefore the Motion from Councillor 
Surtees would be considered next. 
 
Moved by Councillor A Surtees, Seconded by Councillor E Adam 
 
This Council condemns the decision by government to remove the Universal 
Credit £20 Uplift. 
 
An Amendment was Moved by Councillor A Shield, Portfolio Holder for 
Equality and Inclusion, Seconded by Councillor K Rooney 
 
This Council condemns disagrees, questions & challenges the decision by 
National government to remove the temporary Universal Credit £20 Uplift, 
but we will engage with all key partners and stakeholders to collectively work 
together to address and try to minimize the shortfall impact of household 
income preventing undue financial hardship. 
 
For the Amendment 
Councillors B Avery, B Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, D Brown, L Brown, 
J Cairns, J Charlton, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, T Duffy, J Elmer, 
K Fantarrow, D Freeman, D Haney, P Heaviside, T Henderson, L Holmes, 
C Hood, A Hopgood, C Hunt, A Jackson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Lines, 
L Maddison, C Martin, L Mavin, M McGaun, B Moist, P Molloy, J Nicholson, 
D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, J Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, 
M I Roberts, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, 
P Sexton, A Shield, M Simmons, A Simpson, M Stead, W Stelling, A Sterling, 
D Stoker, T Stubbs, D Sutton-Lloyd, M Walton and M Wilkes. 
 
Against the Amendment 
Councillors E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, G Binney, D Boyes, J Chaplow, R Charlton-Lainé, R Crute, 
S Deinali, K Earley, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, J Griffiths, O Gunn, C Hampson, 
A Hanson, S Henig, J Higgins, L Hovvels, G Hutchinson, M Johnson, 
L Kennedy, R Manchester, C Marshall, B McAloon, D McKenna, M McKeon, 
I McLean, S McMahon, J Miller, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, P Pringle, J Purvis, 
I Roberts, K Shaw, A Surtees, F Tinsley, A Townsend, C Varty, A Watson, 
M Wilson, S Wilson and D Wood 

Page 14



 
The Amendment was carried and therefore became the Substantive Motion 
 
Upon a vote being taken the Substantive Motion was carried. 
 
The Chair informed Council that the time allowed for Motions had been 
reached and the Motion put forward by Councillor Tinsley would be carried 
forward to the next meeting. 
 

10 Questions from Members  
 
Councillor J Elmer asked the following question 
 
On the 30th June 2021 the House of Commons Environmental Audit 
Committee released their report Biodiversity in the UK: Bloom or Bust? that 
states “Since 1970 there has been a 68% decrease in population sizes of 
mammals, birds, amphibians, reptiles, and fish” and “15% of UK species are 
threatened with extinction.  Of the G7 countries, the UK has the lowest level 
of biodiversity remaining” 
 
Ecosystems might be considered as the planet’s ‘life support system’.  
Ecosystems provide the oxygen in the very air we breathe, they ‘host’ the 
carbon cycle fixing gaseous carbon dioxide, they provide pollination for our 
food crops and maintain a stable climate.  Climate change should properly be 
understood as the consequence of humans exceeding the natural capacity of 
the planet’s ecosystems to take in CO2. 
 
So two crises, inextricably combined, are challenging humanity on a 
planetary scale.  The Climate Crisis is certainly the higher profile of the two, 
and the Council is already addressing this issue through the Climate 
Emergency Response Plan.  The Ecological Crisis is perhaps less well 
understood, but its correction is equally urgent and requires profound 
change.    
  
County Durham, like the rest of the Country and world has suffered a 
catastrophic crash of species and habitats that collectively form our natural 
systems.  There is no question that we are currently experiencing and 
ecological emergency.  This situation remains, despite the excellent work 
that the Council has delivered in relation to the North Pennines AONB, the 
Heritage Coast, coalfields restoration and many other worthy projects. 
 
Cllr Wilkes, will the Council:  

 -declare an Ecological Emergency; then, 

 -review services to ensure cessation of any activities that negatively 
impact upon ecosystems and to identify opportunities to enhance 
ecosystems; and, 

Page 15



 -report back to Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny regarding the measures needed to address this 
emergency and their implications to the Council.  

 
In short, will the Council adopt the same approach to tackle the Ecological 
Emergency as it has for the related Climate Emergency? 
 
Councillor M Wilkes, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhood and Climate 
Change thanked Councillor Elmer for his question and provided the following 
response 
 
The ecological systems that maintain our planet are under severe pressure, 
of that there is no doubt.  The issue is well evidenced and well understood, 
and the question of how that relates to County Durham and the activities of 
this Council is a valid and appropriate one to be raising. 
 
The landscapes and natural habitat of County Durham - from the heritage 
coast, through our rivers, dales and valleys and the uplands of the Pennines 
- are some of our key assets.  This is not only in their contribution to global 
environmental health, but also in making Durham an attractive place to live, 
work, visit and in which to thrive. 
 
While there has historically been significant improvements in our post-
industrial landscape and wildlife habitats, Councillor Elmer is correct to point 
out that there remains much to do. 
 
That being said, there is a lot to consider in this question with some big and 
important issues being raised, and in order to give these issues proper 
consideration I will commit to bring a report to cabinet in October to set out a 
way forward on the questions that he raises. 
 
Our goal will be, to tackle the ecological challenges we face as a county, 
making sure that we protect and improve our wildlife and landscapes. 
 
My view is that we should embed into everything we do a consideration of 
not only our climate impact but also our ecological impacts and to promote 
improvement and protection of our country’s environment with every 
household and every business. 
 
I look forward to working with Councillor Elmer and fellow councillors to 
achieve this goal. 
 
Councillor B Moist asked the following question 
 
At the July meeting of the Economy Enterprise OSC the Regeneration, 
Economy & Growth Service Grouping Report was presented alongside The 

Page 16



Performance Management Report for the year ending March 2021, where it 
was highlighted that the Co Durham economy was worth £9bn.  However, 
the economy was operating at 25% less than the UK Average, therefore the 
Co Durham Economy should be £12bn even if we achieved the UK average 
level? 
 
At that same Economy Enterprise OSC meeting the Minutes of the Co 
Durham Economic Partnership meeting held on 5th May 2021, was 
presented where it was stated and accepted that (and I quote) 
 
“There is no economic strategy for the County and associated programmes & 
pipeline of both physical infrastructure & revenue projects.  It has been 
determined that the core aim of ‘More and Better Jobs’ from the Co Durham 
Vision is no more than a wish and a hope, with no real job creation strategy 
in place? 
 
In summary County Durham has consistently fallen behind the rest of 
England in its economic activity rate, employment rate and self-employment 
rate.  At the same time, it exceeds the rest of England in terms of 
unemployment and the long-term sick economically inactive population. 
 
Can I seek assurances that this council will support this administration to 
deliver an all-encompassing, strong, vibrant, varied and successful economy 
with specific targets for job creation within a planned structured economic 
strategy challenging economic strategy to help DCC deliver real, ‘More and 
Better jobs and real improved economic benefits to the people of Co 
Durham. 
 
Councillor E Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy and Partnerships 
thanked Councillor Moist for his question and provided the following 
response: 
 
Sadly, Durham’s relatively poor economic performance has remained a 
consistent and perpetuating feature of the County and one which the last 
administration appeared to accept.  This counties fortunes have not been 
revived by previous governments of any political colour, not even by Labour 
when Tony Blair was Prime Minister. 
 
The job before us, the Joint Administration, is to swiftly and decisively take 
action to boost the economy, create jobs, enable prosperity and ensure that 
County Durham can realise it’s true potential in a fair and equitable way. 
 
We have inherited a number of strategies including; a regeneration strategy, 
housing strategy and skills strategy, and the area is also part of the wider 
regional arrangements that include the joint transport strategy and strategic 
economic plan. 

Page 17



 
However, I can confirm that County Durham does not and never has had an 
Economic Strategy.  I’ll just give you a minute to take that on board.  
 
I am able to advise that I intend to bring a report to Cabinet this year seeking 
approval to widely consult on and develop a strategy that will underpin 
economic growth in County Durham over the coming years and support 
wider updates on key issues such as skills, transport and housing.  
 
The report to Cabinet will provide a detailed overview of the current 
economic position in the County particularly to understand our strengths, 
opportunities and areas where we must be stronger to give our communities 
the best opportunities.  
 
This report will provide a clear foundation on which we can build strategic 
plans, implement economic and social interventions and deliver specific 
outcomes that will see the County Durham economy bridge the gap with the 
national indicators. 
 
Under Labour we have seen plenty of unsubstantiated sound bites around 
job creation.  Most famously the Aykley Heads announcement of 6,000 jobs 
which quickly turned into 4,000 jobs in the blink of an eye.  I dare say if they 
were still in control it would be 2,000 by now. 
 
Our new economic strategy will provide the evidence base and ambition that 
will help the County Council and its partners to secure regional and national 
funding and powers to help drive economic growth and will be closely 
developed with businesses, communities and the voluntary sector.  
 
It will ensure that we are “ready” when opportunities arise and that our voice 
is heard both regionally and nationally.  Seizing opportunities like City of 
Culture is vital the process.  We won’t always win, but we will always be in 
the game. 
 
This is going to be an intensive piece of work that will take some time to 
complete and in the meantime I will also ask Cabinet to approve an 
economic statement to help articulate our challenges and ambitions.  We will 
use this statement until the full strategy is in place later in 2022. 
 
An important part of the process to develop the Economic Strategy is 
ensuring that we have a series of ‘conversations’ with a wide group of 
stakeholders and I will provide further details of this to Cabinet.  The strategy 
will need the buy in of the private sector, education, other public sector 
partners and the third sector if it is going to deliver our ambition. 
 

Page 18



Although the Council will be the key driver of the development of the strategy 
it is something that must be owned by a range of organisations and bodies.  
Those conversations have already begun and the response that we are 
getting from partners is quite overwhelming.  They see a new dawn and a 
fresh approach and they like it. 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

County Council 

20 October 2021 

Report from the Cabinet 

 

 

Report of Cabinet 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

All 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the 
Cabinet at the meetings held on 15th and 29th September to enable 
Members to ask related questions by no later than midday 3 working 
days before the day of the meeting 

 

Contents 

15 September 2021 

 
Item 1 - County Durham Plan: Minerals and Waste Development Plan 
Document [Key Decision: REG/04/21] 
 
Item 2 - NETPark Phase 3 Development Funding 
 
Item 3 - Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22 – Period to 30 
June 2021 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(11) savings 
 
Item 4 – Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set Deficit 
Budgets 2021/22 
 
Item 5 - A Patient Group Direction Policy for Durham County Council 
 

29 September 2021 

 
Item 6 - Leisure Transformation New Build Site Selection Update –  

Key Decision REG/07/21 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 
Item 7 – Review of Durham County Council Headquarters 
 
Item 8 - Review of Durham Light Infantry (DLI) Collection and Archive and the 
potential future use of the former DLI Museum and Art Gallery and Grounds at 
Aykley Heads 
 

1. County Durham Plan: Minerals and Waste Development Plan 
Document [Key Decision: REG/04/21] 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Elizabeth Scott,  

Contact: Mike Allum 03000 261 906 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which sought approval to commence consultation on the Minerals 
and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan which supports the 
recently adopted County Durham Plan. 
 
The County Durham Plan seeks to ensure that County Durham is a successful 
place to live, work, invest and visit by focussing on supporting and creating 
vibrant communities.  The Plan is a comprehensive document covering all 
aspects of planning, however, it only includes strategic policies and allocations 
relating to minerals and waste.  There is a need to supplement those policies 
with more detailed development management policies and non-strategic site 
allocations in a Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development 
Plan Document (M&WDPD).  This requires a number of rounds of consultation 
and once agreed by Full Council will be submitted for an Examination in Public 
by an independent Inspector.  Once adopted it will replace the policies 
currently being used from the Minerals Local Plan (2000) and Waste Local 
Plan (2005). 
 
Decision 
 
We agreed the draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations 
Development Plan Document for consultation from 24 September to 5 
November 2021. 
 

2. NETPark Phase 3 Development Funding  
[Key Decision: REG/05/2021] 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor James Rowlandson,  

Contact: Peter McDowell 03000 265 506 

We considered two reports of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth. The first report sought agreement to finance the 
development and expansion of a third phase of NETPark, the north east’s 

Page 22



premier science and technology park, with up to 270,000 sq. ft. of new space, 
together with authorising the next stage of the programme, to appoint a design 
and build delivery partner. 
 
The Council Vision for County Durham 2019 - 2035 includes the ambition “to 
create more and better jobs”.  The development of strategic sites such as 
NETPark is key to this broader ambition. 
 
Developed by Durham County Council and occupied by significant private 
sector employers, NETPark (The North East Technology Park) is the region’s 
only science park and currently home to 40 companies, including Kromek, 
Filtronic, IBEX Innovations and Polyphotonix and support by Durham 
University.  The site also employs over 600 people in specialist sectors. 
 
The Council previously agreed to both retain ownership of NETPark and to 
enter into a partnership agreement with Clear Futures, a procurement vehicle 
for public sector bodies, as a test pilot, to accelerate the development of 
NETPark Phase 3, as there was insufficient capacity and capability in-house 
to take on a project of this scale.  Clear Futures, utilising Robertson 
Construction and Ryder Architecture, is able to create a design and build 
partnering arrangement that allows the Council to retain creative and 
leadership control and provide additional resources capable of supporting a 
cost-effective building programme for the development of NETPark Phase 3. 
 
NETPark Phase 3 is owned by the Council and is some 26ha in total with 
13ha of serviced land now available, this has also been supported by a £5.1 
million infrastructure investment led by the Council and supported by the North 
East LEP. 
 
The Council has an initial cost plan of three options for a scheme to develop 
up to 270,000 sq. ft of new laboratory, office, production and storage space, 
based on demand from existing NETPark tenants and potential further inward 
investment to the site. 
 
The report considered three development options: 
 

 Option 1a based on a single build unphased programme of two years; 

 Option 1b based on a phased building programme up to five years; and 

 Option 2 based on a unphased building programme but including a 
multi-story car park (MSCP). 

 
A procurement options appraisal would be undertaken and completed by 
September 2021, to identify a suitable construction partner based on the 
preferred Option 1a of a single build unphased programme of two years at an 
estimated cost of £49.6 million. 
 

Page 23



The procurement options appraisal will review public sector accessible 
construction frameworks including but not limited to NEPO, Crown 
Commercial Services (CCS) and SCAPE, in addition to the Clear Futures 
option to determine the most suitable procurement route for the appointment 
of the design and build partner. 
 
Developing NETPark Phase 3 would help achieve key targets of the Council 
Plan including the creation of up to 1,250 skilled jobs adding over £625 million 
GVA (Gross Value Added) to the County Durham economy.  A typical 
business taking space on NETPark Phase 3 would provide a broad range of 
job opportunities including scientists, technicians, administration, accounting, 
marketing, IT and logistics. 
 
A long-term financial model has been fully appraised and has identified that 
the £49.6 million initial capital investment can financed by the Council from 
future income streams from the rental of the new units over a 35-year period. 
 
Decision 
 
We agreed, following consideration of the corresponding private report, to 
progress the development of NETPark Phase 3 at a forecast capital 
investment of £49.6 million on a self-financing basis with the peak revenue 
shortfall in year 2 met from the Commercial Reserve; and delegated authority 
to the Corporate Director of Regeneration Economy and Growth and 
Corporate Director of Resources in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Resources, Investment and Assets and Portfolio Holder for Finance to agree 
the final build contract value to ensure that the development can be self-
financing. 
 

3. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22 – Period to 
30 June 2021 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(11) savings 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Richard Bell,  

Contacts: Jeff Garfoot Tel: 03000 261 946 and Azhar Rafiq 

03000 263 480 

 
We considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided Cabinet with information on the: 
 

(a) forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2021/22, based on the 
position to 30 June 2021; 

(b) forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 
position at 31 March 2022, based on the position to 30 June 
2021; and 

Page 24



(c) forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and 
general reserves in 2021/22 and the estimated balances to be 
held at 31 March 2022. 

 
The report sought approval of the revised capital programme, other budget 
adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of the cash limit in year 
and provided Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving 
MTFP(12) savings in 2021/22. 
 
Since the outbreak of COVID-19 last year, the council, its partners, local 
businesses and local communities have together been working tirelessly to 
respond to the pandemic and to put plans in place for the restoration and 
recovery of services post-pandemic. COVID-19 had a significant and complex 
financial impact in 2020/21 which has continued into 2021/22. This made 
forecasting the council’s outturn position even more challenging than usual. In 
addition to the financial uncertainty during 2021/22, the longer-term financial 
impact of the pandemic beyond 2021 was unknown at this stage.  The risk in 
this regard will be considered and assessed in future MTFP(12) Cabinet 
reports. 
 
Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council has had to implement national 
support schemes at short notice such as the Business Rates Grants Support 
Scheme(s); the Council Tax Hardship Support Schemes; Test and Trace 
Payments; the Winter Support Payments Scheme; Covid Local Support 
Scheme; Infection Control Schemes and Contain Outbreak Management 
Schemes. In addition, the council has implemented a range of supplier relief 
schemes and addressed increased demand for support to vulnerable 
households whilst trying to accommodate new ways of working itself in 
response to the pandemic.  The national lockdown periods and post pandemic 
recovery continues to dominate the council’s financial outlook, which makes 
accurately forecasting the outturn position for 2021/22 difficult. 
 
At this stage of the year it is forecast that there will be a small net surplus on 
council tax and business rate collection funds, after taking into account 
Section 31 grant receivable, due to continuation of business rate reliefs 
relating to the pandemic. This situation will be kept under close review 
throughout the year especially in relation to collection rates as the public and 
businesses recover from the impact of the pandemic.   
 
The government has provided a further tranche of non-ringfenced funding to 
local authorities in the current year for the additional costs incurred as a result 
of COVID-19. The funding allocated to the council for 2021/22 is £15.56 
million.  
 

Page 25



In addition, the government had extended the Income Guarantee Scheme for 
three months to 30 June 2021. This scheme required local authorities to bear 
the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after which the government would 
provide a grant for 75% of subsequent losses. It is estimated that the council 
would be able to claim circa £1.6 million from the scheme for 2021/22. 
 
It is forecast that service groupings will overspend by a net £14.522 million. 
This overspend position mainly arises from additional expenditure and loss of 
income which are outside the cash limit associated with the COVID-19 
outbreak of £21.261 million, offset by COVID-19 related underspends (relating 
to closure of facilities and disruption to normal service activity as a result of 
the pandemic) of £7.771 million. The forecast residual cash limit position is a 
£1.032 million overspend. 
 
The forecast overspend in service grouping cash limits is offset by the forecast 
circa £17.2 million the council expects to receive from the government to 
cover the financial impact of the pandemic.  Overall, it is estimated that the 
council’s 2021/22 budget will be underspent by £5.276 million, representing 
1.12% of the net expenditure budget of £470.515 million.  
 
The forecasts included in the report were subject to significant uncertainty. A 
wide range of assumptions had been made in relation to expenditure and 
income over the remainder of the financial year, with significant uncertainty 
regarding the long term impact of COVID-19 restrictions which have only 
recently been lifted. 
 
There will potentially be a range of interventions required by the council and 
ongoing impacts post pandemic that will have as yet unquantified financial 
pressures. The Cash Limit and General Reserves will potentially be required 
to meet any shortfall that ultimately arises.  
 
In terms of service grouping cash limits, the projected revenue outturn is a 
forecast cash limit overspend of £1.032 million (0.22%). The cash limit 
position excludes any COVID-19 related issues which are considered to be 
outside of the control of service groupings and have been managed 
corporately. The costs associated with COVID-19 have been offset against 
government grant support provided.  
 
Within the service grouping cash limits there is a forecast overspend in 
Children and Young People’s Services of £4.754 million and a forecast 
underspend of £3.886 million in Adult and Health Services. Consideration is 
being given to whether a permanent budget transfer should be considered 
between these two service groupings.   
 
In terms of sums outside the cash limit, there is a forecast underspend of 
£6.308 million. This position will be kept under careful review, especially in 

Page 26



relation to the possibility of additional costs and loss of income linked to the 
ongoing impact of COVID-19.  
 
Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves) are 
forecast to reduce by £47.077 million in 2021/22, from £245.532 million to 
£198.455 million.  
 
The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one given 
the significant financial uncertainties facing local government beyond 2021/22. 
The MTFP(12) report to Cabinet on 7 July 2021 highlighted ongoing budget 
concerns for the council with a forecast savings shortfall of £43.7 million over 
the 2022/23 to 2025/26 period, with the delivery of further savings becoming 
ever more challenging to achieve.  
 
The projected capital outturn this year is £199.218 million, with the capital 
budgets having been augmented with reprofiled budget from underspending 
against the 2020/21 capital programme. 
 
To the end of quarter one, the council has delivered savings totalling £3.931 
million, which is 74% of the £5.312 million target for the year.  By 31 March 
2022, since 2011, the council will have delivered over £246 million in savings 
in order to balance its budgets. 
 
Decision 
 
We noted: 
 

(a) the council’s overall financial position for 2021/22 and the 
uncertainty associated with the outturn forecast resulting from the 
continuing impact of COVID-19 as set out in the report; 

(b) the review being undertaken of base budgets for Children and 
Young People’s Services and Adult and Health Services in light of 
the respective in year forecast overspend and underspend 
positions; 

(c) the forecast use of earmarked reserves in year; 
(d) the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and general 

reserves; 
(e) the additional costs and income loss faced as a result of COVID-

19 which is offset by additional grant funding provided by 
government; 

(f) the position on the capital programme and the Collection Funds in 
respect of Council Tax and Business Rates; and 

(g) the amount of savings delivered during the first quarter of 
2021/22 and the total savings that will have been delivered since 
2011. 

 

Page 27



We agreed the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval as set out 
in the report and the revenue and capital budget adjustments outlined in the 
report. 
 

4. Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set 
Deficit Budgets 2021/22 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Councillor Ted Henderson and 
Councillor Richard Bell 
Contacts: Jeff Garfoot 03000 261 946 and David Shirer 03000 
268 554 

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and the Interim Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided an overview of maintained schools’ initial budget plans for 2021/22, 
as agreed by the relevant Governing Bodies. The report highlighted where the 
Interim Corporate Director of Resources has exercised his judgement in terms 
of approving the setting of deficit budgets, in accordance with the Council’s 
constitution and the Scheme of Financing for Schools. The report also 
included details of changes to sparsity funding for the 2022/23 funding formula 
and a consultation about the future of locally set funding formulas, which was 
currently considered via the Schools Forum. 
 
Schools carry forward under and overspends against their budgets as part of 
their retained balances. This came as a concern for the council, because 
deficit balances could become a cost to the council if a school closes or 
converts and becomes a sponsored academy. 
 
At the end of 2020/21 the net balances carried forward by maintained schools 
were £30.087 million, an increase of £11.831 million during the year. This was 
a significant underspend compared to schools’ initial budget plans, which 
envisaged a £7.624 million reduction in reserves to fund planned expenditure 
in year (based on the schools that are still maintained and setting a budget for 
2021/22).  
 
The initial budget plans submitted by schools for 2021/22 sees a significant 
forecast use of schools’ reserves to balance individual budgets in year. Plans 
agreed by individual governing bodies show that schools are currently 
planning to utilise £7.752 million of their retained balances in 2021/22, 
reducing the forecast schools’ balances as at 31 March 2022 to £22.335 
million. 
 
The continuing pandemic and the need for schools to help pupils to catch up 
following a year of disrupted education means that there is significant 
uncertainty about what schools will need to spend during the current year. 
This will be monitored closely and updated forecasts will be presented to 
Cabinet as part of the quarterly forecast of outturn reports. 

Page 28



 
Six schools had deficit balances at 31 March 2021. The initial budget plans for 
four of these schools has resulted in the Corporate Director of Resources 
having to exercise his judgement in terms of approving the setting of deficit 
budgets, in accordance with the Council’s constitution and the Scheme of 
Financing for Schools. The other two schools have been able to balance their 
budgets in 2021/22. 
 
The approved accumulated deficits of the schools that have set a deficit 
budget in 2021/22 is £3.710 million.  
 
One of the schools that has had a licensed deficit approved is due to convert 
to be sponsored by a Multi-Academy Trust in September, as part of the 
Roman Catholic Diocese academisation plans. The licensed deficit at the 
point of conversion will be written off and charged against the Schools 
Reserve, which had a balance of £3.357 million at 1 April, 2021, having been 
utilised to write of deficits totalling £4.720 million last year. 
 
The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary schools is 
the funding formula. This will be considered in consultation with the Schools 
Forum and all schools and implications factored into the local formula 
proposals for 2022/23 that Cabinet will consider later this year. 
 
Decision 
 
We noted the contents of the report and the actions taken under delegated 
powers by the Interim Corporate Director of Resources to approve licensed 
deficits for four schools in 2021/22. 
 
We also noted the proposed changes to sparsity funding for the 2022/23 
funding formula and the current consultation about the future of locally set 
funding formulas – the outcome of which will be reported to Cabinet in 
December. 
 

5. A Patient Group Direction Policy for Durham County Council 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder - Councillor Paul Sexton 
Contact - Claire Jones, Public Health Pharmacy Adviser. 
claire.jones2@durham.gov.uk 

 
We considered a report of the Director of Public Health which reviewed the 
contents of the Patient Group Direction (PGD) Policy attached to the report.  
Some services commissioned by Public Health supply medication to service 
users as part of the service, using a PGD.  The Council is required to have in 
place a PGD Policy to support this process. 
 
Decision 

Page 29



 
We agreed to adopt the PGD Policy and noted the contents of the report and 
the PGD Policy and the good practice that this policy applies. 
 

6. Leisure Transformation New Build Site Selection Update Key 
Decision REG/07/21 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor James Rowlandson 
Contacts - Alison Clark 03000 264 550 and Susan Robinson 
03000 267 332  
 

We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which provided an update on the due diligence activities 
undertaken since Cabinet approved the site preferences for three proposed 
new build leisure facilities in March 2021 subject to further due diligence and 
feasibility work.  The report sought approval of the final site selection for two of 
the three new build leisure centres at Chester-le-Street and Bishop Auckland,  
and highlighted the need to carry out further due diligence on the sites at 
Seaham before making a final decision.  The report also provided an update 
on the wider programme of leisure centre improvements across the County. 
 
In March 2021, Cabinet approved preferred sites for new build leisure centres 
in Bishop Auckland, Chester-le-Street and Seaham, subject to further due 
diligence and feasibility work. 
 
Between April and August 2021, further due diligence had been undertaken 
across all sites to assure the deliverability and value for money for the 
preferred sites of the new centres and for the redevelopment and 
refurbishment works to be undertaken across the other facilities.  A report to 
Cabinet in March 2021 provided the analysis for Bishop Auckland showed two 
viable sites, the existing site at Woodhouse Close and Tindale Crescent. 
Following consideration of the analysis, Tindale Crescent was identified as the 
preferred site for Bishop Auckland.  A key part of this option was the 
expectation of an associated proposal to develop a community hub on 
Woodhouse Close, the vacated site of the existing leisure centre. 
 
Further work had been carried since the report to Cabinet in March, to identify 
likely accessibility and transport improvements to fulfil access and equality 
issues as outlined in the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) and public 
consultation, and on likely land and planning issues. An updated Equality 
Impact Assessment relating to the proposed new build sites at Chester-le-
Street and Bishop Auckland was included in the report.  
Key to this, was the further work undertaken to identify an alternative 
Temporary Stop Over Area (TSOA).  This was required to mitigate the 
displacement of the current TSOA at Tindale Crescent where the proposed 
new build leisure centre was to be located.  Alternatives had been explored 
and a suitable alternative had not been found. 

Page 30



 
Initial assessments and feasibility studies have been completed on the 
potential construction costs of a new facility and Community Hub on the 
vacated Woodhouse Close site.  It was estimated that the costs of such a 
development could be in excess of £5 million.  The potential impact and 
mitigations that could be put in place during the construction phase at 
Woodhouse Close have been further considered.  The existing Leisure Centre 
at Woodhouse Close would not need to close for the full construction period, 
although more detailed work would be required before the final project 
schedule could be produced. 
 
Further consideration has been given to the key components of a community 
hub.  The benefits and outcomes relate to the services and programmes that 
will be delivered and co-delivered to users, rather than from the actual building 
itself.  These services could be incorporated into a leisure centre designate at 
a much lower level of additional cost than an independent building and site. 
The March 2021 report, which at that time identified the preferred location as 
Tindale Crescent, subject to further due diligence being undertaken, included 
analysis of the appraisals of the various sites in Bishop Auckland. At the time 
thisshowed a marginal preference for Tindale Crescent over Woodhouse 
Close.  The public consultation however showed a preference for the 
Woodhouse Close site over any others.  In terms of the appraisals at that 
time, both sites met the criteria for a leisure investment. 
 
The preferred location for a new leisure centre in Bishop Auckland has been 
reconsidered to take account of the more detailed work undertakenHaving 
taken account of the further work and due diligence, a change to the preferred 
site option for Bishop Auckland was recommended and the Woodhouse Close 
area was the preferred location for a new build leisure centre that will 
incorporate a Community Hub within the leisure centre itself.  
 
Further public engagement would be carried out in due course on the overall 
facilities mix for the new build facility. 
 
The further due diligence undertaken on the Chester-le-Street site had 
revealed no new significant issues or causes for concern beyond the car 
parking and traffic issues initially identified, with the conclusion that these 
could be mitigated or dealt with during the next delivery phase. Therefore, the 
recommendation would be for Chester-le-Street to progress as originally 
planned and move to further public engagement on the facilities mix for this 
site. 
 
Further work on the Seaham dual sites and new build proposals set out in the 
March 2021 report had identified significant deliverability challenges that 
needed to be addressed in order to be able to progress with this preferred 
option.  These included mitigating displaced car parking and the need for 

Page 31



further planning considerations as a result of the height of the proposed 
buildings.  These matters had not yet been satisfactorily resolved and further 
work would be required before final proposals could be brought forward for 
Seaham. 
 
The previous report identified a significant capital investment requirement of 
£78 million and it was noted that investment at that level would pose 
challenges in terms of the Council’s VAT partial exemption limit which was 
calculated on a seven-year average and seeks to cap the level of input tax 
that can be recovered on exempt (from VAT) activity.  At the time of the March 
report, discussions were ongoing with HM Revenues and Customs (HMRC) to 
seek further special dispensation to exceed the partial exemption seven-year 
average threshold. 
 
Since the previous report, HMRC has provided the Council with special 
dispensation, albeit with clear instruction that the overall investment must not 
exceed £78 million.  Any additional capital spending on the leisure facilities 
above this level would be outside the approval given by HMRC and would 
expose the Council to financial penalties in the region of £14 million.  The 
budget for the Leisure Transformation programme therefore must not exceed 
£78 million and all projects must be scoped within this cost envelope and with 
due regard to the need for significant levels of self-financing income, as 
previously identified. 
 
In order to maintain a programme of appropriate pace and phasing to ensure 
optimum delivery in line with VAT regulations and the early health and 
wellbeing benefits of the investment in the County Durham Leisure 
Transformation programme, it is proposed that a number of individual centres 
refurbishments from the wider programme are initiated as soon as possible. 
 
To facilitate this, a ‘Leisure Conversation’ phase is proposed, which would 
provide the opportunity for local public engagement on the programme and 
the facilities mix proposals on each site across the County.  This would run 
alongside and throughout the first phase of the investment in order to maintain 
public engagement and involvement and for the Council to identify new and 
dynamic ways to engage, listen and respond to residents. 
 
 
 
Decision 
 
We agreed to the final recommended site selections as follows: 
 
i) Bishop Auckland: The existing site (Woodhouse Close); and 
ii) Chester-le-Street: Former Civic Centre site; 
 

Page 32



We agreed to carry out further due diligence on the viability of the dual site 
build proposals at Seaham; 
 
We noted the refurbishment projects (with the exception of Wolsingham, 
Shildon and Freeman’s Quay, which would be considered in a second phase) 
to be commenced in 2022, subject to engagement with all key stakeholders 
and progress with design development; 
 
We also noted the special dispensation provided by the HMRC for the seven-
year average partial exemption limit, provided on the basis that the Council 
restricts total capital expenditure on the Leisure Programme within £78 million; 
 
Updates would be provided in due course on the further due diligence and 
development work of this major capital programme, with regular updates also 
provided through a wider communications and engagement plan across the 
County. 
 

7. Review of Durham County Council Headquarters 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Councillor James Rowlandson 
and Councillor Richard Bell 
Contact - Susan Robinson 03000 267 332  

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth and the Interim Corporate Director of Resources on the 
review of Durham County Council Headquarters.  At a meeting held on 16 
June 2021, Cabinet agreed that a review would be carried out into the options 
for use of the newly constructed Durham County Council Headquarters (HQ) 
at the Sands in Durham City. 
 
The scope of the review was as follows: 
 

(a) review the options for utilising the new building at the Sands, 
Durham City;  

(b) consider the options for the location of HQ functions taking 
account of the review of the new building and assessing the 
options for the existing HQ site at Aykley Heads; and 

(c) ensure that the strategic employment site proposals for Aykley 
Heads are fully considered as part of the review. 

 
The report provided evidence from the review findings and made a series of 
recommendations linked to this evidence.  The analysis included contractual, 
legal and financial implications including those relating to the timescales of 
any decision.  The report addressed wider considerations including the 
economic outcomes, Council office accommodation and an options appraisal 
for the new HQ building that is being constructed on the Sands.  The report 
also addressed the public interest and value for money considerations that 

Page 33



needed to inform any change in the original plans for the Council to occupy 
the building. 
 
The outcome of the review into the options for use of the newly constructed 
Durham County Council Headquarters at The Sands demonstrated that the 
only viable alternative to the Council taking occupation is for it to be occupied 
by a single third party. The market for such a third party is limited however, 
there was potential interest from a third party.  Preliminary discussions had 
taken place although further, more detailed negotiations would be required. 
 
The findings from the review into whether County Hall could be refurbished 
concluded that this option was not viable option due to the estimated costs 
that would be incurred because of the design, age and condition of County 
Hall.  In addition to this, the redevelopment of Aykley Heads would be 
negatively impacted by leaving County Hall either partially or totally in situ. 
Therefore, the only viable option was for the current County Hall to be 
demolished and the Aykley Heads site redeveloped as a strategic employment 
site. 
 
The review found that it would be feasible for a new Headquarters to be 
constructed on the Aykley Heads site although further, more detailed work 
would be required including determining the size, scale and cost of a building, 
the location on the Aykley Heads site and how this would fit with the overall 
Aykley Heads masterplan. 
 
The outcome from the review as to whether there were alternative locations to 
both Aykley Heads and the Sands for a new headquarters suggested that, 
based on the strategic objectives set out in the original business case, along 
with the size of site needed to accommodate a building of the scale of the HQ, 
there were unlikely to be any other sites in Durham City which met the criteria.  
 
However, there were sites and buildings across the county (both in DCC and 
private ownership) that could potentially be suitable to provide office and civic 
accommodation.  An options appraisal needed to be carried out in order to 
review site and building availability based on the Council’s aspirations for its 
office and civic accommodation. This would need to have regard to economic, 
financial, commercial management and strategic objectives. 
 
If the decision was taken not to occupy the newly built HQ on the Sands then 
a viable, value for money alternative that delivered the benefits of the original 
plans would be required. 
 
Based on the current position and evidence gathered to date, and considering 
the interest shown in the building on the Sands, there was an opportunity to 
explore the potential broader economic impacts that could be achieved 
through disposal of the building to the interested third party. 

Page 34



 
In view of this there was a need to complete, as a matter of urgency, a 
business case to determine the Council’s options for moving forward with its 
office and civic accommodation.  This needed to address the following factors: 
 
(a) the business case for the Council to follow a new strategy for provision 

of its HQ facilities; 
(b) the alternative plan for the Council’s office and civic/committee 

accommodation if the new HQ on the Sands is not occupied; 
(c) the resources, costs and other implications of disposing of the HQ to a 

third party; and 
(d) the wider impacts of the decision, including the wider economic 

investment strategy for the County. 
 
The marketing of Aykley Heads would not take place until there was certainty 
around the future strategy for the replacement of County Hall. However, the 
development work required to go to market would continue. A common 
element to all potential alternative scenarios is the need to consider and limit 
the timescales to implementation.  This is a critical issue to any future decision 
making, as it would impact on a number of the necessary financial and 
economic assessments.  These considerations would be reflected in the 
business case for any decision and it was considered that the Council needed 
to conclude its decision by summer 2022. 
 
The report was supplemented by a corresponding private report. 
 
Decision 
 
Having regard to the corresponding exempt report, we: 
 

(a) agreed that the only viable alternative to the Council occupying 
the building on the Sands would be for disposal or letting to a 
single occupier; 

(b) noted the key risks that need to be considered prior to any final 
decision not to occupy the building and dispose of it to a third-
party interest; 

(c) agreed to the development of a business case that considers a 
range of relevant issues including the alternative options for office 
accommodation and civic space for the County Council whilst 
ensuring the achievement of outcomes for the Aykley Heads 
development; 

(d) noted that the role of the business case, (which will be reported to 
Cabinet not later than Summer 2022) is to assure the decision-
making process of the council and have clear regard to economic, 
financial, commercial, management and strategic objectives; 

Page 35



(e) delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration 
Economy and Growth and Interim Corporate Director of 
Resources in consultation with the Cabinet members for 
Resources, Investments and Assets and for Finance to agree the 
scope of the business case;  

(f) noted that officers will progress negotiations with the interested 
third party on a subject to contract basis at the same time as 
preparing a business case; 

(g) agreed that refurbishment of County Hall either for DCC staff or to 
let in the marketplace as office accommodation does not 
represent a viable alternative or good value for money; 

(h) agreed that partial demolition of County Hall is not a practical or 
viable option and does not represent value for money; 

(i) agreed that the Council remains committed to the development of 
Aykley Heads as a Strategic Employment Site and that to 
facilitate this, County Hall is to be demolished to enable this 
development; and 

(j) agreed that should it not be possible to reach a satisfactory 
outcome from negotiations with the interested third party within 
agreed timeframes set out that the Council will occupy the 
building on the Sands as its new HQ. 

 
8. Review of Durham Light Infantry (DLI) Collection and Archive and 

the potential future use of the former DLI Museum & Art Gallery 
and Grounds at Aykley Heads 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Elizabeth Scott and 
Councillor James Rowlandson 
Contacts - Alison Clark 03000 264 577, Susan Robinson 03000 267 
332, Sarah Glynn 03000 266 071, Mark Ede 03000 261 238 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which presented the findings of the Durham Light Infantry (DLI) 
review.  The report outlined an approach to bring back into use the former 
building as an exhibition centre, gallery and café venue.  The report also set 
out the benefits of this approach which include providing dedicated exhibition 
space for the DLI collection items to complement the History Centre exhibition 
plans; provision of storage capacity for smaller non DLI Council collections as 
well as the provision of an art gallery facility in the city, which would meet a 
current gap in the cultural offer.  Benefits also include the provision of a new 
cultural visitor attraction and café which would contribute to the county’s City 
of Culture 2025 bid and fill an identified gap in the visitor economy in the city. 
 
The DLI object and archive collection is one of the most coherent regimental 
collections in the UK with full chronological coverage from its 1750s origins to 
amalgamation of the Regiment in the 1960s and beyond. 
 

Page 36



The collection is owned by the trustees of The Regimental and Chattels 
Charity of the Former Durham Light Infantry (referred to as the DLI Trustees). 
Its managed and cared for under a partnership arrangement with Durham 
County Council. 
 
The DLI Museum & Art Gallery was built at Aykley Heads to house the DLI 
collection and was opened in 1969.  The DLI Museum & Art Gallery stored the 
object collection and displayed around 5% of the collection.  A contemporary 
art gallery displaying touring exhibitions was a key feature of the facility along 
with education space and a café. 
 
In December 2015, Cabinet considered and agreed a report that 
recommended closure of the museum and a new model of service delivery for 
the collection, agreed in consultation with the DLI Trustees. 
 
The building subsequently closed in March 2016, and a new ‘deconstructed 
museum’ model of operation commenced - rebranded as the DLI Collection.  
The new operating model comprised a research and study centre open to the 
public, with secure object stores and a public programme of temporary 
exhibitions, outreach and learning opportunities.  A new permanent DLI gallery 
and display was opened at Palace Green Library in Durham City and access 
to the medal collection through the Barker Reading Room was made possible 
via a formal agreement with Durham University. 
 
In 2019, it was confirmed that the DLI Collection would become part of plans 
for a new state-of-the-art History Centre to be developed on the site of Mount 
Oswald Manor House in Durham City.  This was fully supported by the DLI 
Trustees. 
 
In preparation for the plans to move the DLI collection and archive to the new 
Durham History Centre, updated terms have been agreed with and signed by 
the parties.  Whilst these terms were agreed in April 2021, the agreement 
needs to be formally executed to satisfy the requirements of the NLHF in 
respect of grant funding awarded for the History Centre project.  In June 2021, 
Cabinet agreed to review options for the potential future use of the former DLI 
Museum and Art Gallery building and surrounding grounds.  The review 
addressed two key questions: 
 

a) can the former DLI Museum be brought back into use to house the 
DLI collection? 

b) what are the options to repurpose the former DLI building/site for 
alternative uses? 

 
The review was undertaken throughout July and August 2021 and has been 
supported by two separate independent reports that were commissioned to 
underpin the review.  The Director of the National Conservation Service 

Page 37



provided an assessment of the current and planned care and storage of the 
collection and archive, as well as a high-level observation of the former DLI 
Museum and Art Gallery building from a conservation perspective.  Global real 
estate advisors, Avison Young, provided architectural, planning and market 
appraisals for the building and its prospective potential uses should it be 
brought back into use. 
 
A meeting of the Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) took place on 28 July 2021.  The meeting was open to the public 
and was broadcast live.  It provided an opportunity to consider the review 
questions and key stakeholders were invited to submit representations on the 
issues from their perspectives.  The outcome of that meeting had been fully 
considered as part of the evidence base for the review. 
 
The review considered the current condition of the building and options for 
displaying, storing and care of DLI collection in the former DLI Museum and 
Art Gallery building, including a full assessment of risks, financial, legal and 
value for money issues. 
 
The review also considered the impacts on the new Durham History Centre, 
including impact on funding and on the storage, display and care of other DCC 
collections. 
 
It had been established that returning the former DLI Museum and Art Gallery 
building to its former use would not have the full support of key stakeholders 
such as the Army Museum Ogilby Trust and the DLI Trustees, who are 
committed to the History Centre proposals. 
 
The DLI collection and archive is integral to the Durham History Centre project 
and withdrawing in its entirety would present significant risk to the Durham 
History Centre – a £19.6 million investment that is currently under construction 
and for which significant National Heritage Lottery Funding has been secured. 
 
In light of the numerous implications of reopening the building to house the 
DLI collection in its entirety, the review concluded that this is not practicable or 
recommended. 
 
In answering the second question, the review considered high level options 
assessments for suitable alternative uses for the former DLI Museum and Art 
Gallery building and the grounds and environment around the site. 
 
The options for repurposing the building were found to be relatively limited, 
primarily due to location, market conditions and planning restrictions.  The 
analysis identified that repurposing the building in line with cultural use 
presented the only real feasible approach, though more work is required to 

Page 38



firm up the costs and other implications associated with bringing the facility 
back into use. 
 
This approach would have the following benefits: 
 

(a) provide dedicated exhibition space for the  DLI collection items 
to complement History Centre exhibition plans; 

(b) provide storage capacity for smaller non-DLI Council 
collections; 

(c) provide an art gallery facility in the city which is a current gap in 
our cultural offer; and 

(d) provide a new cultural visitor attraction and cafe which would 
contribute to the county’s City of Culture 2025 bid and fill an 
identified gap in the visitor economy in the city. 

 
The review also concluded that the grounds surrounding the former DLI 
Museum and Art Gallery building should be considered sensitively, as they 
had been used over a number of years as an informal site for the scattering of 
veteran’s ashes.  The report identifies the opportunity to develop a peace and 
contemplation garden in the grounds. 
 
Decision 
 
We noted the review process, and the evidence and analysis and noted the 
options to bring the building back into use as a wider culture and visitor 
destination, incorporating a significant dedicated space for items from the DLI 
collection. 
 
We requested officers to commission further detailed feasibility work into: 
 

(i) refurbishment of the former DLI Museum and Art Gallery building as an 
exhibition centre, gallery, exhibition and café venue including dedicated 
space for display of DLI collection items that will complement plans for 
exhibitions in Durham History Centre (DHC), noting the purpose built 
DHC will be the permanent base for the collection and its storage care 
and curation; 

(ii) an appropriate funding strategy, operational model, and business plan 
including a marketing strategy for the venue and an assessment of the 
wider opportunities of connections to new and existing sites in the city 
such as Wharton Park and the new History Centre; and 

(iii) an appropriate peace and contemplation garden in the grounds; 
 
We agreed that the outcome of the further feasibility (which included full 
consideration of the MTFP and revenue and capital budgetary impacts) of 
bringing the building back into use, should be presented to Cabinet for 
consideration on this option in early 2022. 

Page 39



 
We delegated authority to the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to 
execute the agreement between the Council and the DLI Trustees, a pre-
condition of National Heritage Lottery Funding awarded for the Durham 
History Centre Project. 
 
 
 
 

Councillor A Hopgood 
Leader of the Council 

 
 
12 October 2021 

Page 40



            

County Council 

20 October 2021 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

2022/23 

   

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (interim) 

Councillor Richard Bell, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To seek Council approval for the continuation of the current Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for a further year into 2022/23, which 
would continue the protection afforded to all claimants in line with what 
their entitlement would have been under the former Council Tax Benefit 
system.  

2 These proposals were considered by Cabinet at their meeting on 7 July 
2021 and it was resolved to recommend to Council the continuation of the 
scheme into 2022/23.  

Executive summary 

3 Durham is one of a small minority of councils to continue to offer the 
same level of support to all claimants as was available under the former 
Council Tax Benefit scheme.  In 2018/19, when national data was last 
collected, only 36 local authorities in England, and no other councils in 
the North East, offered all residents this level of assistance. Meaning no 
LCTRS claimants in our area have been worse off in the last nine years 
than they would have been under the previous national scheme. 

4 Nationally the most common change made to LCTRS is the introduction 
of minimum payments.  Over 80% of Local Authorities have introduced 
these, making all residents liable, regardless of their income, and 
responsible for paying a percentage of their council tax.  These minimum 
payments range from 5% to 50% of the property’s full council tax liability.  

5 National research confirms that there is a clear correlation between 
higher minimum payments in LCTRS and lower council tax collection 
rates.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



6 There are currently around 57,150 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, 
of which 21,050 (37%) are pensioners and 35,900 (63%) are working 
age.  Almost 80% of working age claimants currently receive 100% 
LCTRS discount, with LCTRS support forecast to be circa £62m in 
2022/23. 

7 The rollout of Universal Credit (UC) is scheduled to be completed in 2024 
and is already in payment to a significant number of people in Durham.  
There are circa 19,300 LCTR claimants receiving UC, over 53% of the 
working age LCTR caseload.   

8 The council is around four times more likely to receive a report of a 
change in circumstances when a working age LCTR claim is based on 
UC, than when it is not.  Regular monthly recalculations of UC and LCTR, 
most frequently caused by changes in earnings, are leading to multiple 
bills being issued to households. This has resulted in residents not being 
able to easily keep track of their council tax liability, leading to difficulties 
for households when managing their finances and personal budgeting.   

9 The Council will need to keep track of the impact of the continuing roll out 
of UC. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year council 
tax collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65%, and further still 
in 2019/20 to 96.37%. Although there was a further significant reduction 
in 2020/21 this was in most part is due to the impact of Covid-19. The in-
year collection rate for 2020/21 was 93.62%. 

10 Consideration of whether to extend the current scheme into 2022/23 
needs to take account of a number of key factors and changing the 
scheme at this stage means additional council tax revenues (or 
pressures) would need to be built into the medium-term financial plan 
(MTFP) projections. No changes to the scheme were factored into the 
MTFP (12) projections reported to Cabinet on 13 October 2021.  

11 The coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the LCTRS 
working age caseload, which increased dramatically in the first quarter of 
2020/21 as an unprecedented number of new claims were received from 
working age customers adversely affected by Covid-19.  At the peak in 
May 2020 the working age LCTRS caseload was almost 3,000 higher 
than in January 2020 and remains around 2,000 higher than pre-
pandemic levels. 

Recommendations 

12 Council is recommended to: 

(a) Continue the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme into 
2022/23, which will retain the same level of support to all working 
age council taxpayers on low incomes as was the case under the 
previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme; and 

Page 42



(b) agree that the extension to the Scheme be initially for a further year 
only and be kept under continuous review with a further decision 
on the scheme to apply in 2023/24 to be considered by Cabinet in 
summer 2022 and Full Council by 11 March 2023; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



Background 

13 The Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits system on 
31 March 2013, replacing it with a requirement for local authorities to 
work with their precepting bodies to establish a Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) with effect from 1 April 2013.  The LCTRS 
provides a ‘discount’ against the council tax charge, rather than a benefit 
entitlement. 

14 The Council Tax Reduction Scheme Grant replaced Council Tax Benefit 
subsidy and from April 2013 was paid directly to the council and the 
major precepting bodies (Police and Fire). 

15 Government funding towards council tax support was reduced by 10% 
nationally in 2013/14.  By so doing, the Government also transferred the 
risk of any growth in the system through more council taxpayers 
becoming eligible for support with their council tax to local authorities as 
the government grant was a fixed amount. This risk materialised in 
2020/21 when an unprecedented number of new claims for LCTR were 
received as a result of the national lockdown linked to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

16 The funding made available to support the LCTRS in 2013/14 (90% of the 
previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit System) now 
forms part of the council’s formula funding arrangements. Whilst separate 
figures were published for this in 2013/14, there is no longer any visibility 
over what level of funding is now for LCTRS that is contained within the 
formula.  

17 The council’s formula grant includes an element relating to town and 
parish councils and whilst the council has passed the grant on to the town 
and parish councils, there is no statutory requirement to do so.  

18 Following discussions with the Town and Parish Councils’ Working 
Group, and in the spirit of partnership working, recognising the important 
role town and parish councils play in providing local services to 
communities it is proposed to continue to pass on the town and parish 
element of the formula grant in 2022/23.  

19 In doing so, it is proposed that the council continues to apply pro-rata 
amendments in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to town and parish 
councils in line with any variations in the overall formula funding made 
available to the council and this is reflected in the MTFP model.  

20 In 2021/22 Town and Parish Councils received £1.332 million of LCTRS 
grant allocations and for budget planning purposes have been advised 
that the Council will retain payments at this level next year, though the 
amount of grant provided to individual town or parish councils may vary 
according to the year-on-year changes in their tax raising capacity. 

Page 44



Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

21 On 2 December 2020 County Council agreed the current LCTRS for 
2021/22, which mirrors the previous scheme that operated under the 
Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants, and which was abolished in 
April 2013.  No council tax support claimants have therefore been worse 
off in the last nine years than they would have been under the previous 
national scheme. 

22 The council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider 
welfare reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low-
income households and the fact that the additional council tax liabilities 
for working age households could have a significant impact on affected 
household budgets by around £100 to £350 a year based on a scheme 
whereby entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 
90% entitlement. This would make collection of council tax more difficult 
and costly to recover from these low-income households. 

23 In approving the scheme for 2021/22, the Council gave a commitment to 
review it on the grounds of MTFP affordability given the cumulative 
impacts of austerity it had faced, the cumulative impacts the 
Government’s welfare reforms and the prevailing economic 
circumstances facing our residents. 

24 In the North East region, Durham is now the only authority whose 
scheme continues to mirror entitlement under the former Council Tax 
Benefit system, whilst the other eleven councils have schemes that cap 
the maximum entitlement for working age claimants.  

25 The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) estimated that a quarter of the 
additional council tax liability created by cuts to LCTR since 2013 is not 
being collected in year. The table below summarises the key features of 
the schemes in place across the North East in 2021/22 and how their in-
year council tax collection rates have changed between 2012/13 and 
2019/20.  It should be noted that in 2020/21 collection rates varied 
significantly depending on each authority’s approach to recovery during 
the Covid-19 pandemic and so have not been included in this 
comparison: 

Local Authority 
Basis of 
Scheme 

Minimum 
payment 

Second 
Adult 
Reduction 
offered? 

 
Changes considered 
for 2022/23 if known 

Change in in-
year council tax 
collection rate 

between 2012/13 
and 2019/20 

Durham CTB No Yes No changes +1.37%points 

Darlington CTB 20% No No changes +0.34%points 

Gateshead CTB 8.5% No Not known -0.72%points 

Hartlepool CTB 12% No No changes -1.80%points 

Page 45



Local Authority 
Basis of 
Scheme 

Minimum 
payment 

Second 
Adult 
Reduction 
offered? 

 
Changes considered 
for 2022/23 if known 

Change in in-
year council tax 
collection rate 

between 2012/13 
and 2019/20 

Middlesbrough CTB 15% No 
Income banded 

scheme with 10% 
minimum payment 

-4.40%points 

Newcastle 
Income 
Banded 

10% No 

Change to an 
income-based 

council tax 
discount, removing 
minimum payment 

for some and 
removing non-

dependent 
charges 

-0.08%points 

North Tyneside CTB 15% No 
Extending 

backdating from 4 
to 26 weeks 

-1.90%points 

Northumberland CTB 8% Yes No changes -0.06%points 

Redcar and 
Cleveland 

CTB 12.5% No Not known +1.11%points 

South Tyneside CTB 
30% or 
15% if 

vulnerable 
Yes No changes -2.07%points 

Stockton CTB 20% No 

Income banded 
scheme with 
removal of 
minimum 

payments for 
some. 

-3.05%points 

Sunderland CTB 8.5% No No changes -2.31%points 

All English 
Unitary 
Authorities 

N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.50%points 

All English 
Authorities 

N/A N/A N/A N/A -0.80%points 

 
26 The above table also shows what changes other local authorities in our 

region are considering for next year’s LCTRS schemes.  Most are not 
making significant changes, Middlesbrough and Stockton are consulting 
on introducing income banded schemes, while the only council currently 
operating an income-banded scheme is considering moving away from it.  
Three of the four authorities known to be considering changes are looking 
at reducing or removing minimum payments for at least some of their 
residents. 

27 In 2018/19, when national data was last collected, Durham County 
Council was one of just 36 nationally who continued to mirror entitlement 
under the former Council Tax Benefit system (11%), with 290 (89%) out 

Page 46



of 326 having cut the amount of support available to claimants. The latest 
published data available shows the most common changes to have been 
implemented elsewhere have been the introduction of a minimum 
payment level and reducing or removing the Second Adult Reduction.  
The chart below shows the types of changes and restrictions 
implemented to schemes across England: 

 

28 In some local authorities, like Durham, the lowest-income households 
continue to be exempt from paying council tax whilst in others they are 
required pay between 5% and 50% of their bill. There is a wide disparity 
of support available across the country, contributing to a wide disparity in 
tax base and tax raising capacity across the country. 

29 The majority of councils who made changes to their schemes in the first 
few years of LCTR did so to cap the overall amount that could be paid to 
working age households – 80% of councils had a cap in 2018-19 – but 
different councils have set them at very different levels. Combined with 
different choices about other aspects of scheme design, this means that 
otherwise similar households are treated very differently according to 
where they live.  However, more recently, local authorities have started to 
focus on making changes to better support applicants receiving UC, while 
maintaining a cap on the total amount that an applicant can receive. 

30 The rollout of UC was originally intended to be completed by 2017, but 
after repeated rescheduling the current target date is September 2024.  
Despite the extended roll-out, UC is already in payment to a significant 
number of people in Durham.  This covers new claimants and those 
affected by natural migration to UC, where a change in circumstance can 

Page 47



remove entitlement to a legacy benefit and result in a person having to 
make a UC claim instead. There are circa 19,300 LCTR applicants 
receiving UC, over 53% of the working age LCTR caseload in Durham.   

31 The LCTR scheme in Durham, based on the former CTB scheme, is a 
complex scheme, designed to reflect and interact with the Department for 
Work and Pensions’ (DWP) long-standing range of legacy benefits.  All of 
which are calculated weekly, are based on the same premiums and 
allowances, have identical income and capital assessment rules and an 
established history of common case law. 

32 UC is a complete departure from the legacy benefits it replaces.  It is 
calculated monthly, with new rules and new allowances, and for in-work 
claims is subject to regular monthly changes.   

33 When compared to the legacy benefits schemes it replaces, UC produces 
more losers than winners, with prominent losers being disabled 
claimants, due to the loss of substantial disability allowances.  Going 
forward, to offer effective support to applicants who receive UC, local 
authorities will increasingly need to rethink their LCTR schemes.   

34 Durham County Council took an early decision to accept electronic 
notifications of a new UC claim from the DWP as an application for 
LCTR. This measure has helped Durham maintain its working age 
caseload.  Other local authorities have seen reductions in the number of 
LCTR applications received, due to residents no longer being required to 
come to the council to make joint HB and LCTR claims.  This will have 
resulted in increases in council tax arrears and impacted on collection 
performance.  

35 In terms of impact on LCTRS workload, the council is around four times 
more likely to receive a report of a change in circumstances when a 
working age LCTR claim is based on UC, than when it is not.   

36 Regular monthly recalculations of UC and LCTR, most frequently caused 
by changes in earnings, lead to multiple bills being issued to the 
household and significant difficulties for residents trying to maintain their 
council tax payments.  Net council tax charges are repeatedly being 
recalculated and instalment dates pushed back to later in the year. This is 
further complicated by the need to give customers paying by direct debit 
14 days notice when making a change in their payments.  These 
changing instalments can cause considerable budgeting difficulties for 
residents, as well as a knock-on impact for the council in terms of 
increased call traffic and council tax collection work. 

37 A review by Entitledto found that 63 local authorities in England were 
running income-banded schemes for 2020/21, an increase from 33 in 
2019/20.  Income banded schemes give people applying for a council tax 
reduction a set percentage reduction on their council tax, with the amount 
depending on their income and household size.  The income bandings 

Page 48



are defined in ranges, so small changes in income are less likely to 
resulting in rebilling, and this eases the difficulties faced by in-work 
residents who receive UC.  Some councils introduced income banding for 
all working age claimants, other just for those receiving UC.  Income-
banded schemes are simple to understand, but their simplicity inevitably 
leads to a scheme less tailored to residents’ individual needs and results 
in winners and losers compared with a CTB-based scheme. 

38 A simpler option used by some authorities to reduce rebilling, is to retain 
a CTB-based LCTRS, but introduce a de minimus limit.  Recalculations 
are still completed when changes occur, but the LCTR award will not 
change if the increase/decrease in LCTR is within a set threshold, for 
example plus or minus £2 each week. 

39 Nationally, LCTR schemes provided 24% less support to working age 
households in 2018/19 than if the national Council Tax Benefit system 
had been retained. 

40 In 2018/19, when national analysis was last completed, over two million 
households across the country were being adversely affected by the 
change from Council Tax Benefit. On average these families were paying 
£204 additional council tax in 2018/19 in comparison to what they would 
have paid under the national Council Tax Benefit scheme. The number of 
LCTRS claimants paying an additional £200 or more had increased to 
933,000 in 2018/19. 

41 There are currently 57,150 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, of which 
21,250 (37%) are pensioners and 35,900 (63%) are working age 
claimants.  Almost 80% of all working age applicants receive maximum 
help, leaving them with no council tax to pay, with LCTRS support 
forecast to be circa £62m in 2021/22. 

42 In Durham, there are now over 3,600 claimants currently classed as 
working age that would have been treated as pensionable age claimants 
prior to 2010, when the process of moving state pension credit age from 
60 to 66 began. There will then be a further move up to 67 between 2026 
and 2028, then to 68 between 2044 and 2046. As the chart below shows, 
over the last nine years there has been a ten percentage point increase 
in the proportion of working age applicants within Durham: 

Page 49



 

43 This means a higher proportion of our caseload is coming under the part 
of the LCTRS scheme that the Council has control over. Working age 
customers also carry a greater administrative workload as they have 
more frequent changes in their circumstances, particularly when they are 
in receipt of UC. 

44 If any changes are made to the scheme, these must be consulted on and 
be subject to an equality impact assessment. Councils are required to 
review and approve their schemes annually and have this agreed by a 
Council meeting before 11 March each year. 

45 Statutorily, pensioners have to be protected from any changes, therefore 
any reductions can only be applied to working age claimants.  

46 Nine years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax 
Benefits System the council continues to have an LCTRS which mirrors 
the previous entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit system for all 
claimants. No council tax support claimants have therefore been 
financially worse off in the last eight years (including the current year) 
than they would have been under the previous national scheme. 

47 The Council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider 
welfare reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low 
income households and the fact that the additional council tax liabilities 
for working age households could have a significant impact on affected 
household budgets by around £100 to £350 a year based on a scheme 
whereby entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 
90% entitlement. This would make collection of council tax more difficult 
and costly to recover from these low-income households. 

53% 54% 54% 56% 56% 57%
60% 61%

63%

47%
46%

46%
44%

44% 43%
40% 39% 37%

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

01/04/13 01/04/14 01/04/15 01/04/16 01/04/17 01/04/18 01/04/19 01/04/20 01/04/21

Working Age and Pension Age Caseload

Working Age Pension Age

Page 50



48 In January 2019, analysis from the IFS showed a direct link between 
higher minimum payments in LCTRS and lower overall council tax 
collection rates: 

Minimum 
Payment Level 
in LCTRS 

Estimated Effect on 
Collection Rate 

(percentage point 
change) 

Up to 8.5% -0.09% 

8.6% to 20% -0.24% 

Over 20% -0.49% 

 
49 Based on Taxbase assumptions, the estimated net cost of retaining the 

scheme is circa £5.1 million – this reflects the reduction in Government 
Grant support towards maintaining these schemes in the first year. To 
recover the full £5.1 million cost by reducing the benefit awarded to 
working age claimants and factoring in a prudent collection rate of 80%, 
would require the maximum entitlement to be reduced from 100% to 
85.35%. 

50 Should the council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection 
from affected low income households, there would be scope to increase 
council tax revenues by between £3.49 million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement to working age households of 90% with a 
prudent collection rate of 80%) and £5.1million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement of 85.35% with a prudent collection rate of 
80%).  This would impact circa 35,900 working age households across 
County Durham, where 6,750 (19%) are actually in low paid jobs rather 
than being unemployed. 

51 The council’s LCTRS scheme has been in significantly increased demand 
since April 2020 as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.  The pension 
age caseload has continued a trend of reduction.  The working age 
caseload, however, increased dramatically in the first quarter of 2020/21 
as an unprecedented number of new claims were received by customers 
adversely affected by Covid-19.  At the peak in May 2020 the working 
age LCTRS caseload was almost 3,000 higher than in January of the 
same year and remains around 2,000 higher than pre-pandemic levels: 

Page 51



 

52 This increase in working age LCTRS claims, and the continued financial 
impact of Covid-19 contributed to an increase in the total amount of 
support offered through the scheme in 2020/21 to £60.7m.  Increases in 
council tax charges remain a major driver in increased LCTRS costs.  
Expenditure in 2021/22 is expected to be around £62m.  The extra circa 
2,000 working age claims, following the Covid-19 pandemic, will account 
for an estimated £2.17m in additional expenditure in 2021/22:  

Page 52



 

53 Despite the pressures of this increased demand, the council has 
continued to offer a good level of service to residents.  In 2020/21, new 
LCTRS claims were processed in an average of 19.72 days of being 
received, ahead of a service target of 21 days. LCTRS changes in 
circumstances were processed in an average of five days, ahead of a 
service target of nine days. 

54 To help maximise take up of LCTRS we continue to treat a notification 
from the DWP of a new UC claim, as a new claim for LCTRS.  In addition, 
work has been undertaken between our Welfare Rights and 
Communications teams to update and improve the information on our 
website concerning help available to residents facing redundancy – 
gathering information about benefits, access to training and jobs, money 
advice, and housing into one place. 

Conclusion 

55 There is a statutory requirement for Full Council to approve the Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) to be operated in 2022/23 
before 11 March 2022.  

56 The council will need to continue to review the national situation and track 
what is happening in local authorities that have introduced LCTRS that 
have reduced entitlement to their working age claimants in terms of 
impacts and performance in terms of recovery of the council tax due. 

57 The reasons for extending the current scheme are due to the current 
scheme remaining within existing cost parameters for the council and 

Page 53



concerns over the impact that changing the scheme and introducing 
measures to increases charges to working age claimants would have at 
this time, particularly in light of the current economic outlook for our area 
as we seek to recover from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

58 Whilst the full impacts of the Government’s welfare reforms and the 
impact of Covid-19 are complex and difficult to track, demand for 
Discretionary Housing Payments; social fund applications and rent 
arrears statistics in County Durham compared to others across the 
region, would suggest that the council tax benefit protection afforded to 
working age claimants, in addition to the wide ranging proactive support 
that has been put in place, is continuing to have a positive impact on 
these households.  

59 The council will also need to keep track of the ongoing and increasing 
impact of the roll out of UC. This presents continuing challenges for the 
administration of LCTRS as it results in a much higher number of 
changes in circumstances and removes the administrative economies of 
scale currently achieved by administering Housing Benefit and LCTRS 
claims side by side.     

60 More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills 
being issued to individual households resulting in numerous changes to 
their net liability and instalment plans for any council tax balance they are 
responsible for. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year 
council tax collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65% and 
further still in 2019/20 to 96.37%.  

61 Any proposed changes to the LCTRS for 2023/24 would need to be 
consulted upon and, should any changes be proposed, a report would 
need be brought to Cabinet in spring / summer 2022 before embarking on 
a consultation process thereafter. 

Background papers 

 Local Government Finance Act 1992 (section 13A) 

 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 

 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) Regulations 2012  

 

 The Impacts of Localised Council Tax Support Schemes – Institute for 

Fiscal Studies Report January 2019 

 

 Council Tax Reduction Schemes (GB) – House of Commons Library 

Briefing Paper Number 6672. 24 August 2020. 

Page 54



 

 Delegated Decision report - Allocation of Council tax: COVID-19 hardship 
fund 2020 to 2021. 04 May 2020 

 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government – COVID-19 
Hardship Fund 2020-21 Local Authority Guidance. March 2020 

 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government – COVID-19 
funding for local government in 2021 to 2022 policy paper. February 2021 

Other useful documents 

 County Council report 4 December 2020: Local Council tax Reduction 
Scheme 2021/22 and Council Tax: Covid 19 Hardship Fund Payments 

 Cabinet report 10 February 2021: Medium Term Financial Plan 2021/22 
to 2024/25 and Revenue and Capital Budget 2021/22  

 Cabinet report 7 July 2021: Medium Term Financial Plan(12), 2022/23 - 
2025/26 and Review of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme    

 

Author(s) 

Paul Darby     Tel:  03000 261 930 

Mary Readman    Tel:  03000 268 161 

  

Page 55

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s131997/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plan%20202122%20to%20202425%20and%20Revenue%20and%20Capital%20Budget%20202122.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s131997/Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plan%20202122%20to%20202425%20and%20Revenue%20and%20Capital%20Budget%20202122.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s140048/MTFP12%20July%20Cabinet%20Report%20-%20FINAL%20-%2022%20June%2021.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s140048/MTFP12%20July%20Cabinet%20Report%20-%20FINAL%20-%2022%20June%2021.pdf


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished the national council tax benefits 

system (CTB), paving the way for new Local Council Tax Reduction Schemes 

(LCTRS) to be introduced under the auspices of the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992.  

Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“the 1992 Act”) 

requires each billing authority in England to make a scheme specifying the 

reductions which are to apply to amounts of council tax payable by persons, or 

classes of person, whom the authority considers are in financial need (“a 

council tax reduction scheme”). 

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 

Regulations 2012 (“the 2012 Regulations”) prescribe matters which must be 

included in such a scheme in addition to matters set out in paragraph 2 of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act.  

Each year regulations amending the 2012 Regulations are made in 

November/December. The majority of the amendments are to ensure 

consistency with changes to social security legislation and these are 

subsequently included in our local scheme. 

The LCTRS provides a ‘discount’ against the council tax charge, rather than a 

benefit entitlement and as such impacts on the council’s tax base.  

Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The Local 

Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 (as amended) 

the council to calculate a council tax base for each financial year. 

The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 

2012 which came into force on 30 November 2012 and applies to the financial 

years beginning 1 April 2013 onwards contains the rules which require the 

council to calculate the Council Tax Base. 

A key element of the tax base calculation is the council’s policy in terms of its 

LCTRS. 

There is a statutory requirement for the Council to adopt a local council tax 

support scheme for the ensuing financial year by 11 March each year.  Where 

the council is proposing any changes to its scheme, there is a statutory 

requirement to consult on these proposals in advance of making any changes. 

Pensioners have to be protected from any changes, with any reductions applied 

to working age claimants only. 

Page 56



Finance 

The funding made available to support the LCTRS in 2013/14 (90% of the 
previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit System) now forms 
part of the council’s formula funding arrangements.  

The council has continued to pass on the town and parish element of its 
formula grant over the last eight years but in doing so continue to apply pro-rata 
adjustments in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to town and parish councils.  

In 2021/22 Town and Parish Councils received £1.332 million of LCTRS grant 
allocations and for budget planning purposes have been advised that the 
Council will retain payments at this level next year, though the amount of grant 
provided to individual town or parish councils may vary according to the year on 
year changes in their tax raising capacity. 

The council is responsible for the costs of any increase in caseload as the level 
of Government support is fixed within formula grant.    

Prudent estimates and provisions were built into the tax base forecasts at 
budget setting, and whilst the council is subject to greater financial risk now, the 
current scheme remains within the budget provisions. 

Should the council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection from 
affected low income households, there would be scope to increase council tax 
revenues by between £3.49 million (based on a scheme that awarded 
maximum entitlement to working age households of 90% with a prudent 
collection rate of 80%) and £5.1million (based on a scheme that awarded 
maximum entitlement of 85.35% with a prudent collection rate of 80%).   

This would impact circa 35,900 working age households across County 
Durham, where 6,750 (19%) are actually in low paid jobs rather than being 
unemployed. 

Consultation 

Town and parish councils were consulted on the proposals to continue to 

passport an element of the council’s formula grant, equivalent to the town and 

parish share of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant funding within 

the formula grant for 2021/22. This coincided with a review of payments made 

to Town and Parish Councils previously linked to pre-existing and inconsistent 

arrangements in the former district councils for services that had been devolved 

to them. 

Subject to Council consideration of the proposals outlined in this report, no 

further consultation will be required. The proposals are to extend and continue 

the current LCTRS into 2022/23, thereby retaining the same level of support to 

all working age council tax payers as the previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme, 

which was abolished on 1 April 2013. 
Page 57



Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Nine years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefit 

System the council continues to have a LCTRS which mirrors the previous 

entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants. No council 

tax benefit claimants have therefore been financially worse off in the last nine 

years than they would have been under the previous national scheme and if the 

proposals set out in this report and ultimately agreed by Council in the autumn 

this will continue to be the case. 

The Government EIA on the LCTRS was published in January 2012 and is 

relatively brief. It considered equality impacts in relation to age and disability, 

concluding that protection for pensioners would be a positive impact and the 

effects on disabled people would depend on how each local authority 

responded to the reduction in council tax support. No impacts were identified in 

relation to gender or ethnicity and no other protected characteristics were 

considered and it was left to individual councils to identify full local impacts, 

based on local implementation. 

Given the proposals to extend the current LCTRS into 2022/23 thereby 

continuing to protect current entitlement, there will be no negative equalities 

impact, with the financial position of claimants protected in 2022/23. 

Should the Council decide against extending the current scheme into 2022/23 

and elect instead to pass on reductions to working age claimants, there would 

be a range of potential negative equalities impacts. These include financial 

impact for working age claimants and possible additional impacts in relation to 

health and wellbeing, housing and the consequences of debt or legal action.  

These impacts are most likely in relation to gender, age and disability with 

limited impacts for race and sexual orientation and no evidence of impact on 

transgender status, religion or belief. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

Any reduction in council tax support, alongside other welfare changes could see 

an increase in crime if customers seek to increase their income to make up for 

the benefits lost. The proposals set out in this seek to protect current 

entitlement in 2022/23 and as such have no implications, though the impact of 

the wider welfare reforms agenda will need to be kept under constant review. 

 
Page 58



Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The report outlines a range of financial risks surrounding the LCTRS. These are 

being effectively managed at this time. Given that the proposal is to extend the 

current arrangements into 2022/23 there are no system development issues or 

risk associated with these proposals.  

The council will need to keep track of the impact of the roll out of Universal 

Credit (UC). This presents challenges for the administration of LCTRS as it 

results in a much higher number of changes in circumstances (experience is 

that the UC earned income element changes frequently as the person moves 

through the claimant commitment with their Work Coach) and removes the 

administrative economies of scale currently achieved by administering Housing 

Benefit and LCTRS claims side by side.   

More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills being 
issued to individual households resulting in numerous changes to their net 
liability and instalment plans for any Council Tax balance they are responsible 
for.  

Procurement 

None. 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

County Council 
 
20 October 2021 
 

Treasury Management Outturn 2020/21  
 
 

 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)  

Councillor Richard Bell, Cabinet Member for Finance 

 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
All. 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To provide information on the treasury management outturn position for 
2020/21. 

 

Executive Summary 

 
2 This report provides a summary for 2020/21 of the Council’s treasury 

position, borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management 
and prudential indicators for the year and as at 31 March 2021. 

 
3 The Council held £363 million in external borrowing and £272 million of 

investments at 31 March 2021. During 2020/21 additional borrowing of 
£15 million was taken out with Phoenix Life, the second tranche of a 
forward borrowing agreement of £60 million. This was offset by the 
redemption of a £10m PWLB loan in year that was taken out in 2011.  

 
4 All investments made in the year were undertaken in line with both the 

CIPFA Code and government guidance, which require the Council to 
invest its funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity 
of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return or yield. 

 
5 Throughout the year ending 31 March 2021 the Council has complied 

with its Treasury Management Strategy and Treasury Management 
Indicators relating to interest rate exposure, maturity structure of 
borrowing and sums invested for more than one year. The Council has 

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



also fully complied with Prudential Code Indicators which relate to the 
capital programme and how much the Council can afford to borrow. 

 

 
Recommendation 

 
6 Council is asked to note the contents of the report. 
 
  

Page 62



 

 

Background 
 

7 Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of a local 
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks’. 
 

8 The Council operates a balanced budget, which should result in any 
cash raised during the year meeting cash expenditure in the year. Part 
of the treasury management operation is to ensure this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low-risk 
counterparties, with a main aim of providing sufficient liquidity, ahead of 
the achievement of the best possible investment returns. 
 

9 An important function of the treasury management service is to arrange 
the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The capital programme 
provides a guide to the borrowing need of the Council and there needs 
longer term cash flow planning to ensure capital spending requirements 
can be met. The management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer term cash flow 
surpluses and occasionally debt restructuring to meet Council risk or 
cost objectives.  
 

10 The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and in 
setting its Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree 
and note the following reports, as a minimum: 

 
(a) An annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year 

(reported to the County Council on 26 February 2020 for the 
2020/21 financial year); 
 

(b) a mid-year Treasury Management Review report (reported to the 
County Council on 16 December 2020); 
 

(c) an annual review following the end of the year describing the 
activity compared to the strategy (this report); 

 
11 This report provides a summary of the following: 
 

(a) summary treasury position – position as at 31 March 2021 and 
comparator information for the position as at 31 March 2020; 
 

Page 63



(b) details of any borrowing activity during the year; 
 

(c) investment activity and details of investments held at 31 March 
2021; 
 

(d) details of the treasury management indicators and performance 
against the key indicators adopted; and 
 

(e) details of the prudential indicators and performance against the 
key indicators adopted. 
 

 

Summary Treasury Position 

 
12  The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure 

adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments, and to manage risks within all treasury management 
activities. 

 
13 At the beginning and end of 2020/21, the Council’s treasury position 

(excluding borrowing by finance leases) was as follows: 
 

  31.03.20 
Rate 

/Return 
Average 

Life 
31.03.21 

Rate 
/Return 

Average 
Life 

  £ million % years £ million % years 

Total Debt 359 3.42 22.93 363 3.43 22.44 

Total Investments 232 1.05 0.53 272 0.34 0.33 

Net Debt 127   91   

 
14 As at 31 March 2021, the Council held £363 million in external 

borrowing and £272 million in cash investments. The cash investments 
held reflected the receipt of significant covid-19 related grant funding in 
year where expenditure will be defrayed in the current year. 

 

Borrowing Activity 

15 At 31 March 2021, the Council held £363.419 million of external loans, 
an increase of £4.839 million from the position at the start of the year. 
The borrowing position and the changes in year is shown in the 
following table: 

 

 

Page 64



 

31.3.20 In-year 31.3.21 Average 31.3.21 

Balance Movement Balance Rate 
Average 

Life 

£ million £ million £ million % years 

Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) 

288.975 (10.003) 278.972 3.32% 19.87 

Private Sector 69.420 14.858 84.278 3.86% 32.79 

Pension Fund 0.185 (0.016) 0.169 8.09% 7.14 

Total borrowing 358.580 4.839 363.419 3.43% 22.44 

16 The Council’s chief objective when undertaking borrowing is to strike an 
appropriate risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required.  

17 This was the purpose of the £15 million that was taken at a rate of 
2.773% from Phoenix Life on 15 February 2021 under a forward 
borrowing arrangement. 

18 The key maturity during the year was a £10 million PWLB loan at 3.00% 
that was taken out in November 2011 and which matured in April 2020. 

19 No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the year as the differential 
between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates 
made rescheduling unviable due to the premiums that would apply on 
early redemption. 

 

Other Debt Activity / Long Term Liabilities 

20 Although not classed as borrowing, the Council also raised £6.577 
million of capital finance for replacement fleet vehicles and equipment 
via finance leases during the year to 31 March 2021. There was a 
further increase in liabilities of £1.618 million, arising from a 
recalculation of the liability for the National Savings and Investments 
Wearside House building at Freeman’s Reach, Durham City, following a 
five yearly rent review. These liabilities are expected to be more than 
offset by the sub-lease arrangements with occupiers of the building and 
at the end of the head lease, the Council will have the opportunity to 
purchase the Freehold of these buildings for £1 should it wish to. 

21 Total debt other than borrowing stood at £80.999 million on 31 March 
2021, taking the councils total overall debt position to £444.818 million. 

Investment Activity 
 

22 The Council has held significant funds that it has invested, representing 
funds received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves 

Page 65



held. During 2020/21, investment balances ranged between              
£243 million and £350 million. 

 
23 As at 31 March 2021 the Council held investments totalling £272.402 

million. The following table provides a breakdown of these investments 
split by the type of financial institution and maturity period.  
 

Financial 
Institution 

0-3 
months 

3-6 
months 

6-12 
months 

12-24 

months 
Total 

 £ million 

Banks 47.394 60.347 48.278 - 156.019 

Building Societies 25.863 17.242 8.621 - 51.726 

Central Government - - - - - 

Other Local 
Authorities 

4.310 - 43.105 17.242 64.657 

Money Market 
Funds 

- - - - - 

Total 77.567 77.589 100.004 17.242 272.402 

% of total 28% 29% 37% 6%  

 
24 The Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance, which has 
been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the 
Council on 26 February 2020 (for the 2020/21 year). Both the CIPFA 
Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The 
Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate 
balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses 
from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment 
income. 
 

25 The achievement of returns became more challenging during 2020/21, 
following Bank of England base rate changes in March 2020 that saw 
the rates reduce from 0.75% to 0.10%, where it has remained since. 
This had had the effect of reducing the rates offered by financial 
institution counterparties and has had a knock on effect on the peer to 
peer market among local authorities.  
 

26 The budget for investment income from cash balances was however 
slightly overachieved by £0.052 million in year. This was possible as 

Page 66



older and longer terms investments still generated a higher rate of 
interest and cash balances were higher than forecast throughout the 
year mainly as a result of advance government Covid funding 
payments. For 2021/22 and into the future this position will be kept 
under review to determine if budgeted returns can be achieved going 
forward in the context of continued low interest rates.  
 

 
Treasury Management Indicators 

 

27 There are three debt related treasury activity limits which are designed 
to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in 
interest rates. 

 
(a) Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the 

Council’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed 
and variable rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the 
proportion of net principle invested was: 

 

  
31.3.21 
Actual 

31.3.21 
Actual 

2020/21 
Limit 

Complied 

Upper limit on fixed interest 
rate exposure 

£323.9m 89.1% 100% 
Upper limit on variable 
interest rate exposure 

£39.5m 10.9% 70% 
 
(b) Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the 

Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on 
the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were: 

 

  
Lower 
Limit 

Upper 
Limit 

31.3.21 
Actual 

Complied 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 0% 
12 months to 2 years 0% 40% 0% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 60% 17% 
5 years to 10 years 0% 80% 25% 
10 years and above 0% 100% 58% 

 
(c) Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The 

purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the 

Page 67



risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its 
investments: 

 
 

  
Limit As at 

31.3.21 
Complied 

Actual principal invested beyond 
one year 

£75m £17.242m 
 

Prudential Code Indicators 
 

28 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when 
determining how much money it can afford to borrow. 

 
29 The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear 

framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management 
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential 
Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year. 

 
(a) Capital Expenditure: The table below summarises capital 

expenditure incurred and how the expenditure was financed: 
 

 
2020/21 

Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual 

£ Million 
Difference 
£ Million 

Capital Programme 139.511 119.084 (20.427) 

Financed by:       

Capital receipts 6.645 3.988 (2.657) 

Capital grants 55.022 53.420 (1.602) 

Revenue and reserves 29.901 39.424 9.523 

Net borrowing financing need for the year 47.943 22.252 (25.691) 

 
(b) Capital Financing Requirement (CFR): The CFR is a measure of 

the Council’s underlying borrowing need for a capital purpose. The 
CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, 

Page 68



finance leases). The actual outturn position compared to the 
estimate in February 2021 is set out in the following table: 

 

  
2020/21 

Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual 

£ Million 

 

Difference 
£ Million 

Capital Financing Requirement  520.456  491.718  (28.738) 

 
(c) Actual Debt: The Council’s actual debt at 31 March 2021 compared 

to the estimate in February 2021 is as follows: 
 

  Revised 
Estimate 
£ Million 

31.03.21 
Actual 

£ Million 
Difference 
£ Million 

Borrowing 363.412 363.419 0.007 

Finance leases 47.936 44.888 (3.048) 

PFI liabilities 36.562 36.111 (0.451) 

Total Debt 447.910 444.418 (3.492) 

 
(d) Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to 

ensure that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital 
purpose, the Council should ensure that debt does not, except in the 
short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in 
the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. 
This is a key indicator of prudence. The actual outturn position 
compared to the estimate in February 2020 is set out in the following 
table: 

 

  
2020/21 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual 

£ Million 

 

Difference 
£ Million 

Total debt 447.910 444.418 (3.492) 

Capital financing requirement 520.456 491.718 (28.738) 

Headroom (Under / internally 
borrowed) 

72.546 47.300 (25.246) 

  
(e) Operational Boundary: This is the limit beyond which external 

borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. Periods where the 

Page 69



actual position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable 
subject to the authorised limit not being breached. 

  

2020/21 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual 

£ Million 

 

Complied 

Borrowing 436.000 363.419 
Other long-term liabilities 83.000 80.999 

Total 519.000 444.418 
 

(f) Authorised Limit for external borrowing: This represents a 
control on the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit 
determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. 
It reflects the level of external borrowing which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the 
longer term. 

 

  2020/21 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual 

£ Million 

 

Complied 

Borrowing 486.000 363.419 
Other long-term liabilities 90.000 80.999 

Total 576.000 444.418 
 

(g) Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream: This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of 
capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of 
investment income) against the net revenue stream. 

  

2020/21 
Estimate 

% 

2020/21 
Actual 

% 
Difference 

% 

Ratio of financing costs to 
net revenue stream 

7.56 6.89 (0.67) 

 
Conclusion 
 

30 The Council has complied with its Treasury Management Strategy 
2020/21 for its activity covering the period to 31 March 2021. 

 

Page 70



Background Papers 

a) 26 February 2020 – County Council – Appendix 15: Durham County 
Council 2020/21 Annual Treasury Management Strategy as part of the 
Medium-Term Financial Plan, 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and 
Capital Budget 2020/21. 

 
b) 16 December 2020 – County Council – Mid Year Treasury Management 

Review 2020/21. 
 
c) 24 February 2021 – County Council – Appendix 12: Durham County 

Council 2021/22 Annual Treasury Management Strategy as part of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan, 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Revenue and 
Capital Budget 2021/22. 
 

Contact:  Jeff Garfoot         Tel:  03000 261946 

                    Azhar Rafiq         Tel:              03000 263480 

  

Page 71



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and in setting 
its Prudential Indicators (PIs). 
 

Finance 
The report details the Council’s cash management, loans and investment 
activity during 2020/21.  The report also provides the overall financing of the 
Council’s capital expenditure, along with borrowing and investment income 
returns. 
 

Consultation 
None 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None 
 

Climate Change 
None 
 

Human Rights 
None 
 

Crime and Disorder 
None 
 

Staffing 
None 
 

Accommodation 
None 

 
Risk 
None 

 
Procurement 
None 
 

Page 72



 

             

        

 County Council 

 20 October 2021 

 Report of the Audit Committee for the 

Period September 2020 to August 2021 

 

Report of Audit Committee 

Councillor Alex Watson, Chair of the Audit Committee 

Councillor Louise Fenwick, Vice Chair of the Audit Committee 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To inform Council of the work of the Audit Committee during the period 
September 2020 to August 2021 and set out details of how the Audit 
Committee continues to oversee good governance across the Council. 

Executive summary 

2 The Audit Committee has made a significant and continuing contribution 
to the Council’s governance, control and risk frameworks during the last 
twelve-month period by: 

a) Striving to help support the Council deliver its objectives and 
priorities by being both a proactive and reactive body, 
encouraging the early reporting of risk and control issues to 
ensure that appropriate and timely action is taken to address 
them; 

b) Continuing to raise the profile of the Internal Audit, Corporate 
Fraud and Risk Management Service through regular reports 
being considered by the Audit Committee; 

c) Independent questioning and contributing to the development and 
oversight of the internal audit plan; 

d) Seeking assurance on the effectiveness of corporate risk 
management arrangements; 

e) Improving the accountability of service managers to respond to 
outstanding internal audit reports and the implementation of 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



agreed internal audit recommendations, thereby helping to drive 
improvements in controls to manage risk effectively; 

f) Continuing to provide regular challenge and demanding 
accountability on the effectiveness of the implementation and 
operation of key systems both financial and non-financial; 

g) Challenging the level of internal audit resource and their work to 
ensure that the service is effective and delivers a reliable 
assurance opinion on the Council’s control framework; 

h) Challenging how the Council responds to the risk of fraud and 
receiving information on the levels of detected fraud and the 
Council’s continuing response; 

i) Championing the work of the Corporate Fraud Team; 

j) Receiving and commenting on the work of the external auditor, 
Mazars; and 

k) Challenging how the Annual Governance Statement has been 
prepared, reviewing the assurance framework that is in place and 
that the Council’s governance arrangements are effective. 

3 Appendix 2 to this report sets out details of the meetings held over the 
last twelve months and an oversight of the matters considered by the 
Audit Committee in discharging its duties in line with the Councils 
Constitution. 

 

Recommendation(s) 
 
4 Members are recommended to note the report and the work undertaken 

by the Audit Committee during the period September 2020 to August 
2021. 

 

  

Page 74



Background 

5 The role, membership and terms of reference of the Audit Committee 
are set out within the Constitution, which is approved by Council. 

6 Good corporate governance requires independent and effective 
assurance processes, underpinned by robust risk management 
arrangements, to be in place to ensure effective financial management 
and reporting in order to achieve the Council’s corporate and service 
objectives.  It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to oversee that 
these arrangements are in place and operating effectively. 

7 The specific objectives of the Audit Committee, as set out in the 
Council’s Constitution are to provide independent assurance to Cabinet 
and Full Council over the: 

 Adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s governance 
arrangements, including the effectiveness of the risk 
management framework and the associated control environment. 

 Financial Reporting of the Council’s Statement of Accounts 
ensuring that any issues arising from the process of finalising, 
auditing and certifying the Council accounts are dealt with 
properly. 

8 The membership of the Committee, which was revised to reflect the 
outcome of the local elections in May 2021, is as follows: 

Chairman:   Cllr Alex Watson 

Vice Chairman:   Cllr Louise Fenwick 

Members:   Cllr Brian Avery 

    Cllr Andrew Jackson 

    Cllr Matt Johnson 

    Cllr Bill Kellett 

    Cllr Mike McGaun 

    Cllr Richard Ormerod 

    Cllr Tracie Smith 

Co-opted Members: Mr Clive Robinson 

    Mr Ian Rudd 

Page 75



Summary of Meetings 

9 A summary of Committee business considered at the meetings that 
have been held during the period is provided at Appendix 2. 

10 The matters considered by the Audit Committee demonstrate that the 
Committee continues to make a significant and continuing contribution 
to the Council’s governance, control and risk frameworks during the last 
twelve-month period, fulfilling the following objectives: 

l) Striving to help support the Council deliver its objectives and 
priorities by being both a proactive and reactive body, 
encouraging the early reporting of risk and control issues to 
ensure that appropriate and timely action is taken to address 
them; 

m) Continuing to raise the profile of the Internal Audit, Corporate 
Fraud and Risk Management Service through regular reports 
being considered by the Audit Committee; 

n) Independent questioning and contributing to the development and 
oversight of the internal audit plan; 

o) Seeking assurance on the effectiveness of corporate risk 
management arrangements; 

p) Improving the accountability of service managers to respond to 
outstanding internal audit reports and the implementation of 
agreed internal audit recommendations, thereby helping to drive 
improvements in controls to manage risk effectively; 

q) Continuing to provide regular challenge and demanding 
accountability on the effectiveness of the implementation and 
operation of key systems both financial and non-financial; 

r) Challenging the level of internal audit resource and their work to 
ensure that the service is effective and delivers a reliable 
assurance opinion on the Council’s control framework; 

s) Challenging how the Council responds to the risk of fraud and 
receiving information on the levels of detected fraud and the 
Council’s continuing response; 

t) Championing the work of the Corporate Fraud Team; 

u) Receiving and commenting on the work of the external auditor, 
Mazars; and 

Page 76



v) Challenging how the Annual Governance Statement has been 
prepared, reviewing the assurance framework that is in place and 
that the Council’s governance arrangements are effective. 

 

Contact: Stephen Carter Tel:  03000 269665 

  

Page 77



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

There are no specific legal implications associated with this report.  The Audit 

Committee contributes to the effective corporate and financial governance of 

the Council and provides relevant and appropriate challenge and oversight 

where necessary. 

Finance 

There are no specific financial implications associated with this report.  The 

Audit Committee has clear terms of reference and directly effects and assists 

in improving value for money obtained, the probity and propriety of financial 

administration, and / or the management of operational and strategic risks. 

Consultation 

Audit Committee and the Corporate Director of Resources. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The Audit Committee provides an independent review of the Council’s risk 

management framework and comments on its effectiveness. 

Procurement 

Page 78



None.   

Page 79



Appendix 2:  Summary of Meetings of the Audit Committee 

 

25 September 2020 
 
The Committee considered:  

(i) A report from the Occupational Health and Safety Manager which 
provided the annual report on health, safety and wellbeing (HSW) 
performance for 2019/20. 
 

(ii) A report from the Occupational Health and Safety Manager which 
provided an update on health, safety and wellbeing performance during 
Quarter 1 of 2020/21. 

 
(iii) A report from the Corporate Director of Resources which provided the 

2019/20 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection Fund. 
 

(iv) A report from the Corporate Director of Resources which provided the 
Treasury Management Outturn for 2019/20. 

 

(v) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars presenting the Audit completion 
report for the Council 2019/20 to the Committee which included the 
overall messages from the audit work that they had completed. 

 

(vi) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars presenting the Committee with 
the Audit Strategy Memorandum for the Pension Fund’s Accounts for the 
year ending 31 March 2020.  This detailed the auditor’s scope, approach, 
timings and the proposed work to be completed. 

 

(vii) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars presenting the Audit completion 
report for the Pension Fund 2019/20 to the Committee which included the 
overall messages from the audit work that they had completed. 
 

(viii) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources that sought approval of 
the final Annual Governance Statement to be published as part of the 
Council’s audited Statement of Accounts 2019/20. 
 

(ix) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources which presented the 
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020 for approval 

 
(x) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources which highlighted the 

strategic risks facing the Council and that gave an insight into the work 
carried out by the Corporate Risk Management Group during January to 
May 2020.  Members were informed of new risks, those that had been 
removed and the status of all current key risks. 

Page 80



(xi) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which informed members of work carried out by Internal Audit 
during April to June 2020 as part of the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan. 

 
(xii) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources which provided 

information on the outcome of the Redmond Review, an independent 
review into the Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency of Local 
Authority Financial Reporting. 

 
26 November 2020 

The Committee considered:  
 

(i) A presentation from Amy Harhoff who, as the Council’s recently 
appointed Corporate Director, Regeneration, Economy & Growth, 
provided an overview of her service responsibilities and current priorities. 
 

(ii) A report from the Occupational Health and Safety Manager which 
provided an update on health, safety and wellbeing performance during 
Quarter 2 of 2020/21 
 

(i) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars, giving the Committee an update 
on their progress with regards to planning for the 2020/21 audit and 
updating the Committee on national issues and developments that were 
worthy of attention.  

(ii) A report of the Corporate Director, Resources regarding changes to the 
Local Code of Corporate Governance. 

(iii) A report of the Corporate Director, Resources which highlighted the 
strategic risks facing the Council and that gave an insight into the work 
carried out by the Corporate Risk Management Group during June to 
September 2020.  Members were informed of new risks, those that had 
been removed and the status of all current key risks. 

(iv) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) detailing to members the Counter Fraud work completed over 
the period April to September 2020 in order to protect the public purse. 
 

(v) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which informed members of the work carried out by Internal 
Audit during the period July to September 2020 and the assurance on the 
control environment provided. 

 

(vi) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) presenting the six-month Internal Audit Plan for the period 01 
October 2020 to 31 March 2021 for Members comments and input. 

Page 81



25 February 2021 
 

The Committee considered: 
 
(i) A presentation from Alan Patrickson who, as the Council’s Corporate 

Director, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, provided an overview of 
his service responsibilities and current priorities. 

 
(ii) A report from the Occupational Health and Safety Manager which 

provided an update on health, safety and wellbeing performance for the 
period September to December 2020.    
 

(iii) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which 
presented Changes to the Code of Practice for Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK 
 

(iv) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which 
presented the Accounting Policies that the Council intends to have in 
place to prepare the 2020/21 financial statements. 

 
(v) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which detailed 

the timetable for the preparation of the Council’s Final Accounts process 
for 2020/21 including the key milestones for the completion of the 
financial statements with the statutory deadline of 30 September 2021, 
amended from July in light of the coronavirus pandemic, having to be 
achieved. 

 
(vi) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars, presenting the Committee with 

the Annual Audit Letter for year ending 31 March 2020 and summarising 
the audit of Durham County Council and Durham County Council 
Pension Fund. 

 
(vii) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars, presenting the Committee with 

the Audit Strategy Memorandum for the Council’s Accounts for the year 
ending 31 March 2021.  This detailed the auditor’s scope, approach, 
timings and the proposed work to be completed. 

 
(viii) A report of the External Auditor, Mazars, presenting the Committee with 

the Audit Strategy Memorandum for the Pension Fund for the year 
ending 31 March 2021. 

 
(ix) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) informing the 

Committee of the key dates for the review of the Council’s corporate 
governance which informs the Annual Governance Statement within the 
Statement of Accounts for the year ending 31 March 2021. 

 

Page 82



(x) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) providing an 
update on the progress being made in relation to the actions arising from 
the Council’s Annual Governance Statement for the year April 2019 to 
March 2020. 

  
(xi) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which 

highlighted the strategic risks facing the Council and that gave an insight 
into the work carried out by the Corporate Risk Management Group 
during October to December 2020.  Members were informed of new 
risks, those that had been removed and the status of all current key risks. 

(xii) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which contained 
a revised version of the Risk Management Policy and Strategy. 

(xiii) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which provided details of CIPFA Guidance issued in light of the 
coronavirus pandemic on the subject of Head of Internal Audit Annual 
Opinions and actions to be taken in addressing the risk of a limitation of 
scope of work undertaken. 

(xiv) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which informed members of the work carried out by Internal 
Audit during the period October to December 2020 and the assurance on 
the control environment provided.  
 

(xv) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) presenting the emergent Internal Audit Plan for the year 2021/22 
for Members comments and input.  The report detailed the proposed 
direction and process for the development of the emergent Internal Audit 
Plan which would be discussed with Senior Management and brought 
back for the Committee’s formal approval in June 2021. 

 

30 June 2021 

The Committee considered:  

(i) A report from the Occupational Health and Safety Manager which 
provided an update on health, safety and wellbeing performance for the 
period January to March 2021. 
 

(ii) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which informed members of the work carried out by Internal 
Audit during the period January to March 2021 and the assurance on the 
control environment provided. 

 
 

 

Page 83



(iii) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which provided 
an overview of CIPFA’s Financial Resilience Index and how Durham 
County Council compares to neighbouring authorities and other unitary 
authorities.  This identified no areas of major concern with the Council 
scoring well against all measures. 

 
(iv) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which provided 

information about the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Financial Management Code designed to support 
good practice in financial management and to assist local authorities in 
demonstrating their financial sustainability.  The Code also sets for the 
first time, the standards of financial management for local authorities. 
 

(v) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) assessing 
whether the Council can be considered a ‘going concern’ organisation 
and if the Council’s accounts can be compiled on that basis.  The 
assessment concluded that the Council has a history of stable finance 
and ready access to financial resources in the future.  It was also felt 
there are no significant financial, operating or other risks that would 
jeopardise the Council’s continuing operation and that the accounts could 
be prepared on this basis. 
 

(vi) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which presented the Committee with a review of the 
effectiveness of Internal Audit and assurance that it complies with Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).  The review was carried out by 
way of a self-assessment.  The review concluded that the service was 
compliant with the standards. 
 

(vii) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) detailing to Members, the Counter Fraud work completed over 
the period April 2020 to March 2021 to protect the public purse. 
 

(viii) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which presented the Annual Internal Audit Report for 2020/21 
that provided a ‘moderate’ opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Council’s control environment for 2020/21.   
 

(ix) A report of the Chair that provided a response on behalf of the Audit 
Committee, to a letter from the external auditors, relating to compliance 
with International Auditing Standards.  This was a requirement of the final 
accounts process. 

 
(x) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) that sought 

approval of the draft Annual Governance Statement to be published as 
part of the Council’s audited Statement of Accounts 2020/21. 

Page 84



(xi) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which 
presented the draft un-audited Statement of Accounts for the year ended 
31 March 2021.  The Corporate Director, Resources (Interim) confirmed 
that the draft accounts had been certified and provided to external audit 
within the statutory deadline which due to the impact of Covid-19 on local 
authorities had been extended from 31 May to 31 July 2021.  The report 
identified that the deadline for publication of its final (audited) accounts 
had also moved from 31 July to 30 September 2021. 
 

(xii) A report of the Chief Internal Auditor and Corporate Fraud Manager 
(Interim) which set out the Internal Audit Strategy, Charter and Internal 
Audit plan for 2021/22.  Progress on delivering the plan will be regularly 
monitored by the Committee. 

 
30 July 2021 
 

The Committee considered:  

(i) A report from the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which 
provided the 2020/21 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection 
Fund. 
 

(ii) A report of the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) which 
highlighted the strategic risks facing the Council and that gave an insight 
into the work carried out by the Corporate Risk Management Group 
during January to May 2021.  Members were informed of new risks, 
those that had been removed and the status of all current key risks. 

 

In addition, and as part of the Council’s member development programme, the 

Committee received corporate governance and risk management training to 

help support them in effectively undertaking their roles. 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Council 
 
20 October 2021 
 
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual 
Report 2020-21 

 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 

Service 

Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children 

and Young People’s Services 

Councillor Mamie Simmons, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting Panel 
Annual Report 2020-21(attached as Appendix 2) for endorsement. 
 

2 The Annual Report 2020-21 was agreed by the Corporate Parenting 
Panel at its meeting on 2 July 2021. 

Executive summary 

3 To strengthen political and management oversight of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel and increase the voice of children and young people in 
our work, a number of changes were implemented.  As a result, the 
September 2019 Children’s Services Ofsted inspection report stated 
that ‘The Corporate Parenting Panel is effective and is maintaining good 
political and strategic governance of children in care and care leavers’. 
 

4 The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of 
Durham County Council’s constitution and make specific reference that 
the Corporate Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual 
report that will be shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny. 

 
5 This is the fourth Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 

following the changes to political oversight. 

  

Page 87

Agenda Item 11



Recommendations  

6 Council is recommended to: 
 
(a) note the content of the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report; 

(b) endorse the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report, which 
provides oversight of the work undertaken during 2020-21, and 
the priorities for the year ahead. 

Page 88



Background 

7 The terms of reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel are taken from 
Durham County Council’s Constitution with the responsibilities of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel in relation to each of the functions clearly set 
out. 
 

8 The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate 
Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be 
shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny. 
 

9 In September 2019, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were 
inspected by OFSTED.  The inspection report states that since previous 
inspections (JTAI in July 2018, and focused CIN visit in January 2019) 
‘the local authority has taken swift and decisive action to strengthen 
services.  Pace has increased since the focused visit, and solid 
improvements can be seen in many service areas, including at the front 
door and for children in care.  Firm foundations are in place to sustain 
and build on the improvements made’. 

 
10 The inspection report also states that ‘The Corporate Parenting Panel is 

effective and is maintaining good political and strategic governance of 
children in care and care leavers’. 
 

Development of the Annual Report 

11 To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, young people from the Children in Care Council, 
supported by officers from the Partnerships Team, help to develop the 
Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual Report. 
 

12 The young people work on the design, content and language of the 
Annual Report to ensure it is easy to read and understand. 

 
13 To ensure we continue to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting 

Panel, the Durham County Council Communications and Marketing 
Team have been involved in the development of the Annual Report to 
ensure it follows a more corporate format, whilst ensuring it uses 
language and design which is also appealing to young people. 

 
14 The Annual Report will hold a more prominent position on the Durham 

County Council website and will again be hosted on the Investing in 
Children website, and the Children in Care Council website. 
 

  

Page 89



15 The Annual Report includes information on: 
 
(a) What a Corporate Parent is; 

(b) The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel; 

(c) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference; 

(d) Key performance data; 

(e) Achievements during 2020/21; 

(f) Priorities for 2021/22. 

Next Steps 

16 Council is requested to note the following key dates for the Annual 
Report: 

(a) Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
15 November 2021, for information. 

Conclusion 

17 Council is recommended to: 

(a) endorse the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report, which 
provides oversight of the work undertaken during 2020-21, and 
the priorities for the year ahead. 

Authors: 

Helen Fergusson Tel: 03000 266543 

Jayne Watson Tel:  03000 268371 

  

Page 90



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of Durham 
County Council’s Constitution. 
 

Finance 
There are cost implications for design and print services, however the 
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report will primarily be shared by email 
and will be hosted on the Children in Care Council, Investing in Children and 
Durham County Council websites to minimise printing and distribution costs. 
 

Consultation 
Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved in the 
development of the Annual Report.  The consultation has been done in the 
main through virtual meetings coordinated by Investing in Children, due to the 
Coronavirus pandemic and lockdown restrictions. 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Looked After Services are available to all children and young people in line 
with legal duties. 
 

Climate Change 
There are no climate change implications. 
 

Human Rights 
Children and young people have been central to the development of the 
Annual Report to ensure that their voices are heard. 
 

Crime and Disorder 
There are no crime and disorder implications. 

 

Staffing 
There are no staffing implications. 

 

Accommodation 
There are no accommodation implications. 
 

Risk 
There are no risk implications. 
 

Procurement 
There are no procurement implications.  

Page 91



Appendix 2:  Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2020-21 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

 

 

Page 92



Corporate Parenting Panel

Annual Report
April 2020 - March 2021

County Durham

Page 93



Contents
What is a corporate parent? ........................................................................4

Why are children in care? ............................................................................4

Message from the Chair – Cllr Ivan Jewell ..................................................4

Where are children in care? ........................................................................5

Local Government Chronicle (LGC) Awards  ..............................................5

Message from the Children in Care Council (CICC) Co-opted members ....5

Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) .............................................6

CPP responsibilities .....................................................................................6

Updates against 2020/21 priorities ..............................................................7

Care Leavers Challenge ..............................................................................8

Children in Care Council (CICC) .................................................................9

Co-opted positions for CICC members........................................................9

Joint CICC/CPP meetings ...........................................................................9

CICC catch ups ...........................................................................................9

CICC newsletters.......................................................................................10

Monthly Corporate Parenting Panel briefings ............................................10

What happened in lockdown .....................................................................10

Local Offer for care leavers .......................................................................12

DRIVE project  ...........................................................................................12

Regulation 44 inspections .........................................................................13

Councillors responsible for Regulation 44 inspections April 2020 - March 
2021...........................................................................................................13

Key performance data ...............................................................................14

Education, employment and training .........................................................15

Page 94



Work with further education providers .......................................................15

Transition support ......................................................................................15

Post 16 support .........................................................................................15

Apprenticeships .........................................................................................15

DurhamWorks ............................................................................................15

Celebration events.....................................................................................16

Mind of My Own app..................................................................................16

Virtual School ............................................................................................17

Aycliffe Secure Centre ...............................................................................18

Children’s homes .......................................................................................20

Fostering and adoption ..............................................................................20

Achievements ............................................................................................22

Priorities for 2021/22 .................................................................................26

Contact details ...........................................................................................26

 Every child 
is a different kind of 
flower and together 
make this world a 

beautiful garden. 

Shannon

Page 95



I would like to take this opportunity, as chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel (CPP), to thank everyone for their continued hard 
work and commitment over what has been a very challenging 
year. We could not have imagined the impact the global Covid-19 
pandemic would have on delivery of services across England. In 
Durham our staff, partners, volunteers and the young people 
themselves played a key role in helping us to respond to the 
outbreak to ensure that all children, young people and their carers 
received the best possible help, advice and support during this 
difficult time.

During the pandemic, we have tried new ways of communicating 
with our children and young people using apps, Microsoft Teams 
and Zoom as well as socially distanced walks and picnics when 
the restrictions allowed. We have also sent interpreted coronavirus 
fact sheets to unattended asylum-seeking children who needed 
them. 

Amongst the challenges, there have also been successes with 
some of our young people having had the poems they published 
about life in lockdown re-tweeted by the Children’s Commissioner 
for England.

I will not be standing for re-election as a Councillor in the May 
2021 elections, so will be stepping down as Chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel.

I have enjoyed my time in this role and really appreciated being 
able to work with children and young people to understand how 
we can support them to achieve the best possible outcomes. 

I wish everyone all the best for the future and take great pleasure 
in introducing the Corporate Parenting Panel’s fourth annual 
report. April 2021

Councillor Mamie 
Simmons will become 
Chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel from May 
2021, with Councillor 
Michelle Walton as Vice 
Chair.

Message from 
the Chair!

What is a 
corporate parent
Local Authorities must 
provide the care, support, 
and security that young 
people need if they can’t 
stay at home safely and 
become the young people’s 
‘corporate parent’.

Being a corporate parent 
isn’t just up to the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, everyone 
should be looking out for our 
children and young people, 
and every councillor and 
council employee has a role 
to play as the eyes and ears 
of the community.

Being a corporate parent 
means doing whatever we 
can to support young people 
in our care and our care 
leavers, to help them 
achieve their full potential 
and have the best possible 
outcomes.

Cllr Ivan Jewell 
Chair of the CPP

Why are children 
in care?
Young people are looked 
after for a variety of reasons 
including neglect and abuse. 
They could also be in care if 
their parents are unable to 
look after them because of 
their own complex health 
needs or behaviours. Some 
young people have no 
parents to care for them, or 
they could be 
unaccompanied asylum 
seekers.

4

Cllr Michelle Walton 
Vice Chair of the CPP

Cllr Mamie Simmons  
Chair of the CPP

Page 96



Where are children in care?
Children and young people can be in care 
in a range of settings, including foster care, 
children’s homes, supported lodgings, and 
secure accommodation – the council is 
corporate parent to all of them.

“I attend Corporate Parenting Panel to 
represent young people from the CICC. We 
have been giving feedback on all the wonderful 
things us young people have been able to 
achieve within the CICC. 

“Due to the circumstances of Covid-19 we have 
been able to still achieve changes, one being 
the children’s homes that have had 
improvements to their Wi-Fi which was very 
important because of online learning. Another is 
adding a positive story so, at every meeting, we 
hear about something that has been positive 
which is now many of the members favourite 
part of the meeting.

“I’ve had a very positive experience when 
working with the Panel and I’m looking forward 
to seeing all the changes that we are able to 
make together.” 
Lesley Caulkin

“I have been a representative at Corporate 
Parenting Panel meetings on behalf of CICC for 
a long time now. At these meetings, we get to 
feedback what we have discussed in our 
meetings, any training sessions we have taken 
part in, and the amazing stories about what 
children and young people have achieved or 
created through great art work. 

“Due to Covid-19 we have been unable to 
attend our meetings face to face at County Hall 
and some decisions and improvements have 
taken longer to process. For example, faster 
Wi-Fi for children in our children’s homes 
around the county which was to help with their 
education, social needs, and family time. 
However, at the end of our meetings we always 
have a positive story about what a child or 
young person has been up to during the 
pandemic such as arts and crafts and 
podcasts, which has always 
been members of the 
council’s favourite part 
of the meetings. 

“In my time so far, 
I have enjoyed 
being on the 
Panel and it 
has grown my 
confidence.

Mitchell 
Green

Message from Children in Care Council (CICC) co-opted members

 I am so 
proud of all the 

changes we have 
made to improve 

services for children 
and young people who are 
cared for in Durham, and 

I want to see more 
positive changes and 

new ideas going 
forward.  

Local Government Chronicle (LGC) Awards 
In November 2019, the Corporate Parenting Panel was shortlisted for the LGC Awards 2020 in the 
Children’s Services category. The awards ceremony was due to take place in March 2020, however 
this was postponed due to the Coronavirus pandemic with a virtual event taking place in October 
2020. It was a huge achievement for the Panel to be shortlisted as a record number of entries were 
submitted.

5

Page 97



The CPP is a group that is part of the council, which is called a committee. It has 21 councillors as 
well as council officers. There are also 10 other members, including school representatives and 
young people’s representatives to make sure there’s a broad range of experience and knowledge and 
that children and young people are heard, and actively responded to.

Corporate parents have responsibility to act for the children and young people in our care as a parent 
would for their own child, and should ask three key questions:

6

2.  
If I were that 
child would it 

have been 
good enough 

for me?

1. 
If this were 

my child would 
it be good 
enough?

3. 
How could I 
make it even 

better?

CPP responsibilities

Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP)

There are a number of things which the CPP must do:

	✓ Make sure the Council acts as a good corporate parent to children and young people in care and 
care leavers, including:

 • Young people in residential care, foster care and supported lodgings

 • Young people placed for adoption or placed at home under care planning, placement, and case 
review regulations

 • Young people in secure homes or in custody 

	✓ Engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their carers.

	✓ Work in partnership with other agencies to make improvements for our children and young people 
in care. 

	✓ Oversee the virtual school for looked after children and young people. For more information visit 
www.durham.gov.uk/durhamvirtualschool. A sub-group has been established to lead on this work. 

	✓ Oversee Aycliffe Secure Services. A sub group has been established to lead on this work. 
 
More information on the Corporate Parenting Panel can be found in Durham County Council’s 
constitution at: www.durham.gov.uk/constitution

Page 98

http://www.durham.gov.uk/durhamvirtualschool
http://www.durham.gov.uk/constitution


What we said we 
would focus on

Where we are now What young 
people think

Subsidised 
transport

We have had lots of meetings with the providers, but due to the 
number of different providers and services across County 
Durham we are unable to offer subsidised transport for all care 
leavers.

We took steps to liaise with higher education colleges to 
discuss their approach to supporting students with paying bus 
passes whilst colleges were closed or delivering lessons 
virtually.

We continue to look at transport support on an individual basis 
for our young people, and John Hewitt, the Council’s Interim 
Chief Executive will discuss further with senior managers to 
re-visit this.

Extension of 
Freedom Card for 
care leavers

Exploration into the expansion of Freedom Cards to establish a 
discount scheme for care leavers.

Some discounts have already been offered, and young people 
have access to Durham County Council discounts and free 
access to council leisure centres.

Unfortunately, this work was postponed due to the pandemic as 
many shops and services were forced to close as part of 
lockdown restrictions.

Teacher training Two young people from the Children in Care Council (CICC) 
attended the designated teacher network meeting on 24 
November 2020. They presented a workshop “We are no 
different” to more than 80 designated teachers from schools 
both in Durham and across the country. This was well received, 
and discussions took place afterwards about the child/young 
persons’ voice and how their thoughts and requests could be 
shared in schools. As a follow on from this we have decided to 
produce a Children Looked After Policy for schools.  
The CICC have worked with Melanie Stubbs,  
the Virtual Head to ensure the Child/Young  
Person’s Promise is reflected in the policy. 

We are also producing a series of  
podcasts to support training with  
teachers in the future.

Updates against 2020/21 priorities 

7

Page 99



In February 2020, two councillors and two Durham 
County Council officers took part in the Care Leavers 
Challenge, living on £57.90 per week, which is what 
care leavers not in employment received.

Everyone found the challenge hard and it was agreed 
that we would use the learning from this to improve 
how we can support young people. 
Unfortunately, the Covid-19 response took 
priority over this work in 2020 so we have 
not been able to make any progress, 
and the Care Leavers Challenge didn’t 
happen in 2021 either. We hope to 
pick this up again in 2022.

Moving forward we will look at the 
key issues that came from the 2020 
challenge:

 • Direct debit payments for 
electricity and gas

 • Transport 

8

Care Leavers Challenge

What we said we 
would focus on

Where we are now What young 
people think

Care Experienced 
Young Inspectors

It was agreed that Care Experienced Young Inspectors would 
help us to shape the services we provide in Durham County 
Council children’s residential homes. 

The inspectors will be developing a framework and toolkit, 
accessing training and support to allow them to carry out the 
role of a young inspector. The role will involve them visiting 
residential homes and sharing their views and observations on 
the services provided to the young people and their home.

This work has been postponed due to Covid-19 but will be 
picked up again soon. 

In the meantime, we have been supporting our care 
experienced young people with opportunities to take part in 
interviews. This approach has seen a number of our care 
experienced young people lead in part of the interview process 
across a range of jobs by asking questions, leading 
discussions, rating presentations and making comments as 
part of the interview process. The skills built up through the 
interviewing process will be transferable as well as all the 
valued added to the interview process. 

Page 100



CICC catch ups
During 2020 CPP meetings were cancelled so 
virtual monthly meetings were set up with the 
CICC, the Chair and Vice Chair of the CPP, the 
Head of Children’s Social Care and some of the 
senior managers from the service so that young 
people were still able to have contact with the 
Panel on a regular basis.

When the CPP meetings were re-started they 
were virtual and every two months instead of 
monthly, so that regular contact with the CPP 
could be maintained.

Some of the things we discussed at these 
meetings were:

 • Activities young people had been getting 
involved with during lockdown e.g. cooking, 
exercise, DIY and water fights

 • The importance of seeing friends, which is 
now included in young people’s plans

 • Paying for bus passes while 
colleges were closed/
deductions from bursaries

 • Pets in residential 
homes, and also about 
pets being included in 
safety plans (more 
info on page 22)

Children in Care Council (CICC)
The CICC is a group for children and young 
people who are looked after in County Durham 
and is supported by Investing in Children. The 
CICC members meet monthly to talk about 
issues which are important to them, highlight 
what works and share stories of the support 
they have received. This forum is well 
established, with senior managers from within 
Children and Young People’s Services and 
elected members who are on the Corporate 
Parenting Panel (CPP) regularly attending 
CICC meetings. 

More information on the CICC can be found at 
www.durhamcicc.co.uk

9

Co-opted positions for CICC members
Two young people from the CICC have co-
opted positions on the CPP providing panel 
representation from the CICC. They attend 
each meeting (supported by Investing in 
Children) to share feedback from the CICC. In 
addition, the CICC have a standing item on 
each CPP agenda, where they provide 
feedback from CICC meetings, ensuring 
members of the CPP hear real unfiltered 
feedback directly from the young people. The 
young people are involved in decision making 
within the CPP, which is fed back to leads to 
influence service decisions and developments 
as necessary.

Joint CICC/CPP meetings
In addition to the formal CPP meetings, children 
and young people from the CICC (supported by 
Investing in Children) host a joint meeting with 
the CPP every six months.

The young people set the agenda for the 
meeting and invite members and officers of the 
CPP to attend to meet with the CICC. During 
2020 these meetings were postponed but will 
be re-started from July 2021 using Zoom 
instead of having a meeting. We also hope this 
will encourage more councillors to take part as 
they won’t need to travel to attend the meetings.

These meetings are less formal than the CPP 
meeting and provide an opportunity for all of the 
young people who are part of the CICC to raise 
issues which are important to them and have 
discussions directly with members and officers 
of the CPP and have their ideas, suggestions 
and comments heard.

Feedback from the discussions is collated by 
Investing in Children and key issues are 
presented by the young people from the CICC 
at a formal CPP meeting, for further discussion. 
Work takes place to address these issues within 
the service, and feedback is provided to the 
CICC at the next joint meeting.

Page 101

https://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/ 


10

 • Use of language including the term 
‘vulnerable’ (more info on page 23)

 • Pocket money/varying amounts (more info 
on page 22)

 • Intergenerational work

 • Podcast (more info on page 11)

CICC newsletters
Young people from the 
CICC produced 
newsletters during 
lockdown. These were 
shared across the 
service, with children 
and young people and 
with the CPP. They were 
also shared with the 
Children’s Commissioner 
for England.

We continue to support 
CICC with the newsletter on 
a monthly basis and have 
provided a link with 
Durham County Council’s 
marketing team to support 
young people to 
understand the editorial 
role and become a 
‘young editor’ for the 
newsletter. 

More information on the CICC can be found at: 
www.durhamcicc.co.uk/cicc-newsletters

Monthly Corporate Parenting Panel 
briefings
To ensure members of the CPP remained 
sighted on the work taking place across the 
service to support children and young people in 
response to the pandemic, monthly newsletters 
were produced and circulated.

These included updates from all partners of the 
CPP including Aycliffe Secure Centre, the 
Virtual School and health colleagues. Updates 
also included key performance data.

 • A virtual Children in Care Council (CICC) 
quiz night took place.

 • Some of the children in foster care had fun 
online with their social workers during their 
one to one’s including playing virtual hide 
and seek, reading stories together, finding 
shapes in the clouds, discussing blogs and 
talking about TikTok. 

 • Investing in Children hosted an easter egg 
competition and young people sent in 
photos of their entries. Here are the top 
three: 

 • CICC members supported Investing in 
Children with a successful funding bid, 
securing £2,500 to fund summer packs at 
£50 per pack, which went to children, 
young people or families who needed 
additional resources during the summer 
holidays while we were in lockdown. The 
packs were personalised based on the 
young people’s interests e.g. paint 
brushes, outdoor games, sketch books, 
notebooks etc. 

What happened in lockdown

Page 102

https://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/cicc-newsletters


CICC members really wanted to impact on 
the Covid-19 crisis and worked on the project 
to do something nice for others and were 
nominated for a High Sheriff Award because 
of this work.

More information about the summer packs 
can be found in this short film on 
youtube.com

 • Young people from one of our children’s 
homes raised money for Stray Aid, a local 
dog shelter. They set up a Just Giving page 
and raised over £600 to help support the 
dogs by doing a sponsored bike ride, which 
was over 30 miles!

 • CICC members met with workers from the 
Children’s Commissioner for England’s Office 
and the National Police Chief Council to 
discuss their experience of coming into care 
and their experience of the police, which will 
feed into the review of the National Police 
Chief Council strategy. 

 • Young people in residential care receive 
Christmas gifts from a Durham company, and 
they were particularly generous this year. 
The young people were so pleased with the 
gifts they received that they used their 
excellent IT and creative skills to produce a 
montage of images of themselves enjoying 
their presents over Christmas, which they 
sent to the company as a gesture of thanks. 
The Strategic Manager was moved when she 
viewed the montage and impressed at the 
amount of effort the young people had put in 
to such a professional piece of work, which 
they had taken upon themselves to produce, 
to show their appreciation to the company.

 • Young people have developed podcasts:

 • One young person from the CICC 
launched his podcast ‘We are No Different 
Episode 1’ on Spotify.com good news will 
be shared in the podcast and members of 
the CPP and staff within the service are 
invited to take part in future to share 
interesting stories.

 • Two CICC members have done a podcast 
called ‘Experiencing the care system’ 
where they talk openly about their 
experiences of care and everyday life. 
They discuss the benefits that foster 
carers bring to the lives of young people in 
County Durham, along with valuing the 
contribution carers and staff have made 
during Covid-19. Listen to Episode 1 on 
Spotify.com

 If you have any ideas for future 
podcasts, please get in touch.

 • Mini-Corporate Parenting Panel meetings 
have been introduced to enable young 
people to comment on events over the last 
twelve months. This initiative has been very 
well received.

 • Young people’s experiences of the pandemic 
were captured through creative activities, 
such as the production of videos, poetry and 
photographs. An e-book called Lockdown 
Diaries was produced to capture this work, 
which you can view at www.issuu.com

11

Page 103

https://youtu.be/DIU35gpjQ6Q
https://open.spotify.com/episode/5YUQ5O7bDHkobaJ4q2H0vp?si=_9aCEdqkSLSmdphdb8WFIw&utm_source=native-share-menu
https://open.spotify.com/episode/1BZSAIN0kGcjxSnR4k2ifS?si=pL9CrdtjRMiRcMF2VTw9_Q&utm_source=native-share-menu  
https://issuu.com/dccdesignandprint/docs/lockdown_diaries_children_s_experiences_of_covid19


12

 • Young People from the CICC are involved in supporting us with Durham County Council’s promise. 
The promise launched officially on Friday 26 October 2018 and is regularly reviewed to make sure 
it is fit for purpose, and that we are doing what we have said we will do. If we are not, the young 
people can raise this at a CICC meeting so that action is taken.

 • In response to the pandemic and lockdown restrictions, when care leavers were approaching 18 
years of age and their current placement was due to end, we extended this where possible in line 
with their wishes. 

 • In Christmas 2019, members donated money from their budgets to pay for our care leavers to go 
for a Christmas meal. This was due to be repeated in 2020, however due to lockdown restrictions 
it was not possible – so instead the money was put towards hampers for the young people.

 • We continue to pay young people who are on income maintenance allowance 
an additional £20 a week to match the government’s additional £20 Universal 
Credit payment. This is in place until September.

 • Work is ongoing to develop the Staying Close project where young people 
leaving care can continue to live close to, and access support from, their 
former children’s home. 

 • A drop-in centre for care leavers is being developed. 

 • The care leavers hub at Sherburn Hill has been refurbished to offer cooking, 
shower and laundry facilities. We continue to work with care leavers and 
staff to develop the hub to meet the support needs of our young people.

21 young people 
have passed their 
practical driving 

tests to date

The project supports 
young people by 
providing driving 

lessons, up to the value of £500. The project 
pays for one lesson, the young person pays for 
the next lesson, and so on then the project pays 
for the first theory test and one practical test. 
This is available for looked after young people 

aged 17+ and care leavers up to the age of 21 
(25 if in full time education). 

Unfortunately, due to the pandemic restrictions 
the project was on hold last year but Investing 
in Children are working through their database 
to see which young people are in a position to 
start their lessons when restrictions are eased.

Drive project

Local Offer for care leavers

1)  To treat you with respect and to remember that everyone is different.   

2)		 To	help	find
	best	home	we	can	for

	you.		It	will	
be	where	yo

u	feel	safe, 

  cared about and treated well.  

3)  To help you stay in touch with family and friends if it is ok to do so.  

4)  To listen carefully to you and try to act on what you say.  

 
5)  That your social worker will get to know you well.  

  They will keep in touch with you and listen to what you say. 

6)  To really listen to things you would like to change about being looked after.  

7)  To be honest and share any information or changes with you. 

8)		 To	involve	y
ou	in	any	de

cisions,	plan
s	or	change

s	that	affect
	you	or	your

	future.	 

9)  To give you any help or support that you need.  

10)	 To	help
	you	be	the	

best	that	yo
u	can	be	at	

school,	coll
ege,	training

	and	work.	 

11) To give you help and support when needed to move from care to adult life.  

 
12) To work together and support you during every change in your life.

 
For example moving placement or leaving care. 

Our Promise

To Looked After Children and Young People

Contact: Tel: 0191 307 7030    www.investinginchildren.net 

Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services  - contact number 03000 266 593

Head of Children’s Social Care - contact number 03000 265 759

43474

43474 looked after children promise posters A3.indd   1

01/10/2018   13:44

Page 104



13

Regulation 44 inspections
The Children’s Homes (England) 
Regulations 2015 requires that an 
independent person should undertake an 
unannounced visit to all children’s homes at 
least once a month (Regulation 44). The 
independent person must produce a report 
about the visit which sets out whether:

 • Children are effectively safeguarded, and 

 • The conduct of the home promotes children’s 
wellbeing.

Regulation 44 reports come to each Corporate 
Parenting Panel meeting highlighting any 
issues or concerns. 

In March 2020, we moved from onsite 
Regulation 44 visits to virtual visits using 
Microsoft Teams enabling all of our children’s 
homes to continue to benefit from a monthly 
visit. 

During the virtual visit there is an opportunity for 
the visitor to interview the registered manager, 
in the same way as they would when on site, 
ensuring oversight and evidence for the monthly 
report. The visitor can also see the home by a 
virtual tour and through photographic evidence 
which is sent by the registered manager. 

During the virtual visit there is also an 
opportunity for the visitor to speak with the 
young people to gather their views as well as 
being able to speak with members of the care 
team, parents and social workers etc, in much 
the same way as they did before using emails, 
phone calls and Microsoft Teams when needed. 

Elected members who are aligned to each 
home receive copies of the monthly reports to 
ensure they receive regular updates and retain 
oversight.

New inspectors will be identified after the 
local elections in May 2021.

Councillors responsible for 
Regulation 44 inspections 
April 2020 – March 2021
Home/Councillor

Tow Law
Cllr Anne Reed

Park House 
Cllr Ivan Jewell

High Etherley 
Cllr Christine Wilson

West Rainton
Cllr Jude Considine

9 Cedar Drive
Cllr Pauline Crathorne

Coxhoe
Cllr Liz Maddison

Moorside
Cllr Beaty Bainbridge

New Lea House
Cllr Jude Considine

Framwellgate Moor
Cllr Mamie Simmons

(Auckland - secure)
Cllr George Richardson

(Barnard - secure)
Cllr Ivan Jewell

(Lumley - secure)
Cllr Eunice Huntington

(Walworth - secure)
Cllr Joe Makepeace

(Durham House - secure)
Cllr Elizabeth Scott

Page 105



 • There were 950 children in care at the end of 
March 2021, with the long-term increasing 
trend continuing. The rate of children looked 
after per 10,000 children remains lower than 
the North East average.

 • Although the overall number of children 
looked after has increased, fewer children 
entered care in 2020/21 but Covid-19 
impacted on the number of children 
leaving care during most of the year.

 • 55 children were adopted in 2020/21. This 
equates to 18% of all children leaving care 
which is higher than in England and the 
North East in 2019/20.

 • Around eight in ten of our children in care 
are placed in foster care or with friends 
and family. We have seen a reduction in 
children placed with in-house foster 
carers during the year, as Covid-19 had a 
direct impact on foster carers, for 
example choosing not to take on new 
placements or to deregister for their own 
health reasons.

 • 86% of children looked after who had been in 
care for at least 12 months had an up-to-date 
health assessment, but there was a 
significant reduction in dental checks as a 
direct impact of Covid-19. It has slowly 
began to increase as dental surgeries 
reopen.

 • 92 children looked after were recorded as 
missing, accounting for 483 missing 
episodes. A return to home interview was 
completed for over 80% of missing 
episodes, an increase from last year. A 
child/ young person can refuse this.

 • 66% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in 
education, employment and training, above 
the 2019/20 national rate of 64%.

 • 63% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were 
in education, employment and training, 
above the 2019/20 national rate of 53%.

 • 94% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in 

suitable accommodation, above the 2019/20 
national rate of 90%.

 • 96% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were 
in suitable accommodation, above the 
2019/20 national rate of 85%.

 • Due to Covid-19, KS2 SATS’s were 
cancelled, therefore there is no KS2 data to 
report this year.

 • There were 35 young people in the KS4 
reporting cohort. 11 of them attended 
specialist provision, 5 attended 
alternative provision or independent 
school, 18 attended mainstream 
secondary and 1 was in a young 
offenders institute.  Our cohort has 
continued to perform well at GCSE 
(grades 9-4) and significant improvements 
have been made in Maths. 

 • We are delighted to report further 
improvement from 2019, with a positive 
3-year trend in pupils achieving Maths at 
Grade 4+. English grades 9-4 results showed 
a slight dip, but this follows significant 
improvements made over the last two years. 
There was a very positive 3% increase in 
pupils achieving the higher grades in Maths, 
with young people achieving grades 9-5 
basics rising. 

 • 43% of Durham looked after children had 
an identified special educational need 
(SEN) in 2019-20 with 19% of them 
supported by an Education Health and 
Care Plan (EHCP). This has remained 
static over the last two years.

Key performance data 2020/21

14

Page 106



15

Looked after young people and care leavers 
receive wrap-a-round support from their 
named specialist progression adviser in 
order to sustain their progression into 
education, employment or training or to 
re-engage them in learning if they are NEET.

Additional support is provided to our young 
people in care and care leavers aged 16-24 
through the DurhamWorks Programme. This 
is a European funded, Durham County 
Council led partnership project that supports 
young people aged 16-24 who are NEET 
(Not in Education, Employment and 
Training) and resident in County Durham to 
progress into education, employment or 
training. The funding which will provide 
additional support to our young people in 
care and care leavers through 
DurhamWorks is available until December 
2023.

Further details of DurhamWorks can be 
found at www.durhamworks.info

As a result of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, 
Durham County Council 
was forced to reduce its 
apprenticeship 
recruitment programme 
during 2020-2021, which 
also impacted on the number of care leavers 
who were recruited. However, plans are 
currently being developed for 2021-2022 
recruitment, which will again include ring-
fenced positions specifically for care leavers.

As part of the Government’s Covid-19 
recovery plan, Durham County Council is 
offering a number of positions to 
unemployed young people through the 
Kickstart Scheme. Up to nine positions have 
been ring-fenced for care leavers, covering 
a broad range of occupational areas. 

Supporting more young people in care and 
care leavers into sustained post-16 
education, employment and training is a key 
priority for Durham County Council and is a 
recognition of its importance in improving the 
life chances of young people in our care and 
care leavers in terms of their future income, 
health, sense of wellbeing and purpose. 

Looked after young 
people are 
supported to make 
an effective 
sustained transition 
into post-16 education, 
employment and training 
through our new 
DurhamWorks Programme for Schools. 
They are offered one-to-one mentoring 
support, as well as the opportunity to 
participate in group activities in identified 
schools, which focus on transition support, 
improving motivation, as well as work related 
learning and enterprise. 

Post-16 support

DurhamWorks

Transition support

DurhamWorks and the Young People’s 
Service have strong links with local colleges 
and meetings take place throughout the year 
to support transition events. Activities take 
place to share information and ensure early 
identification of young people with care 
experience to prevent disengagement of 
vulnerable students. Employment, education 
and training meetings are held monthly and 
have representation from the further 
education and regional higher education 
sector.

Work with further education providers

ApprenticeshipsEducation, employment 
and training

Page 107

https://durhamworks.info/


Celebrations
Unfortunately, due to Covid-19, we were unable 
to host any awards or celebration events in 
2020/21.

For the future, young people have asked us to 
consider hosting virtual ‘Celebration events’ 
now that people are getting better at using IT. 
They also suggested that people they know 
should present their awards, not important 
people who they don’t know.

We started using Mind of My Own which is a 
unique digital communication tool for children 
and young people that supports Article 12 of the 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child (UNCRC).

Mind of My Own has been co-produced with 
children and young people to give a platform for 
them to easily share their lived experiences at a 
time that is convenient for them and to have 
their voices heard. 

There are two apps which allow children and 
young people to communicate with their 
workers:

 • The ‘One App’ is aimed at children and 
young people aged 8 years+ who can use 
the app more independently to prepare for 
and reflect upon meetings, visits, life events, 
achievements and problems.

Mind of My Own app
 • The ‘Express App’, for children aged 7 and 
under and for children and young people with 
additional needs, can be accessed through 
the support of a worker to create a one-page 
profile which shares their views, wishes and 
feelings.

Some of our young people are ambassadors for 
Mind of My Own and designed a leaflet for the 
children and young people’s launch event on 9 
April. 

More information can be found at 
www.mindofmyown.org.uk

16

Page 108

https://mindofmyown.org.uk/?sfw=pass1620117713


17

Melanie Stubbs’ first year in post as virtual 
head has been an eventful one. Despite the 
constraints of Covid-19 and the impact it has 
had on education, there have been many 
opportunities to support our children in care 
to achieve the best possible outcomes for 
their future. Communication with carers and 
social workers has been an important part of 
the process to support children back into 
education following two lockdowns.

In Durham, school attendance is good for our 
children in care, and there have been no 
permanent exclusions since 2014. 

The Personal Education Plan (PEP) process 
has been met favourably by all who use it 
and has enabled the virtual school 
caseworkers to monitor the progress of 
children and young people and champion for 
the best outcomes. This process allows the 
PEP’s to move with the child electronically as 
they move through each Key Stage. 

Training has been offered to designated 
teachers and governors to support the 
implementation of the new PEP system. 
Early years and post 16 are now part of this 
system, which has supported smooth 
transitions to the next phase for children.

Caseworkers work with schools to identify 
what is best for the child and can advise 
them about the range of interventions we can 
put in place to best meet the needs of the 
child. The Virtual School recognises the 
effects of attachment and trauma and has 
worked with the different therapeutic services 
within the County to ensure we offer schools 
the best advice at the right time. We have 
developed our links with Full Circle to provide 
a helpline to schools for advice and training. 
With the support of Durham Counselling 

services and Education Psychology, children 
who are looked after should receive support 
in a timely manner. In addition to this we offer 
occupational therapy support through Future 
Steps, giving schools access to assessments 
when a need is identified.

The Virtual School Head has attended 
meetings with the young people from the 
Children in Care Council (CICC) and is 
forging close links to help them get their 
voice heard in education. CICC have led a 
training session for designated teachers and 
have contributed to a Children Looked After 
Policy to be shared with schools in May 
2021. Further work is planned with CICC as 
we move into the future.

During lockdown the Virtual School worked 
with schools and gave an additional £50 for 
each child to purchase a licence for home 
learning, or other materials to support carers 
with home schooling.

A transition workbook was also prepared and 
posted to all Year 6 children who were 
moving to secondary school in September 
2020. 

Virtual 
School

In Durham,  
school attendance 

is good for our 
children in care, and 
there have been no 

permanent 
exclusions since 

2014.

Page 109



18

Aycliffe Secure Centre was 
judged “outstanding” in all 
areas at its full inspection in 
September 2019, and an 
assurance visit by Ofsted in 
November 2020 found high 
standards had been 
maintained despite the 
difficulties posed by the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 

Aycliffe Secure Centre 
provides secure 
accommodation for up to 38 
young people, 8 of whom are 
sentenced or remanded by 
the Youth Custody Service. In 
addition to this there is 
occupancy for 30 young 
people accommodated for 
their own or others safety, 
under Section 25 of the 
Children’s Act 1989, 
commissioned by Local 
Authorities.

The background experiences 
and needs of all our young 
people are usually very 
similar irrespective of their 
legal order therefore, the 

living accommodation and 
socialisation for all young 
people is determined by the 
risk assessment of the 
individual and the current 
group. Young people are not 
placed in a specific house, 
solely on whether they are 
here on welfare or a custodial 
sentence/status. The centre 
operates a single sex house 
for girls, one for boys and one 
home for young people with 
particularly complex needs. 
Gender on the other two 
houses is decided by the 
market demand of referrals. 
Over this period, the centre 
has only had four houses in 
operation due to Covid-19 
restrictions and the impact on 
staffing.

The philosophy of the centre 
is one of ‘Exceptional 
Parenting’. We aim to ensure 
that all our young people have 
opportunities to enrich their 
lives. The centre also follows 
the SECURE STAIRS 

framework and is now in the 
early stages of working 
towards Enabling 
Environments.

As a result of the ongoing 
Covid-19 pandemic, there has 
been considerable change in 
managing referrals, admissions 
and discharges and the direct 
care and education of young 
people. The centre has also 
started to look at its recovery 
and an Aycliffe specific 
roadmap is in place, aligned to 
national milestones.

The centre has faced many 
challenges throughout this 
period of uncertainty and no 
practice has remained 
unaffected in some way. Key 
highlights and achievements 
include:

 • The Covid-19 recovery 
plan is fully implemented, 
and a roadmap has been 
developed to continue to 
aid this positive direction of 
travel.

Aycliffe Secure Centre

Page 110



 • Nationally recognised 
Butler Award 
commendation awarded to 
the lead nurse for her 
excellence in maintaining a 
Covid-19 safe environment.

 • No positive Covid-19 cases 
within the population of 
young people.

 • Despite restrictions, all 
families were offered a face 
to face visit at Christmas.

 • Implementation of lateral 
flow testing facilities.

 • A significant and 
maintained reduction in 
incidents.

 • The school has remained 
open throughout this entire 
period.

 • Contribution to the final 
Anna Freud evaluation.

 • Significant improvements 
in the physical environment 
of the centre.

 • Continued utilisation of 
digital solutions to facilitate 
young person contact with 
parents and professionals 
and to ensure Mental 
Health (Kolvin) and 
Substance Misuse 
(Humankind) services.

 • The local SECURE 
STAIRS implementation 
plan is now fully 
implemented.

 • 108 multi-agency staff have 
attended 5-day Trauma-
Informed Practice for 
Children and Young People 
training.

 • 64 psychological 
formulation meetings and 
598 attendances.

 • Positive feedback 
from young people, 
parents and 
professionals.

 • Recognition for 
achieving the 
Investor in 
Children award 
for 10 consecutive 
years.

Aycliffe Secure Centre 
has continued upgrading 
facilities during the 
pandemic as well as working 
on plans for the transition 
home, which will be a 
registered children’s home, 
accommodating young people 
from the centre who are no 
longer on secure orders as it 
can be difficult to find places 
for children once they have 
been in secure 
accommodation.

Marking celebrations and 
occasions has almost 
become more important 
during this period, there have 
been individual celebrations 
of significant milestones as 
well as special dates in the 
calendar. This has included:

 • Birthday parties, including 
an 18th birthday 
celebration

 • Winter wonderland ball

 • Centre-wide Christmas 
buffet

 • Pets and animals being 
brought into the centre

 • Christmas house 
decoration competition

 • Special end of term 
assembly

 • Visit from DJ

We also work with our 
catering company to ensure 
that food is both nutritious 
and meets the tastes and 
needs of all our young 
people, and one of the 
suggestions they made was 
to have a themed night where 
food from different countries 
and cultures is tried. This has 
been established on 
Wednesday nights - so far, 
the Indian curry night has 
been the favourite! These 
activities have been 
embraced and enjoyed. 

 To all staff, I just 
want to say a big thank 

you. Thank you for always 
being there to listen to my 

problems. Also, I just want to 
say thanks for trying to 

make Christmas as good as 
possible. Many Thanks, 

love [young person].  

19
Page 111



20

Fostering and adoptionChildren’s homes
We offer residential services for children and 
young people, providing support and care for 
young people who cannot live at home or who 
require a short break away from their family or 
carer.

 • The children’s home in Sacriston was 
registered with Ofsted in early January 2021 
and the young people who now live in their 
new home love their new posh pad, 
especially the bedrooms which they 
designed as part of the moving in plans.

 • The move from Cedar Drive has happened 
and the young people are settling into their 
new home in Aycliffe enjoying their swanky 
rooms and all their new space and lovely 
garden. 

 • Park House, our short break home was 
closed temporarily from March 2020 due to 
Covid-19, but it reopened in June 2020 when 
the guidance and restrictions allowed and 
welcomed back their children and young 
people along with some new children and 
young people who have settled right in. 

 • After much searching, a property for the 
edge of care provision has been identified 
and we are hoping that all goes well with the 
purchase and plans to ensure we are 
supporting our children, young people, 
families and carers. 

 • The children’s home at Coxhoe is currently 
going through the planning process.

 • During the pandemic, foster carers received 
additional telephone supervision from their 
fostering social worker to explore any issues 
or concerns for the families and the children/
young people in their care. For example, if 
someone got Covid-19, or if people had to 
self-isolate, a Covid-19 plan was developed 
with each foster carer.

 • Newsletters and links to resources and 
activities were regularly shared with foster 
carers and their foster children. 

 • Many examples of positive feedback from 
foster carers and the other professionals 
were received. 

 We really do feel 
privileged to be prioritised 
so early in having the covid 
injection/protection by the 

Fostering Service. We think it 
does show how much the 
service does value us as 

Foster Carers. 

 • As part of Foster Care Fortnight (11-24 May 
2020), the National Association of Virtual 
School Heads Board asked Virtual School 
Head Teachers to share what foster carers 
were doing during the lockdown to help 
children in care with their learning. 

Page 112



 • Young people’s guides which help children 
and young people to understand what foster 
care is and what they can expect to happen 
when they first come to live in their new 
foster family have continued to be sent to 
carers of children in care. 

 • The Adoption Team responded to increased 
enquiries over the last year and the 
preparation groups for prospective adopters 
were delivered virtually. One prospective 
adopter said:

 •     launched virtually on 1 
April 2021. The three 

spokes, Cumbria, Durham and Together for 
Children will continue to provide their current 
adoption services from first contact. The key 
priority areas for 2021/22 are:

	✓ To establish Adopt Coast to Coast as the ‘go 
to’ agency for those interested in adopting,

	✓ To develop branding so it is recognisable 
alongside and separately to the Local 
Authority partners,

	✓ To continually review the outcome of 
marketing activity to ensure best value and 
best return on investment,

	✓ To ensure the prospective adopter’s journey 
is reviewed and streamlined through review 
and sharing of best practice,

	✓ To establish early linking and matching,

	✓ To embed models of early permanence for 
example Fostering for Adoption in Durham,

	✓ To work across the partnership to develop 
the post adoption support offer.

 • Full Circle staff adapted the training 
packages so that they could be delivered 
virtually, and the helpline funded by the 
Adoption Support Fund provided immediate 
support to adoptive parents and Special 
Guardianship Order carers struggling with 
the experience of lockdown while caring for 
children who have experienced trauma. This 
service was positively 
received by those 
who accessed it.

 I feel I now know more 
about the correct way to help the 

child (whilst keeping in mind that every 
child and situation is different). The 

training was creative, with a mix of slides and 
personal experiences, which stuck in my 

head…. very informative and enjoyable, it 
was clear the amount of effort that has been 

put into the new format of this training 
and I’m grateful to be involved.  

Childr
en a

nd  

Youn
g Pe

ople’
s 

Guid
e to

 Fost
er 

Care

21

Page 113



22

Achievements
 • Young people 
highlighted the 
importance of 
pets and animals 
in their lives, and 
how this helps 
with relationship 
building and their 
mental wellbeing.

On the back of this, discussions took place 
within the service and staff were asked to be 
less risk adverse and try to accommodate 
animals or consider what changes could be 
made to support this.

Young people had been asked to be mindful 
to ensure that all those in the home were 
receptive to having pets and as a result, a 
number of children’s homes have introduced 
pet hamsters. 

Some of the children’s homes have also 
implemented ‘dog-fostering’ when staff 
members bring their dogs into the home for a 
few days, enabling the young people to care 
for the dog and participate in walking, 
feeding and grooming.

One home has an allotment with chickens, 
one young person is helping a horse owner 
to care for their horse and another is 
volunteering at a local animal shelter. 

Young people’s safety plans now include a 
section on pets which details the pets young 
people would like to keep in contact with, in 
the event of moving on, and relationships 
with pets is now a part of social work training.

The importance of animals is being 
discussed with foster carers, to try and 
accommodate young people’s wishes around 
having pets or being with animals.

 • Young people shared details of the Coram 
Voice ‘Positive Matters’ campaign at a 
Corporate Parenting Panel, to challenge 
stigma and share positive stories about 
children in care. As a result, we have added 
‘Proud Moments’ to each meeting agenda 

where we share positive stories about our 
young people.

We are very proud that a young person from 
the Children in Care Council was selected as 
one of only 25 young people nationally to 
become a National Voice Ambassador for 
Coram Voice. Coram Voice is a national 
charity for the rights of children who are 
either in, or, leaving care, which aims to 
ensure children’s rights are upheld, and, that 
their voices and experiences inform and 
improve the systems that care for them. 

 • Young people highlighted that there were 
disparities in pocket money and other 
entitlements in residential homes across the 
County.

A working group was formed to look at all 
money and incentives including pocket 
money, birthday money, Christmas presents, 
college attendance, good behaviour rewards, 
presents for families etc. 

As a result of their work, a decision was 
made to keep the current system of pocket 
money and incentives to encourage young 
people to pull their weight in the home.

Pocket money will be increased, and an 
annual review will take place for pocket 
money and incentives, which will be led by 
the young people, supported by staff within 
the service. It is anticipated that the review 
will take place in September / October each 
year to coincide with the budget cycle.

A similar activity will be undertaken within 
foster care groups, with benchmark guidance 
produced for pocket money and incentives, 
then the information will be included in the 
updated Young People’s guides.

 • Young people raised concerns about the 
Wi-Fi in our children’s homes.

Work took place with young people to 
establish what the problem was, and to 
discuss the solution and as a result it was felt 
that a full Wi-Fi upgrade was needed for all 
the homes.

Page 114



23

This work was undertaken around the 
Covid-19 restrictions and, moving forward, 
any new homes will have the new Wi-Fi 
requirements built into the specifications from 
the outset.

 • Laptops were delivered to children and 
young people who were identified as 
requiring one under the national government 
scheme. This includes children in care 
including those out of county in foster care 
and residential children’s homes. Where 
children did not have internet access, they 
were also provided with a 4G router. 

This helped young people to stay in touch 
with friends, family and workers during 
lockdown, and to help with schoolwork during 
virtual lessons.

 • Looked After Reviews were facilitated on 
Microsoft Teams, and the Independent 
Reviewing Officer service devised five 
questions to be sent to the children, young 
people and their carers/family after every 
meeting to capture their views and feed into 
any improvement work for the service. 

 • The number of children and young people 
attending meetings increased by a third in 
April 2020 in comparison to March 2020, 
which was really good to see. 

 • Digital family time sessions were supported 
and were able to continue in line with Covid 
regulations. The following feedback was 
received: 

“We are so grateful we are getting to see 
him like this and see how he’s changing. 
We know every day when we’re getting up 
that we’re getting something from him. 
It’s getting us through the week, we don’t 
know what we would do without this.”

“Thank you so much for the regular 
updates about my children, I miss them 
and love them more than anything in this 
world! I’m so very grateful for all 
communication the Local Authority allow 
me to have with them.”

“It has been brilliant just to see their 
faces during this awful time, I am so 
pleased your service offered this to us so 
I could still get to see them.”

 • Although lots of work has been done around 
language, young people felt that the word 
‘vulnerable’ was being overly used during the 
pandemic. The young people don’t like to be 
referred to as being vulnerable, because 
many of them do not feel as if they are 
actually vulnerable. 

Work will take place to look at the use of the 
word across the service, and it is hoped that 
this will improve as we move on from the 
pandemic.

Page 115



 • Young people have continued to deliver 
training sessions.

 • Children in Care Council (CICC) members 
delivered development sessions to 48 
Durham and Sunderland University social 
work students about the importance of 
language and gave an overview of what 
Durham County Council have done to 
develop relationships with the young 
people. 

 • Between October 2020 and March 2021, 
training has been delivered virtually by the 
CICC to 32 future foster carers over three 
sessions. Younger CICC members 
shadowed this training so that they will be 
able to get involved in the delivery in the 
future.

 • Over 50 designated teacher leads 
participated in virtual development 
sessions, led by CICC members, 
amplifying key messages about how 
education and support should work best 
for the young people. The future aim for 
CICC is to support the development of a 
school-based education policy for care 
experienced young people in line with 
Durham Virtual School Team. 

 • Investing in Children are working with 45 
Durham County Council teams, who have 
achieved the Investing in Children’s 
membership award or are working towards 
this, including Children Looked After Teams, 
Families First Teams and One Point Centres. 
18 of these teams have the Investing in 
Children Gold Award, for being awarded 
membership over a 10-year period. 

 • In terms of the health and mental health of 
our children in care, the County Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
increased its workforce by appointing a 
dedicated Designated Nurse for looked after 
children adding to those already in 
designated safeguarding and looked after 
children roles. 

The CCG has continued to work with health 
and council colleagues to improve the 
timeliness of initial health assessments and 
the availability of health plans at the first 
looked after review.

The CCG has also been working with the 
Fostering Network towards achieving a 
Fostering Friendly Employer Award.

 • County Durham and Darlington Foundation 
Trust (CDDFT) has continued to deliver initial 
health assessments during the pandemic, 
initially these were virtual assessments, but 
each child has also had a follow up face to 
face appointment to ensure a thorough 
health assessment was undertaken. An audit 
was also undertaken to compare what was 
discussed in the virtual and the face to face 
appointments and learning will be shared. 

 • Harrogate and District Foundation Trust 
appointed two specialist nurses for children 
in care, which has enabled us to:

 • engage with a young person in a 
residential care home who had previously 
refused to participate in their last two 
review health assessments,

 • support a young person with a complex 
hospital appointment to ensure all health 
needs are being met,

 • support all children in residential care 
homes and children at home placed with 
parents on a care order on a regular basis.

 • Young people suggested that ‘social worker 
profiles’ are created for young people so that 
they have their work contact details but also 
get to know a little bit about their social 
workers e.g. if they have children, if they 
have any pets, any likes or dislikes, what 
their favourite food is, what movies they like 
etc. It was felt that this would help give young 

24

Page 116



25

people something to talk to them about in the 
early days.

The young people said that they would like 
the cards to have a picture of their social 
worker on so that this can form part of their 
care experience journey.

 • We received a request from the Children’s 
Commissioner for England’s Office to gather 
the views of our children in care and care 
leavers to inform an update of the National 
Police Chiefs’ Council’s strategy on policing 
children and young people. The aim was to 
ensure the strategy is based on the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child and has children’s rights front and 
centre.

The Children’s Commissioner’s office hosted 
focus groups with the CICC to get young 
people’s views. From these, a number of 
recommendations were pulled together by 
the Children’s Commissioner’s Office and 
handed over to the National Police Chiefs’ 
Council to use to inform their strategy. 
Feedback from this work will be used to 
inform service decisions moving forward.

 Young people said that in some cases the 
police had said to them that they were going 
‘on holiday’ when in fact they were being 
placed in care.

 •  Five CICC members were involved in a 
collaborative project with South Tyneside 
Council, Blue Cabin and Liverpool Hope 
University (funded by the Department for 
Education) to work with Children in Care 
Councils to understand what has happened 
during the Covid-19 pandemic. The aim is to 
establish what worked well/not so well and 
share this learning. 

 • The young people shared how the Durham 
CICC and Durham County Council’s 
Corporate Parenting Panel connected 
virtually and maintained good communication 
channels during this difficult period.

Page 117

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/


Priorities for 2021/22
 • Transport – again following the Care Leavers 
Challenge, how we can support young 
people with their transport issues and costs 
which eat up a large proportion of budget 
and are a significant barrier to travel for 
education, work and social activities.

 • Ensure that we consistently use child friendly 
language across our services based on the 
feedback from children and young people.

 • Care Experienced Young Inspectors – roll out the 
programme which has been on hold due to the 
pandemic – as outlined on page 8.

 • Sessional employment – paid 
opportunities to be involved with County 
Council activities such as events to 
gain skills and experience.

Chair of Corporate Parenting Panel (from May 2021): Mamie.Simmons@durham.gov.uk

Vice Chair of Corporate Parenting Panel (from May 2021): Michelle.Walton1@durham.gov.uk

Head of Children’s Social Care: Helen.Fergusson@durham.gov.uk

Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children: Martyn.Stenton@durham.gov.uk 

Corporate Parenting Panel support: Jayne.Watson@durham.gov.uk 

Children In Care Council (CICC): robert.johnson@investinginchildren.net or  
 www.durhamcicc.co.uk/contact-us 

Investing in Children (IIC): info@investinginchildren.net 

 Contact details

26

Page 118

mailto:Mamie.Simmons%40durham.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:Michelle.Walton1%40durham.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:Helen.Fergusson%40durham.gov.uk?subject=
mailto:Martyn.Stenton%40durham.gov.uk%20?subject=
mailto:Jayne.Watson%40durham.gov.uk%20?subject=
mailto:robert.johnson%40investinginchildren.net?subject=
https://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/contact-us 
mailto:info%40investinginchildren.net%20?subject=


 

  

County Council 

20 October 2021 

Adoption of Cassop-cum-Quarrington 
Neighbourhood Plan 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 
 
Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy 
and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Coxhoe 

 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To formally ‘make’ (adopt) Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood 
Plan. 

Executive summary 

2 The Parish Council for Cassop-cum-Quarrington has produced a 
neighbourhood plan which has passed independent examination in 
2021. 

3 On Thursday 23 September 2021 a referendum was held for this 
neighbourhood plan and it was overwhelmingly approved by voters.  
The Council must now make the Plan so that it formally becomes part of 
the statutory development plan for the Neighbourhood Area. 

Recommendation 

4 Council is recommended to: 

(a) formally make (adopt) tThe Cassop-cum-Quarrington 
Neighbourhood Plan to become part of the statutory development 
plan; and 

(b) authorise the Head of Legal and Demographic Services to take all 
necessary steps to affect the adoption of the Cassop-cum-

Page 119

Agenda Item 12



Quarrington including the publicity requirements contained in the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

 

 

  

Page 120



Background 

5 The 2011 Localism Act introduced measures for local communities to 
prepare neighbourhood development plans.  A detailed legislative 
framework for undertaking neighbourhood planning was set out in the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  To date the 
Council have made seven Neighbourhood Plans: Whorlton and 
Westwick, Great Aycliffe, Sedgefield, Witton Gilbert, Durham City, 
Lanchester, and Oakenshaw.  A number of further plans remain under 
preparation. 

6 To meet the relevant statutory requirements, a referendum was held in 
Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Area on the 23 September 
2021. 

7 A neighbourhood plan, once made, becomes part of the statutory 
development plan which includes the County Durham Plan and is used 
for determining planning applications. 

8 Neighbourhood Plans must be prepared in accordance with legislation, 
which sets down a number of key stages including statutory 
consultations and examination by an independent examiner.  Subject to 
a positive examination outcome, the plan proceeds to a referendum.  
Where a neighbourhood plan is successful at referendum it is a legal 
requirement to bring the plan into force within eight weeks of the day 
after the referendum (by the 19th November in this instance). 

Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan  

9 The Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan relates to the whole 
of the Cassop-cum-Quarrington parish area.  The group have 
progressed the Plan through the statutory consultation stages and the 
examination ran from March to June 2021.  This was undertaken using 
written representations.  The final report was formally submitted to the 
County Council on 9 June 2021. 

10 The Examiner concluded that the Neighbourhood Plan met all of the 
statutory requirements however a number (22) of recommended 
modifications were needed to enable the Plan to satisfy the ‘Basic 
Conditions’ and proceed to referendum.  These were carried out and 
the Plan was sent to referendum.  It was declared that 90.49% of votes 
(from a turnout of 568 people, or 12% of the electorate) were in favour 
of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

11 A query has been received from the relative of landowners whose land 
is identified as a Local Green Space in the Neighbourhood Plan.  The 
complaint is that they were not consulted on this matter. 

Page 121



12 The Parish Council maintains that it was exhaustive in its efforts to 
identify an area of valued green land in Cassop and the ownership 
details for this piece of land.  The Council is satisfied that the correct 
consultation processes have been followed, which was also confirmed 
in the Examiner’s Report.  Furthermore, whether or not a Local Green 
Space is in private ownership is not in itself a barrier to designation.  
Having sought legal advice, officers were satisfied that it was 
appropriate to proceed to referendum and adoption of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

Next Steps 

13 A formal Decision Statement will be issued in accordance with 
Regulation 19 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012.  This will be published on the Council’s website and, subject to 
venues reopening as planned, installed in appropriate locations such as 
County Hall and the Parish Council Office in the neighbourhood plan 
area.  Copies will also be sent to those who have commented on the 
plans. 

Conclusion 

14 This Neighbourhood Plan sets out new policy requirements for Cassop-
cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Area.  When made it will form part of 
the development plan.  The modified plan has received the support of 
the local community at referendum.  It is therefore the case that the 
Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan must be ‘made’ 
(adopted) by the County Council to become part of the statutory 
development plan. 

Background papers 

Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 

Declaration of result for the area: 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/electionresults2021   

Examiner’s Report for the Plan: 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/18184/Neighbourhood-planning-what-s-
happening- 

Author 

Stuart Carter Tel: 03000 261909 

  

Page 122

https://www.durham.gov.uk/electionresults2021
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/18184/Neighbourhood-planning-what-s-happening-
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/18184/Neighbourhood-planning-what-s-happening-


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 and the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require local planning authorities to make 

a plan that has been supported at referendum within eight weeks of the day 

after the referendum.  The decision to adopt the plan is also subject to a right 

of legal challenge. 

Finance 

There will be no financial implications from making the neighbourhood plan 

unless the making of the neighbourhood plan is legally challenged. 

Consultation 

The Neighbourhood Plan has been subject to statutory consultation 

requirements of the Town and Country Planning England – the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Examiner’s report confirmed that the Plan meets the Basic Conditions 

and would appear to have neutral or positive impacts on groups with protected 

characteristics. 

Climate Change 

There are potential benefits given the policies aim to protect valued local 

green spaces, the setting of Bowburn and promote more sustainable design. 

Human Rights 

Human Rights implications have been carefully considered. It is not 

considered that there will be any unlawful interference with any person’s 

human rights and insofar as there might be any interference, such interference 

is considered to be justified and proportionate having regard to the public 

benefit arising out of an adopted neighbourhood plan.  The Neighbourhood 

Plan has been considered by an independent examiner in accordance with 

national law and it is considered that the public interest in adopting the plan 

outweighs any impacts upon private rights. 

Crime and Disorder 

None identified. 

Page 123



Staffing 

None identified. 

Accommodation 

None identified. 

Risk 

The Council has a legal duty to make the neighbourhood plan and if the 

recommendations are not implemented the Council will be in breach of this. 

Procurement 

None identified. 

Page 124



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

Cassop-cum-Quarrington 
Neighbourhood Plan  

2020 - 2035 

Adopted Version 

Page 125



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 

 

CONTENTS 
  

  
Foreword and Acknowledgements 1 

  

1. Background to the Neighbourhood Plan 3 

  

2. A Profile of the Neighbourhood Area 8 

  

3. The Vision and Objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan 22 

  

4. The Rural Setting of Settlements 23 

  

5. Environmental Assets 27 

  

6. The Quality of the Built Environment 36 

  

7. Monitoring and Review of the Neighbourhood Plan 44 

  

Policies Maps 45 

  

Appendices 
 
 

70 

 
 
 
 

Page 126



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

FOREWORD AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 

Welcome to the Neighbourhood Plan for the Parish of Cassop-cum-Quarrington.  

The Plan has been prepared to capture and respond to the aspirations and aims of the local 

community about the future development and conservation of the Parish, as identified 

through consultation and engagement. The ensuing feedback revealed a diverse range of 

issues, both positive and negative and encompassing planning and non-planning matters. 

These issues varied greatly in their propensity to be tackled through the Neighbourhood 

Plan. The Plan’s focus has therefore been narrowed down to topics: a) which represent the 

greatest priority for the Neighbourhood Plan to address, and, b) which best lend 

themselves to being addressed through the Neighbourhood Plan.  

These are encompassed in the Plan’s Vision, Objectives and Policies, which collectively set 

out a clear framework for these priorities, which are: to safeguard the rural settings of our 

rapidly growing main settlements, to identify and protect valued environmental assets and 

to ensure new development contributes to making our built environment more attractive, 

appealing and successful for those that live and work here. 

These will give voice and fulfilment to the community’s wishes as the Plan begins to be 

used in the determination of planning applications in the years to come.   

In so doing, the Plan will provide a worthwhile and effective addition to the suite of national 

and local planning policies by bringing a locally relevant, community-led context to the 

management of development and land use in the Parish.  

Acknowledgements  

The work of preparing the Plan has involved a lot of time and effort by a small and 

dedicated Steering Committee of the Parish Council and it is fitting to acknowledge and 

thank them for their contributions: 

• Parish Councillors: Mike Syer, Janet Blackburn, Dennis Morgan, Dawn Love1, Jason 

Marsden1, Alan Richardson2, Jackie Richardson, Sylvia Raine; plus Richard Cowen from 

the Bowburn & Parkhill Community Partnership 

• Officers of Durham County Council, particularly Stuart Carter, Ged Lawson and Darran 

Miller 

 
1  Due to other commitments, Cllr Dawn Love and Cllr Jason Marsden resigned from the Parish Council 
during the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
2  Regretfully, following a short illness, Cllr Alan Richardson died on 6th April 2019.  

 Page 1 Page 127



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 2 

• Neighbourhood Planning Consultant Shaun Hanson of Planning Advice Plus 

The Steering Committee is also grateful for the support of all other Parish Councillors and 

County Councillors; for the grant funding provided by Locality (UK); and for the Housing 

Needs Assessment report produced by AECOM. 

Last, but not least, grateful thanks must also be extended to all those who took part in 

consultations and shared their views to help shape this Plan. 

 

Frank Salisbury 

Parish Councillor and Chairman of the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND TO THE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

 

What is the Neighbourhood Plan, how will it operate and how is it structured? 

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced new powers giving local communities the ability 

to shape the development and conservation of their local areas by preparing a 

Neighbourhood Plan. This document is the result of that process for the Parish of 

Cassop-cum-Quarrington. Drawing upon evidence and community feedback, it sets 

out a shared vision and objectives for the area, which are given effect to in planning 

policies. Once the Plan is operative, it will form part of the statutory planning 

framework and these policies will be used by Durham County Council in the 

determination of planning applications within the area.  

1.2 In terms of its format, the Plan comprises a written document, together with a set 

of Policies Maps. The written document is arranged into chapters, starting with those 

which set the scene for the Plan and then moving onto the substantive topic chapters 

which contain its policies. The policies themselves are presented in bold type within 

a shaded box and identified by a specific policy number. A background to each policy 

is provided, along with an explanation of how it operates. For any unfamiliar planning 

terms used in this Plan, attention is drawn to the glossary contained in the National 

Planning Policy Framework . A further useful and more comprehensive guide to 

terms can be found on the Planning Portal . 

1.3 The Policies Maps consist of Ordnance Survey bases, which are overlaid with the 

respective sites, areas or features that the Plan’s policies relate to. Different scale 

maps are used according to the nature of what is identified and/or the level of detail 

required. All Policies Maps are to be found together at the end of the Plan. Other 

(non-policy) maps are also included in the main body of the Plan for various 

information, reference and illustrative purposes. Widespread use is also made of 

photos throughout the Plan for the same purposes.  

4

3

What period of time will the Neighbourhood Plan cover? 

1.4 The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared to cover a 15 year period commencing 

in 2020 and ending in 2035. Once it becomes operative, it will be subject to regular 

monitoring and review to ensure that its policies continue to be relevant and 

effective. More details of this are in chapter 7. 

 
3 See - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-2-glossary 
4 See - https://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory/4/glossary/category/7 

 Page 3 Page 129

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/annex-2-glossary
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/directory/4/glossary/category/7


Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 4 

Why has a Neighbourhood Plan been prepared for the Parish?  

1.5 Prior to embarking on a Neighbourhood Plan, Cassop-cum-Quarrington Parish 

Council had put a lot of work into preparing a Parish Plan. This was published in 

March 2012, and included a comprehensive action plan to tackle the various issues 

and concerns that had been identified through consultation with the local community. 

Within the action plan was a commitment to ’explore Neighbourhood Planning and 

investigate the appetite to develop Neighbourhood Plans across the Parish’ 

(paragraph 3.5, p.9). 

1.6 Unlike the Parish Plan, it was also recognised that a Neighbourhood Plan would have 

the same statutory status as a Development Plan prepared by the County Council. 

Its policies would therefore carry real weight in assessing planning applications and 

help future decisions to better reflect the aspirations of local people. 

 What process was followed in preparing the Neighbourhood Plan? 

1.7 As a Qualifying Body, the Parish Council firstly made an application to designate the 

whole Parish as a Neighbourhood Area and this was granted by Durham County 

Council in July 2014. A map showing the boundaries of the Neighbourhood Area is 

on page 8. A Neighbourhood Plan Steering Committee was also formed, consisting 

of Members of the Parish Council and representatives from Bowburn and Parkhill 

Community Partnership. 

1.8 After undertaking some initial community consultation and information gathering5 in 

early 2015, circumstances changed significantly when the Parish became the focus 

for three separate large-scale housing proposals on the edges of Bowburn and 

Parkhill. These were all subsequently granted planning permission6, generating a 

combined total of 506 new dwellings to the housing supply in the Parish. A more 

detailed discussion of this is in the next chapter. 

1.9 This created a new context for the Neighbourhood Plan, making it necessary for a 

fresh round of community consultation to update and ‘re-calibrate’ its direction and 

focus. This was concisely summarised in the consultation questionnaire at that time, 

which explained -  

 
5 This early information gathering included the preparation of a ‘Neighbourhood Plan Housing Needs 
Advice’ report by consultants (AECOM). However, this was completed in July 2015, so its figures, 
assumptions and conclusions were superseded by the subsequent planning permissions for large scale 
housing development at the edges of Bowburn and Parkhill.  
6 The permissions were for - 1) 190 dwellings on Land to NE of St Mary’s Terrace Coxhoe; 2) 46 dwellings 
on Land to south of Crowtrees Lane, Bowburn, and, 3) 270 dwellings on Land South of Bowburn and west 
of the A688. 

Page 130



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 5 

 ‘Over the last 12 months we have seen some large-scale planning permissions for 

housing, most notably at Parkhill (up to 190 houses) and in Bowburn at Junction 61 

of the A1M (mixed use with up to 270 houses). A Neighbourhood Plan cannot change 

this. Views previously expressed by the local community on future housing 

development in our Parish in 2015 have therefore been overtaken and superseded.  

 Therefore, the Plan will not seek to make specific provision for further new housing. 

However, the next section of the questionnaire asks whether the further outward 

spread of housing should be controlled in the main built-up parts of our Parish and, 

if so, what would be the best way of dealing with this in the Plan’. 

1.10 This second stage of consultation took place in Autumn 2016, using an online 

questionnaire as well as traditional paper questionnaires. This made it easier to 

collate, sort and analyse the responses. Full details of the community engagement 

methods and findings are in the ‘Consultation Statement’ submitted to Durham 

County Council with this Neighbourhood Plan.  

1.11 The responses provided a clear hierarchy of priorities for the Neighbourhood Plan to 

tackle. These were then consolidated and finally boiled down to three main topic 

areas – ‘The Rural Setting of Settlements’, ‘Environmental Assets’ and ‘The Quality 

of the Built Environment’. An overall Vision for the Neighbourhood Plan was arrived 

at, together with Objectives for these topics (chapter 3). Background papers were 

then prepared for the topics, exploring what options the Plan could take to tackle 

them. These were finally developed and drafted to form the main substantive topic 

chapters of the Neighbourhood Plan (chapters 4, 5 and 6).  

1.12 The ongoing involvement and support of the County Council has been a valued and 

integral part of the Plan preparation process. This has ranged from attendance at 

meetings, to the provision of information, advice, feedback and mapping support. 

The parallel preparation of the Council’s County Durham Plan (adopted 21st October 

2020) also helped ensure that the final drafting of the Neighbourhood Plan was 

consistent and complementary with it.  

How does the Neighbourhood Plan fit into other planning policies or legal requirements? 

1.13 Before a Neighbourhood Plan can be brought into legal force, it must pass a set of 

tests collectively known as ‘Basic Conditions’. These require that the Neighbourhood 

Plan:  

• Is prepared having regard to national policy; 

• Is in general conformity with strategic policies in the development plan;  

Page 131



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 6 

• Contributes to the achievement of sustainable development; and  

• Is compatible with European Union obligations.  

1.14 How this Plan meets these requirements is set out in detail in the ‘Basic Conditions 

Statement’ submitted with this Neighbourhood Plan to Durham County Council. 

1.15 However, in brief, the intent of the Neighbourhood Plan is that its policies will operate 

alongside and complementary to the existing framework of planning policies at a 

national and County level.  

1.16 National planning policies are set out in the revised National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF), published in February 2019. This draws a distinction between 

strategic and non-strategic policies.  

1.17 Generally speaking, Neighbourhood Plans provide a particularly appropriate context 

for non-strategic policies as they can set out more detailed and locally relevant 

requirements for specific areas, sites or types of development. However, these ‘must 

be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in any development 

plan that covers their area’ (NPPF footnote 16). 

1.18 At the County level, the local planning policy position has been greatly simplified by 

the County Durham Plan (CDP) acquiring operative development plan status 

following its adoption on 21st October 2020. Accordingly, this now supersedes the 

former City of Durham Local Plan (2004).  

1.19 Attention has therefore appropriately been given to the CDP, which represents a 

brand new, up to date policy framework for the County. The policies of this 

Neighbourhood Plan thus seek to provide a local amplification and focus for the Parish 

to the related policies of the CDP in respect of: 

• Managing development in the countryside in chapter 4 (CDP Policy 10); 

• Safeguarding green infrastructure and historic assets in chapter 5 (CDP Policies 

26 and 44); 

• Promoting development which is attractive and successful in chapter 6 (CDP 

Policy 29). 

1.20 In terms of achieving sustainable development, the NPPF identifies the 3 components 

of this as being economic, social and environmental (paragraph 8). Essentially, 

sustainable development is about enabling development to meet the needs of current 

generations, without compromising those of future generations. Given the scale, 

nature and pace of growth in the Parish, this Neighbourhood Plan will achieve 

Page 132



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 7 

sustainable development by -  

• conserving valued environments and assets to ensure that future development 

does not lead to a loss of the contributions they make to the quality, character, 

individual identity and sense of place of the area and its settlements; 

• promoting up to date best practice in the design of new development by 

championing and requiring specific design maxims to be met.  

1.21 A final legal requirement for the Neighbourhood Plan is that it must be in line with 

European Obligations on Strategic Environmental Assessments and Habitat 

Regulations. Screening of the Plan by Durham County Council has confirmed that no 

further assessments are required in respect of these matters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 8 

CHAPTER 2: A PROFILE OF THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA 

Introduction 

2.1 The area covered by this Neighbourhood Plan is the same as the area covered by the 

civil parish of Cassop-cum-Quarrington (hereafter abbreviated to CCQ). The 

Neighbourhood Area boundary therefore follows the Parish boundary as defined in 

the map below.  

The Neighbourhood Area and Parish of Cassop-cum-Quarrington (CCQ) 

Page 134



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 9 

2.2 For consistency, the Plan will hereafter simply use the term ‘the Parish’ when 

referring to the Neighbourhood Area. 

2.3 The purpose of this chapter is to set the scene for the Neighbourhood Plan by 

providing a descriptive overview of the Parish and its people. This will include a brief 

account of its geography, history and population characteristics and some of the key 

land use issues and opportunities it faces looking ahead to the next 10 to 15 years. 

This will then provide a context for the Plan’s Vision and Objectives, which are set 

out in Chapter 3. 

Geography 

2.4 The Parish of CCQ extends to 1415 hectares7 straddling the A1(M) motorway, 

approximately 3 miles to the south east of Durham City (see geographical context 

map below). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Showing the geographical context of the Parish 

2.5 Within the area are the larger settlements of Bowburn and Parkhill to the west and 

east of the A1(M) respectively, plus a number of smaller settlements, villages and 

hamlets. These range from Tursdale in the south west corner, to Old Quarrington in 

 
7 Equivalent to 14.15 square kilometres or 5.46 square miles  

Page 135



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 10 

the middle and Cassop and Old Cassop on the higher ground in the east. Descriptions 

of each of these are provided later in this chapter (beginning on page 12).  

2.6 The A1(M) at junction 61 forms the hub of the road infrastructure, with the principal 

routes off this hub being the A688 from Spennymoor and Bishop Auckland, the A177 

to Durham and the B6291 to Coxhoe. The former Leamside railway line also runs on 

a south-north alignment through the western part of the Parish. 

2.7 Notwithstanding its built-up areas and the transport hub at junction 61, much of the 

Parish remains rural in character, characterised by extensive farmland and tracts of 

woodland, including a National Nature Reserve and SSSI at Cassop Vale. Another 

particularly notable landscape feature is the magnesium limestone escarpment which 

is in the east of the Parish.   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View towards Cassop Vale from A688 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The limestone escarpment viewed from 
cycleway on A688 
 

2.8 No major rivers run through the area, though there are smaller watercourses 

including Chapman Beck (through Cassop Vale), Bowburn Beck and Tursdale Beck, 

with Coxhoe Beck and Four Mile Beck marking the southern boundary of the Parish. 

History 

2.9 The civil parish of CCQ was formed in 1887 by the combination of the two ancient 

parishes (formerly townships) of Cassop and Quarrington.  

2.10 Old Cassop, although now a small hamlet, was originally the main centre of the 

historic township of Cassop, which also included the ‘sundered land’ of Tursdale. 

However, with the growth of coal mining, by the 19th century the main settlement 

was New Cassop, later called Cassop Colliery and now just ‘Cassop’.   

2.11 The historic township of Quarrington was centred round Old Quarrington, known to 

many locally as Heugh Hall, because of the colliery once sunk there. In the middle 

ages, this had been the capital of a much larger district, called Queringdonshire or 

Page 136



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 11 

Quarringtonshire, which included North Sherburn, Shadforth, Cassop, Tursdale and 

Whitwell. The 19th century township of Quarrington included Old Quarrington, Park 

Hill (now Parkhill) and Bowburn, the latter being then just a small hamlet.  

2.12 However, unlike the ecclesiastical parish of the same name (which had been formed 

in 1865), the civil parish of CCQ does not include the village of Quarrington Hill. 

Since 1986 this has been wholly within Coxhoe Parish. 

2.13 A more recent boundary change occurred in 2014, when the new housing estate on 

the north-western edge  of Bowburn (the former Cape Universal factory site), was 

transferred from Shincliffe Parish to CCQ. 

Coal Mining 

2.14 No mention of the history of the area would be complete without highlighting the 

importance of coal mining. Although agriculture was the principal industry within the 

Parish, coal mining was established in Quarrington well before the end of the 18th 

century. Quarrington Colliery actually consisted of a number of pits in the area now 

south east of the motorway junction. By 1795, an expensive Newcomen atmospheric 

steam engine was in place to pump water from these workings.  

2.15 This early mining was made profitable by its close proximity to the Durham-Stockton 

turnpike road. However, with the coming of the railways in the 19th century, much 

wider markets were opened by access to the ports of Stockton, Hartlepool and 

Sunderland. The industry consequently grew so that by 1908 there had been at least 

nine significant collieries within the CCQ Parish area – four in the old Cassop township 

(including Tursdale) and the rest in Quarrington. 

2.16 Bowburn Colliery began producing coal in June 1908 and went on to produce more 

than any other inland mine in the Durham coalfield. By 1958 the workforce had 

grown to 2,342, with production reaching a peak. Over the next nine years, 

production declined and the pit eventually closed on the 22nd July 1967, by which 

time the workforce numbered only 340.  

2.17 As in other parts of County Durham, the physical legacy of the coal mining industry 

in CCQ is extensive. Indeed, the growth of (New) Cassop was the direct result of 

coal mining (see historic map extract below).  

 

 

Page 137



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 12 

 

 

 

 

 (New) Cassop as it was in 1861  

2.18 The same is true of the hamlet of Tursdale, and of course the construction of the 

‘colliery rows’ which now form Bowburn Conservation Area. The legacy is also evident 

in place names, historic sites and artefacts across the area, including at least two 

which have been identified in the Neighbourhood Plan as Locally Valued Heritage 

Assets (see Policy CCQ3 in chapter 5).  

The six settlements of CCQ 

1) BOWBURN 

2.19 Before 1906, Bowburn was a tiny agricultural settlement. Today it is by far the 

largest in the Parish, benefitting from its proximity to the A1(M). It grew firstly with 

the erection of the first 200 colliery houses near the Durham-Stockton road 

(designated a Conservation Area in 1979), then with further streets being added 

behind the Hare & Greyhound Public House (now a carpet shop). The side by side 

historic maps below show the extent of growth between the end of the 19th century 

and middle of the twentieth, when employment in the colliery was reaching its peak.  

 
 

Bowburn in 1898  
 

 

Bowburn in 1952 

Page 138



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 13 

2.20 By the 1930’s, the first Council estate had started to be built at Park Hill (formerly 

part of Bowburn), with other estates being added either side of Crowtrees Lane. North 

Bowburn Council estate followed post war, together with others near Bowburn Hall 

Hotel, on the old Landsdowne School site in the 1970s and 1990s and on the former 

Cape Universal factory site from about 20108.  

2.21 More recently, permission has been granted for further large-scale housing, 

extending southwards from Bowburn. This is part of the major mixed-use 

development site known as Integra 61 owing to its strategic location near junction 

61 of the A1(M). 

2.22 In terms of community facilities, Bowburn has a local library and, adjacent, a vibrant 

community centre and neighbouring youth centre accommodating many different 

activities and groups. There is also a large park, including children’s play area, plus 

two well-used football pitches and allotments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.23 The village has a nursery/infants’ school and a Junior School. These became a single 

Primary school (initially split-site) in 2019.  There are two churches (Anglican and 

Methodist), a doctor’s surgery, a dental practice, a pharmacy and a funeral directors.  

 
8 This site was transferred to CCQ Parish from Shincliffe Parish in 2014 

 
 
Bowburn Community 
Centre (top)  

Bowburn Colliery Memorial 
(right) 

Page 139



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 14 

2.24 All the public houses in the village closed some time ago, however there remains a 

working men’s club and a hotel. Other shops/services include two hairdressers, a 

variety of take-aways, three general stores and a local garage, which now also 

houses the post office.  

2.25 On the western side of the A177, Bowburn has two major employment areas, 

Bowburn North and Bowburn South Industrial Estate. Together, these house a 

variety of small to medium size businesses. Just outside the village there is the 

motorway service station (Durham Services) at junction 61 of the A1(M). 

2) PARKHILL 

2.26 Parkhill, originally part of 

Bowburn, is now a 

separate settlement, being 

split from the rest of 

Bowburn by the A1 

motorway in 1968.  

2.27 It is the second largest 

settlement in the Parish, 

with about 300 houses, 

situated on the western side of the B6291. However, further significant growth is 

taking place with new housing on the opposite side of the road. This development, 

will eventually create a further 190 houses.  

2.28 Parkhill currently has one small general shop, a public house/restaurant and a garage 

(service, not fuel). It also has a children’s play park, and a separate playing field and 

recreation ground.  

  

Children’s Play Area at Parkhill 

Page 140



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 15 

3) TURSDALE 

2.29 The hamlet of Tursdale sits 

in the south west corner of 

the Parish, just to the east 

of the A688. Though once 

larger, it now consists of 

one street, with 25 houses, 

including those in the 

converted school which 

closed in the 1960’s.  

2.30 There are no shops or other services. However, to the south of the hamlet is a 

children's play area, a five-a-side football pitch, and some allotments. To the west of 

the hamlet on the other side of the A688 is Tursdale Business Park, occupying the 

site of the former Tursdale Colliery and NCB workshops.  

 

 

4) OLD QUARRINGTON 

2.31 Once capital of the historic 

district of Quarringtonshire, 

Old Quarrington is today a 

hamlet of 23 dwellings, plus 

two associated with a farm. 

There are no shops or other 

services. Geographically, it 

is located close to the mid-

point of the Parish. 

Children’s Play Area at Tursdale 

View towards Old Quarrington from the south 

Page 141



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 16 

5) OLD CASSOP 

2.32 Old Cassop is the smallest 

settlement in the Parish, 

located on the higher 

ground above Cassop Vale 

to the east of the Parish.  

2.33 With 12 dwellings, including 

two working farms, it has 

retained many remnants of 

its medieval origins and 

was designated a Conservation Area in 1981. There are no shops or other services. 

6) CASSOP 

2.34 The village of Cassop is the 

third largest settlement in 

the Parish after Bowburn 

and Parkhill. It has about 

180 houses, a primary 

school, a chapel, a post 

office, pub and social club. 

There is also a children’s 

play area and an active 

community centre. It lies 

the furthest east of all the settlements in CCQ, bordering its southern boundary with 

the Parishes of Thornley and Kelloe. 

2.35 In addition to the six settlements, there are 13 farms scattered across the rural areas 

of the Parish. 

Population 

2.36 Census data from 2011 shows that the Parish had a usually resident population of 

5219. This was up from 4735 in 2001, representing a rise of just over 10% over the 

ten-year period. The gender split was fairly even, with 49.2% male and 50.8% 

female (compared to 48.8% male and 51.2% female in 2001).  

2.37 In 2011, 17.9% of the population was shown to be between 0 to 15 years of age, 

65.1% to be between 16 and 64 and 16.9% to be 65 and over. These figures were 

Old Cassop Conservation Area 

Page 142



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 17 

broadly comparable to the age split for County Durham and England. The average 

age of residents in the Parish was 39.6 years.  

2.38 Whilst the 2021 census will yield new statistics, it is not in any doubt that the 

population (and number of dwellings) will show a significant rise since 2011. Not 

only did the Parish acquire the former Cape Universal factory site in 2014 (previously 

part of Shincliffe Parish and comprising 356 dwellings), but since 2011 there have 

also been planning permissions granted for significant numbers of new housing at 

Bowburn (392) and Parkhill (202). More details on the scale and nature of housing 

in the Parish is provided below.  

Housing  

2.39 Drawing upon census data, the characteristics of the Parish’s housing stock in 2011 

was as follows –  

• Dwelling and household numbers – the total housing stock of the Parish consisted of 

2412 dwellings (up from 2159 in 2001, a rise of 253 dwellings, or almost 12% in the 

ten-year period). This stock contained a total of 2295 households (up from 2053 in 

2001 – again, an increase of almost 12%). Most dwellings (and households) were within 

the largest settlement of Bowburn, followed by Parkhill. 

 

• Dwelling type – the largest 

proportion of dwellings were 

semi-detached (58%), followed 

by terraced (26%). Detached 

dwellings made up 15% of the 

dwelling stock, with the last 1% 

being flats, maisonettes or 

apartments. 
 

 

 

Page 143



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 18 

 

 

• Dwelling size - there was a 

predominance of average sized 

family homes in 2011, with the 

majority having 3 bedrooms.  

 

 

 

 

 

• Dwelling tenure - 66% of 

households were shown to live in 

homes that were owner-

occupied, with 22% available for 

social rent, 11% private rent 

(including part rented/part 

owned) and 1% live in a rent-

free dwelling. 

Employment 

2.40 The 2011 census showed that 61% of the adult population of the Parish were in 

employment (16-74 year olds). Although the majority travel to work outside the 

Parish, there are two industrial estates at Bowburn and one at Tursdale covering a 

total of 45 hectares of land.  

2.41 In addition, a significant new area of employment is being developed to the south of 

Bowburn with the Integra 61 development which received planning permission in 

2017. Some 44 hectares of this are earmarked for a mix of general industrial, 

storage/distribution and business uses and development is well underway (as at 

2020).  

2.42 For reference, the ‘Industrial Estates’ map below shows the location of this site, 

together with the existing industrial estates at Bowburn and Tursdale. 

Page 144



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 19 

 

Showing the locations of existing industrial estates and the Integra 61 site  

 

Land use issues and opportunities for the Neighbourhood Plan 

2.43 The key land use issue for the Neighbourhood Plan is the growth and expansion of 

the larger settlements of the Parish – Bowburn and Parkhill. This is firmly 

underpinned by both factual evidence and by community opinion expressed during 

preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan. The headline facts are as follows –  

• Over the period 2006-2018, a total of 754 dwellings were granted planning 

permission in the Parish9, the largest single permissions being for 270 dwellings at 

Bowburn (the Integra 61 site) and 190 dwellings at Parkhill. Another large site (the 

former Cape Universal factory site north of Bowburn Industrial Estate) was 

transferred from Shincliffe Parish to CCQ in 2014. This has been developed in 

successive phases with numerous planning permissions since first obtaining 

permission for housing on appeal in 2007. It is now complete and comprises 356 

dwellings. When added to the 754, this gives a total additional supply of 1110 

dwellings for CCQ since 2006.  

 
9 This figure only covers ‘major’ housing developments in the Parish (ie –10 dwellings and above) 

Page 145



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 20 

• In terms of their locations, a total of 125 dwellings were on sites wholly within the 

settlements (113 in Bowburn and 12 in Parkhill), whilst 479 were within but abutting 

the boundaries of these settlements.  

• In contrast however, the greatest proportion of dwellings granted permission (ie - 

506) were for sites outside the current built extent of the settlement. These statistics 

are represented in bar chart form below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage of dwellings granted permission by location relative to the settlement boundary 

 

2.44  The 506 dwellings that were granted outside the settlements are made up of 3 sites 

as follows –  

• SITE 1 (Bowburn) – 46 dwellings on Land south of Crowtrees Lane; 

• SITE 2 (Bowburn) – 270 dwellings on land south of Bowburn and west of A688 

(part of the Integra 61 development); 

• SITE 3 (Parkhill) – 190 dwellings on land to north east of St Mary’s Terrace. 

2.45 These developments represent significant expansions of Bowburn and Parkhill in 

their own right. However, there is evidence of pressure for yet further expansion of 

these settlements.  

2.46 Reference to the County Council’s most up to date (2019) SHLAA (Strategic Housing 

Land Availability Assessment) identifies a number of sites at the edges of Bowburn 

and Parkhill which amply demonstrate the level of development interest in their 

expansion. Briefly, these include -  

• 3 sites immediately adjoining the northern edge of Bowburn, totalling some 21.8 

hectares with a potential capacity of 1057 dwellings (2 of these are outside the 

Page 146



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 21 

Parish boundary, but to all intents and purposes would constitute an extension 

of Bowburn and reduction of the rural gap between it and High Shincliffe); 

• 2 sites immediately adjoining the western edge of Parkhill, totalling some 9.7 

hectares with a potential capacity of 290 dwellings; 

• A further site west of Parkhill between the A1(M) and A688 (south of Durham 

Services), totalling some 19 hectares with a potential capacity of 570 dwellings; 

• 4 sites to the east of Parkhill, totalling some 34.7 hectares, with a potential 

capacity of 1015 dwellings; 

• For completeness, it is noted that the 2019 SHLAA also includes a vast area of 

land to the north-east of Bowburn. Described in the SHLAA as a ‘Garden Village’, 

the land area extends to 503.7 hectares, with a potential capacity of 15112 

dwellings.  

2.47 Even putting aside the extensive garden village, the other sites’ total capacity is 

2932 dwellings which, for reference is considerably more than the entire housing 

stock of the whole Parish as at the 2011 census (2412). There are also SHLAA sites 

adjoining the north of Coxhoe and the south of High Shincliffe, which show yet more 

potential for diminution of the gaps between Parkhill and Bowburn respectively.  

2.48 During preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan, the scale, pace and nature of 

development in the Parish emerged as one of the top concerns of local people. The 

following are some of the concerns expressed, which provide a flavour of community 

sentiment in this regard: 

• Loss of village identity 

• Need to know where villages begin & end  

• Risk of Parkhill & Bowburn, Parkhill & Coxhoe or Parkhill, Bowburn & Coxhoe 

merging to become one town/conurbation  

• Fields are vanishing  

• Open space around village is one of its best features 

2.49 Chapter 4 of the Plan sets out a robust response to this issue, which seeks to give a 

locally specific planning context to the rural settings of Bowburn and Parkhill, 

identifying their vital role in preventing coalescence with each other and with 

neighbouring settlements and putting a strong ‘Protected Rural Setting’ policy in 

place to safeguard them from being eroded.  

2.50 In terms of housing in the smaller settlements (Cassop, Old Cassop, Tursdale and 

Old Quarrington), most respondents favoured it being limited to conversions and 

Page 147



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 22 

small infill sites. This is provided for in the existing framework of planning policies in 

operation at the County level.  

2.51 Another key area that the Plan has tackled is the opportunity to identify and protect 

attributes of the Parish which are valued. Specifically, these include the varied green 

spaces within and at the edges of its settlements, along with historic sites, features 

and buildings which are worthy of identification and protection.  

2.52 These are set out in Chapter 5, under the umbrella heading of ‘Environmental 

Assets’. The chapter explains the process followed to assess and shortlist these 

assets, together with policies to safeguard them from loss or damaging development.  

2.53 The last topic chapter of the Plan (Chapter 6) deals with ‘The Quality of the Built 

Environment’. This sets out a policy to promote the achievement of beautiful and 

successful development with reference to a set of maxims drawing upon the 

Government’s National Design Guide. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 23 

CHAPTER 3: THE VISION AND OBJECTIVES OF THE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN   

 

3.1 The issues, aims and aspirations of the community were fully explored through public 

engagement and analysis of feedback undertaken in the preparation of the 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

3.2 The key findings were brought together to arrive at an overarching vision for the 

Parish and specific objectives for the three respective topic chapters. These are set 

out below, together with the policies of the Plan which seek to implement them.  

Overall Vision: 

 
Topic Chapters, Objectives and Policies 
 

TOPIC 
CHAPTER 

OBJECTIVE POLICY/POLICIES 

Chapter 4: 
The Rural 
Setting of 

Settlements 

‘To carefully manage new development 
to ensure that the rural setting around 
and between settlements is protected 
and enhanced’ 

CCQ1:  Protected Rural 
 Settings 

Chapter 5: 
Environmental 

Assets 

‘To identify, protect and enhance the 
local green spaces and other valued 
features of the Parish for the various 
roles they fulfil’ 

CCQ2:  Local Green Spaces 
CCQ3:  Locally Valued 
 Heritage Assets 

Chapter 6: 
The Quality of 

the Built 
Environment 

‘To ensure that any new development 
in the Parish is carefully designed to 
enhance the quality of the 
environment’ 

CCQ4:  Achieving Beautiful 
 and Successful 
 Development 

 

3.3 The Vision and Objectives were publicised with the opportunity for feedback in order 

to ensure that they accurately captured the aspirations of the community. The 

policies of the Neighbourhood Plan are designed to give effect to each objective. 

 

‘Our vision is to tangibly improve the Parish as a place to live and work. The rural 

setting around and between our settlements will be protected and enhanced, together 

with the local green spaces and valued assets within the Parish’ 

 
 

Page 149



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 24 

CHAPTER 4: THE RURAL SETTING OF SETTLEMENTS 

 

4.1 The purpose of this chapter is to provide a policy to protect the settings between and 

around Bowburn and Parkhill for their rural character and for the role they play in 

maintaining their separateness from each other and neighbouring settlements. This 

is an appropriate and meaningful way for the Plan to give effect to its specific 

Objective for this topic area which is ‘to carefully manage new development to ensure 

that the rural setting around and between settlements is protected and enhanced.’ 

4.2 Bowburn and Parkhill form part of a chain of 4 settlements which lie on a NW-SE axis, 

intersected by the main A1(M) motorway at junction 61. The settlements comprise 

High Shincliffe, Bowburn, Parkhill and Coxhoe. The rural gaps separating these 

settlements are relatively small and there becomes progressively less separation 

between Bowburn/Parkhill and Parkhill/Coxhoe.  

4.3 In addition to this NW-SE axis, a further important rural gap lies between Parkhill 

and Tursdale in the south west of the Parish. Large scale development is already well 

underway10 for the finger of land between the disused railway and the A688. This 

will effectively infill the gap between junction 61 of the motorway and Tursdale. 

However, the corresponding land to the east of the A688 remains as countryside all 

the way to Parkhill. Although this is bisected by the A1(M), it nevertheless forms an 

important gap maintaining the separateness of Parkhill and Tursdale and providing 

an attractive rural setting to each.  

4.4 In developing the Neighbourhood Plan, it became clear, through research into the 

quantity and location of recent development, that by far the greatest focus of growth 

has been in Bowburn and Parkhill. Significantly, the majority of this growth has been 

on land outside, but at the edge of the settlements (ie – within their ‘rural setting’). 

More explanation of this is given in Chapter 2 (paragraphs 2.43-2.45).  

4.5 In addition, the continued level of developer interest at the edges of these 

settlements is further evidenced in the number and physical extent of sites which 

feature in the County Council’s Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

(SHLAA) 2019. This is also explained in Chapter 2 (paragraphs 2.46 and 2.47). 

4.6 In terms of public opinion, urban sprawl and the need for protection of the rural 

settings of settlements featured as a significant issue during the preparation of the 

Neighbourhood Plan. 82% of respondents supported the Plan including measures to 

 
10 Namely, the Integra 61 development, comprising a mixed-use residential and business park  

Page 150



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 25 

control further outward expansion of housing at Bowburn and Parkhill, with typical 

comments referring to concerns about diminishing gaps between the settlements, 

intrusion into the countryside and needing to know where villages begin and end. 

4.7 In summary, the close spatial relationships between Bowburn, Parkhill and 

neighbouring settlements, their settings and the weight of developer interest all 

provide a strong evidential basis for the specific policy approach which has been 

developed. It also provides an appropriate and proportionate response to views that 

were expressed during preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan. These provided a 

clear and unequivocal mandate for measures to safeguard the rural settings between 

these settlements from encroachment by development. 

How does the Plan achieve this ‘rural setting’ protection?  

4.8 The approach that the Plan has taken is to identify specific areas around Bowburn 

and Parkhill to which a ‘Protected Rural Setting’ (PRS) status applies. The PRS is 

shown on Policies Map 1.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
View towards Coxhoe showing part of the Protected Rural Setting of Parkhill in the foreground 

 

 POLICY CCQ1 - PROTECTED RURAL SETTINGS: 

Countryside adjoining Bowburn and Parkhill is defined as a ‘Protected Rural Setting’ 

(PRS) on Policies Map 1. Development proposals within or encroaching into the PRS will 

not be supported where they will lead to a reduction in the rural character of the PRS 

Page 151



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 26 

or diminish the role it plays in maintaining the separateness of settlements.   

Development which maintains and, where possible, enhances the rural character of PRS 

land will be supported. Development within the PRS will be assessed according to its 

impacts upon the rural character and essential roles which the PRS land plays. 

 

Policy Explanation 

4.9 The countryside adjacent to Bowburn and Parkhill plays a vital role in providing a 

rural setting to those settlements, maintaining their separate individual identities 

and preventing their coalescence with each other and with neighbouring settlements. 

The areas of land in question are identified on Policies Map 1 as PRS’s.  

4.10 In addition, the PRS’s provide a backdrop to the built-up environment which is 

intrinsically valuable in visual and landscape terms, as well as framing longer 

distance views of important landscape features such as the magnesium limestone 

escarpment in the east of the Parish, which is identified as an Area of Higher 

Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan11. In the case of PRS land east 

of Parkhill, it plays a further role in providing a rural buffer to the protected Local 

Wildlife Site at Coxhoe Ponds, which is also identified in the Neighbourhood Plan as 

a Local Green Space (LGS12).  

4.11 Policy CCQ1 consequently seeks to protect the PRS land from built development 

which would diminish its rural character or its role in maintaining the separateness 

of settlements. The PRS’s are particularly vulnerable to being encroached into by the 

‘tacking on’ of development to the edges of the settlements. The policy therefore 

makes specific reference to this as well as to development elsewhere within the PRS.  

4.12 The policy conversely expresses support for uses which will help maintain and, where 

possible, enhance the PRS land. Such uses could include agriculture, horticulture, 

forestry, outdoor leisure uses, wildlife reserves and other appropriate open space 

uses. Essential built development associated with such uses will be considered in 

terms of their impacts upon the open qualities and essential roles of the PRS land. 

 

 
11 The Neighbourhood Plan has not proposed any specific policies in respect of the escarpment as it is 
considered that it is adequately recognised and protected by the policies of the County Durham Plan in 
respect of protecting valued landscapes (Policy 39). It is also noted that Policy 50a of that Plan seeks to 
safeguard the prominent slopes of the magnesium limestone escarpment from mineral working to avoid 
unacceptable landscape and visual effects.  

Page 152



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Above photo shows the 
narrowing gap from 
Clarence Villas to the new 
housing development 
currently underway at 
Parkhill. 

 
Photo to right shows the 
gap between the other 
end of Clarence Villas and 
the edge of Coxhoe. 

Page 153



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 28 

 

CHAPTER 5: ENVIRONMENTAL ASSETS 

 

5.1 The purpose of this chapter is to identify the sites and features within the 

environment of the Parish which are locally valued and to provide policies which 

apply to any development proposals affecting them. The policies seek to conserve 

and where possible enhance the assets by requiring that development does not lead 

to the loss of the asset or diminution of its qualities. This gives effect to the Plan’s 

objective for this topic which is ‘To identify, protect and enhance the local green 

spaces and other valued features of the Parish for the various roles they fulfil’. 

5.2 In the Neighbourhood Plan, the umbrella term ‘environmental assets’ is used to 

collectively cover the various sites and features in question. However, they fall into 

two categories, each of which has its own specific policy –  

• Local Green Spaces – Policy CCQ2 

• Locally Valued Heritage Assets – Policy CCQ3 

5.3 The chapter deals with these environmental assets in turn, setting out a background 

context and rationale for each, followed by the respective policy and an 

accompanying policy explanation.  

Local Green Spaces 

5.4 At the local planning level, the County Durham Plan relies on a generic approach to 

protecting open spaces of all kinds as part of its ‘Green Infrastructure’ policy (Policy 

26). In other words, the open spaces which are to be protected are not specifically 

identified in a list or on a map.  

5.5 However, at the national policy level, the NPPF recognises that ‘The designation of 

land as Local Green Space through local and neighbourhood plans allows 

communities to identify and protect green areas of particular importance to them’ 

(paragraph 99). The County Durham Plan similarly notes that ‘Neighbourhood Plans 

can identify any buildings and spaces that are considered worthy of local designation’ 

(paragraph 5.450).  

5.6 The importance of a green space can derive from attributes such as its visual 

amenity, wildlife or recreational value or indeed a combination of these. 

Page 154



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 29 

5.7 It is widely acknowledged that green spaces contribute to the quality of the built 

environment, helping make places more attractive to live, work in and visit. They 

are a key measure of the quality of an area, and play a large part in community 

wellbeing. This was clearly evidenced in feedback received from the community 

during preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan, with almost 98% of respondents 

wanting to see local green spaces identified for protection in the Neighbourhood Plan.  

5.8 A large number of potential spaces were suggested by respondents. These provided 

the focus for further assessment in accordance with criteria set out in paragraph 100 

of the NPPF. This resulted in a shortlist of sites which met the criteria and were 

therefore justified in being identified and designated in the Plan as Local Green 

Spaces. A summary table of the assessment outcomes for these sites is included in 

Appendix 1 and each site is individually identified in Policies Map 2 (parts 1 to 17). 

5.9 The shortlisted sites are wide and varied, ranging from roadside grass verges to 

parks, play areas and allotments and sites of recognised nature and wildlife value. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Doorstep Green, Bowburn (LGS5) 

5.10 Policy CCQ2 consequently brings together and gives effect to the element of the 

Environmental Assets objective which seeks ‘To identify, protect and enhance the 

local green spaces ….. of the Parish for the various roles they fulfil’. 

 

Page 155



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.11 The intention of Policy CCQ2 is to ensure that Local Green Spaces are protected from 

development in order to safeguard the open space values and roles they fulfil. The 

scope for development within a Local Green Space is restricted in the same manner 

as it is for Green Belts (NPPF paragraph 101).  

Locally Valued Heritage Assets 

 

5.12 The Parish of Cassop-cum-Quarrington has only three statutorily designated heritage 

assets – the Grade II listed Tursdale House and Conservation Areas at Bowburn (the 

colliery houses) and Old Cassop. These are subject to statutory protections under the 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, as well as national and 

POLICY CCQ2 – LOCAL GREEN SPACES: 

The sites listed below and identified in parts 1 to 17 of Policies Map 2 are designated 

as areas of Local Green Space. The management of development within areas of Local 

Green Space will be consistent with that for development within Green Belts. 

LGS1: Bowburn - Mary Terrace  

LGS2: Bowburn - Cavell Drive  

LGS3: Bowburn - Junction of Tail-upon-End Lane and Sherburn Road 

LGS4: Bowburn - John Hare’s Wood  

LGS5: Bowburn - Doorstep Green  

LGS6: Bowburn - Allotments (Burn Street) 

LGS7: Bowburn - Allotments (opp. Community Centre) 

LGS8: Bowburn - Allotments (adj. to Bowburn Park) 

LGS9: Bowburn – Bowburn Park  

LGS10: Parkhill - Park Avenue Island 

LGS11: Parkhill – Parkhill (West Hetton Lodge) Woods 

LGS12: Parkhill - Coxhoe Ponds Local Wildlife Site  

LGS13: Parkhill - Play Area 

LGS14: Crow Trees Local Nature Reserve  

LGS15: Cassop - Allotments 

LGS16: Cassop - Play Area 

LGS17: Tursdale - Play Area & Allotments 

 

 

Page 156



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 31 

local planning policies. However, in the interests of completeness and for reference 

purposes, maps of these three assets are provided on the following pages.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Conservation Areas of Old Cassop (top) and Bowburn (bottom) 
 

 

 

Page 157



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Above - Bowburn Conservation Area 
 

Map showing old cassop conservation  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 33 

 

Above - Old Cassop Conservation Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Above – The Grade II Listed Tursdale House 

5.13 It is noted that Conservation Area Appraisals have been undertaken for both Bowburn 

and Old Cassop, which were adopted in 2008 and 2009 respectively. These contain 

invaluable information about the significance of the areas and the elements that 

contribute to their special character. They also contain guidance and proposals to 

help maintain, improve and manage their qualities. The content of these documents 

are therefore fully supported and endorsed by this Neighbourhood Plan.  

5.14 However, given that the Appraisals are both over 10 years old, it would be beneficial 

for them to be reviewed and updated. This is particularly important in the context of 

the Bowburn Conservation Area given that it is currently identified on Historic 

England’s ‘Heritage at Risk Register’. Action and initiatives to tackle this are 

accordingly supported and endorsed.  

5.15 In addition to these designated heritage assets, there are other ‘non-designated’ 

historic features and sites within the Parish which are also valuable and which merit 

identification and protection.  

Page 159



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 34 

5.16 In Planning Practice Guidance, the Government recognises neighbourhood plan-

making processes as being an appropriate tool for achieving this12. Likewise, the 

County Durham Plan notes that ‘Neighbourhood Plans can identify any buildings and 

spaces that are considered worthy of local designation’ (paragraph 5.450).  

5.17 The non-designated heritage assets of the Parish were identified by a combination 

of consultation feedback from the local community and a review of other record 

sources including the ‘Keys to the Past’ website and the Historic Environment Record.  

5.18 These were then assessed using established and recognised methodologies 

promoted by Historic England13 and Civic Voice14. This resulted in a list of 6 assets 

which are identified in the Plan as ‘Locally Valued Heritage Assets’ (or LVHA’s for 

short)15. They include buildings, structures and sites which are representative of the 

historic character and fabric of the Parish. A summary table of the assessment 

outcomes for these assets is included in Appendix 2 and each LVHA is individually 

identified in Policies Map 3 (parts 1 to 6). 

5.19 Policy CCQ3 thus provides the mechanism to give effect to the element of the 

Environmental Assets objective which seeks to identify, protect and enhance the … 

valued features of the Parish for the various roles they fulfil’. 

 
12 See Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 040 Reference ID: 18a-040-20190723 
13 Historic England Advice Note 7: ‘Local Heritage Listing’ (May 2016) 
14 Civic Voice: ‘Local Heritage Listing Toolkit’ (April 2018) 
15 The adoption of the term ‘Locally Valued Heritage Assets’ in this Neighbourhood Plan follows its use in 
Historic England’s Advice Note 11: ‘Neighbourhood Planning and the Historic Environment’, (October 2018) 

POLICY CCQ3 - LOCALLY VALUED HERITAGE ASSETS: 

The Locally Valued Heritage Assets listed below and identified in parts 1 to 6 of 

Policies Map 3 will be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. 

Enhancement of the significance of heritage assets and/or their settings will be 

supported. 

LVHA1: Bowburn School, Wylam St, Bowburn 

LVHA2: The Hemmel, Old Cassop  

LVHA3: WW2 Air Raid Shelter, Parkhill  

LVHA4: Former Clarence Railway, Parkhill  

LVHA5: Colliery Winding Building, Crow Trees Local Nature Reserve  

LVHA6: Former School, Tursdale 

 

 

 

 

Page 160



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 35 

5.20 The intention of Policy CCQ3 is to highlight the LVHA’s which exist within the Parish 

and provide a means by which they can be protected from development that might 

diminish their significance and setting. It also proactively supports measures that 

would improve and enhance their significance and setting.  

  

Old postcard of Bowburn School (LVHA1) The Hemmel, Old Cassop (LVHA2)  

  

 WW2 Air Raid Shelter, Parkhill Woods (LVHA3) Former Clarence Railway (LVHA4) 

 

 

Colliery Winding Building (LVHA5)  Former School, Tursdale (LVHA6) 

5.21 The policy will enable development to be properly assessed according to the net 

positive or negative effects that will occur to the asset in terms of sustaining and 

enhancing its significance. Accordingly, applications will be required to demonstrate 

a full understanding of the asset’s significance (including any contribution made by 

its setting) and show what the effects of the proposal are upon it. 

 

Page 161



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

5.22 In this way, the policy supports the NPPF, which at paragraph 197 states that ‘The 

effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should 

be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that 

directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement 

will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance 

of the heritage asset’.   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  

  

  

  

  
 

 Page 36 Page 162



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 37 

CHAPTER 6: THE QUALITY OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT 

 
6.1  The protection and enhancement of the environment of the Parish is a clear focus of 

the Neighbourhood Plan. This is evidenced in chapter 4 in respect of the valued rural 

settings of settlements (Policy CCQ1); and chapter 5 in respect of valued open spaces 

and heritage assets (Policies CCQ2 and CCQ3).  

6.2 Notwithstanding this, feedback received during consultation on the Neighbourhood 

Plan revealed that there was also a general level of dissatisfaction with the quality 

and attractiveness of the existing built environment of the Parish. This was 

particularly (though not exclusively) a concern in respect of the main settlement of 

Bowburn. 

6.3 Analysis of responses and comments showed this to be a product of two distinct 

issues: 

1) A need for measures to improve unappealing aspects of the environment; 

2) A need for better standards in the design and appearance of development to 

address clearly expressed shortcomings of the past. 

6.4 This chapter will examine each of these issues in turn and set out actions to address 

and respond to them, including both non-statutory and statutory measures. However, 

it is acknowledged at the outset that the Neighbourhood Plan cannot of itself provide 

all the answers to these issues. 

6.5 For example in respect of issue 1), the Plan can highlight the main environmental 

problems and identify neglected sites or areas. However, actual steps to address 

these and improve the environment will need to be identified, prioritised and actioned 

outside the Neighbourhood Plan (ie – a non-statutory ‘action list’) 

6.6 Likewise, in respect of issue 2), the Plan cannot change built development which is 

already there. However, it can seek to address past shortcomings by requiring a 

higher and more comprehensive standard of design for future development (ie – a 

statutory policy).  

6.7 In recognising and providing a workable response to these issues, the Plan will help 

to implement a core part of its Vision, which is ‘to tangibly improve the Parish as a 

place to live and work’.  

 

Page 163



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 38 

Improving unappealing aspects of the environment 

6.8 In ranking the issues which the local community would like to see improved in the 

Parish, the top answer in consultation feedback was ‘the environment’. Many aspects 

of this were cited, but the most commonly identified issues (in no particular order) 

were –  

• Clearing up dog mess, litter and graffiti 

• Improving neglected areas, including –  

o Areas around industrial estates 

o Footpaths, verges and fences 

o Bowburn Beck 

o Allotments (and open spaces generally) 

o Road/street corridors (including street lighting and street trees) 

o Poorly maintained properties/gardens 

6.9 It is possible that development proposals may, in some circumstances, create 

opportunities for improving neglected sites or areas and these will be encouraged, 

subject to meeting other relevant planning policies. However, proactively tackling 

unappealing aspects of the environment will require broader actions that lie outside 

the statutory scope of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

6.10 A strong foundation for such actions already exists in the CCQ Parish Plan16. This 

was prepared by the Parish Council just prior to the Localism Act in 2012, but 

nevertheless helped pave the way for this Neighbourhood Plan17.  

6.11 More specifically, the Parish Plan contained findings and recommended actions on the 

environment18, which have been reinforced and expanded upon through the feedback 

received in preparing the Neighbourhood Plan. As a result, it would be beneficial to    

prepare a consolidated and updated inventory of the key environmental problem 

areas, sites and issues, drawing together both the Parish Plan and Neighbourhood 

Plan findings.   

6.12 This will provide an up-to-date single point of reference for parishioners, the Parish 

Council, Durham County Council and other stakeholders as to the main areas of 

 
16 Available at the following link - https://130ae6eb-70b2-c0e7-1b76-
90a5d4aa750d.filesusr.com/ugd/9ca683_c89db06f8631eb1029acc63cdbb5e649.pdf 
17 The Parish Plan was forward-thinking enough to include an action to ‘explore Neighbourhood Planning 
and investigate the appetite to develop Neighbourhood Plans across the Parish’ (paragraph 3.5, p.9). 
18 The Parish Plan grouped these under the title ‘Transport and the Environment’, though in practice, the 
‘transport’ element was in relation to the street scene/street furniture etc. Some actions have 
subsequently been implemented, as summarised in a Parish Plan update available at - https://130ae6eb-
70b2-c0e7-1b76-90a5d4aa750d.filesusr.com/ugd/9ca683_2d5bebb734594815b57421b74087fea4.pdf 

Page 164

https://130ae6eb-70b2-c0e7-1b76-90a5d4aa750d.filesusr.com/ugd/9ca683_c89db06f8631eb1029acc63cdbb5e649.pdf
https://130ae6eb-70b2-c0e7-1b76-90a5d4aa750d.filesusr.com/ugd/9ca683_c89db06f8631eb1029acc63cdbb5e649.pdf
https://130ae6eb-70b2-c0e7-1b76-90a5d4aa750d.filesusr.com/ugd/9ca683_2d5bebb734594815b57421b74087fea4.pdf
https://130ae6eb-70b2-c0e7-1b76-90a5d4aa750d.filesusr.com/ugd/9ca683_2d5bebb734594815b57421b74087fea4.pdf


Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 39 

neglect and how they might be tackled This proactive undertaking will be carried out 

separately from the Neighbourhood Plan, but will be informed by the many useful 

comments expressed during its preparation.  

Improving standards of design 

6.13 At the Parish level, almost 99% of respondents agreed it was important for the 

Neighbourhood Plan to include measures to promote good quality design for new 

development. This is clearly linked to a recurring message that many local people 

expressed about shortcomings in the design of past housing development, 

particularly in areas which have experienced a lot of growth, like Bowburn.  

6.14 A flavour of this can be gained simply from the kinds of words respondents used to 

describe some existing19 housing development. The bracketed wording following each 

has been added to help identify counter-measures the Neighbourhood Plan needs to 

take to respond to these shortcomings (ie – to achieve the opposite of what has been 

described) - 

• ‘DOWDY’ (dull, uninspired, not much to look at) 

• ‘UTILITARIAN’ (form and appearance of a building or place dictated by its basic 

function without considering its attractiveness) 

• ‘LOW QUALITY’ (mediocre and basic with no special characteristics) 

• ‘CHARACTERLESS’ (ditto) 

• ‘STANDARDISED, ANYWHERE DESIGN’ (having no connection to its setting or 

failing to create a distinct sense of place or identity) 

6.15 On the last point, an associated aspiration expressed was for development to reflect 

and build upon the character of the area in which it is located. This of course is 

particularly important in the two Conservation Areas of the Parish (Bowburn and Old 

Cassop). Although a strong vernacular character is less evident elsewhere, it is 

nevertheless important for all development to contribute to a sense of place that 

people can identify with and take pride in.  

6.16 Responding to these design challenges is an appropriate and necessary task for the 

Neighbourhood Plan and will serve to implement one of its Core objectives: ‘To ensure 

that any new development in the Parish is carefully designed to enhance the quality 

of the environment’. 

 
19 It is important to highlight that these comments do not purport to refer to all housing. Examples of poor 
design (and conversely good design) can be found throughout the Parish area. 

Page 165



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 40 

6.17 Not only is there a context in terms of the community views expressed, but also in 

terms of the profile and importance attached to all aspects of good design at the 

national level.  

6.18 The NPPF itself devotes a whole section to ‘Achieving well designed places’. Just as 

the Vision of the Neighbourhood Plan seeks to ‘tangibly improve the Parish as a place 

to live and work’, so the NPPF confirms that ‘Good design is a key aspect of 

sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps 

make development acceptable to communities’ (paragraph 124).  

6.19 Paragraph 125 of the NPPF confirms the particular role that Neighbourhood Plans 

have in setting out a design framework for development - ‘Neighbourhood plans can 

play an important role in identifying the special qualities of each area and explaining 

how this should be reflected in development’. Planning Practice Guidance also adds 

that ‘Neighbourhood plan-making is one of the key ways in which local character and 

design objectives can be understood and set out, and with the benefit of being a 

community-led process’20. 

6.20 In the case of CCQ, the policy approach adopted in respect of design has been guided 

firstly, (a) by the clear messages received from the community in feedback on the 

subject. The level of detail required in policy has secondly sought to, (b) reflect the 

specific circumstances and characteristics of the Parish. Above all, however, the 

approach has also been much influenced by thirdly, (c) the up to date position and 

clear direction of travel of national policy on design. This can be explained further as 

follows:  

a) Messages received in community feedback on the Neighbourhood Plan 

6.21 Paragraph 6.14 captures the general feeling that past development which has taken 

place is, in some cases, mediocre and uninspiring and doesn’t engender a positive 

sense of place, belonging and pride in the environment. To tackle this, an appropriate 

policy response for the NP is to bring about a tangible shift to promote development 

that possesses beauty and character and contributes to a sense of place. 

b) Specific circumstances and characteristics of the Parish 

6.22 CIRCUMSTANCES - Given the significant scale and extent of development which has 

been (and is still being21) experienced in the main settlements, the Neighbourhood 

Plan does not make express provision for further new development in the Plan area. 

 
20 Ref - Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 26-004-20191001 
21 Ref - ongoing development at Parkhill and at Bowburn (Integra 61) 

Page 166



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 41 

Indeed, it consciously seeks to safeguard the rural settings of the main settlements 

from further outward spread of development. The anticipated consequence of the 

Plan’s approach to new development is that it will essentially be confined to infill and 

redevelopment opportunities arising within the existing settlements. 

6.23 Equally, the Plan cannot influence the design and appearance of development which 

has already been through the planning process (ie – development with planning 

permission which has not yet been built). This does not eliminate the need or 

relevance of a design policy in the Plan, but it does mean that it should be 

‘proportionate to the task’.  

6.24 Against this context, the policy approach needs to be less about lengthy prescriptive 

details or site-specific requirements and more about broad themes to help tackle the 

shortcomings of previous development and help people feel a pride, wellbeing and 

connection with their environment. It is however important that this is coupled with 

action to bring about meaningful and lasting improvements to the built environment 

more generally, which is the focus of paragraphs 6.8 to 6.12 above.  

6.25 CHARACTERISTICS - With the exception of the two Conservation Areas, Bowburn 

and Old Cassop, the built environment of the Parish is generally not defined by a 

traditional or dominant vernacular character or aesthetic heritage. Indeed, as 

feedback on the Plan revealed, there has been development over the years which 

comments describe as being ‘characterless’ and ‘standardised, anywhere’ design. In 

other words, it doesn’t have an innate connection with its setting and/or engender a 

positive sense of place.  

6.26 Against this context, the policy approach (outside the Conservation Areas) needs to 

be less about reinforcing existing built character (given its disparate and in some 

cases mediocre nature). Instead, it needs to ensure that the bar is raised and new 

development positively counters the shortcomings of past development and helps 

contribute to places that are not just accepted, but ultimately valued by local people.  

6.27 Given the circumstances and characteristics outlined above, this is not something 

that justifies or necessitates a list of detailed design requirements. However, there 

are key maxims that can be expressed in policy terms and new development should 

be required to demonstrate how it has enshrined them in its specific context and 

setting. 

 

 

Page 167



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 42 

c) Current [and emerging] national position on design 

6.28 There is much evidence nationally that the Government are committed to promoting 

good design. As well as the overarching policy context (NPPF), a new National Design 

Guide was published in September 2019 to support both the NPPF and Planning 

Practice Guidance on design22. For the first time, this introduces a national set of 

standards and principles, based around an understanding of the integrated 

components and characteristics of good design.   

6.29 Accompanying this, the National Model Design Code (2021) provides detailed 

guidance on the production of design codes, guides and policies to promote 

successful design. The Code follows on from the findings of the Building Better 

Building Beautiful Commission’s (BBBBC’s) work23, contained in their report ‘Living 

with Beauty’24, published on 30th January 2020. 

6.30 The language used in both the BBBBC’s report and the National Design Guide is 

noteworthy for focusing afresh upon delivering ‘beauty’ and ‘beautiful’ places in the 

built environment25.   

6.31 There is a very strong rationale and purpose behind this. Achieving beauty and 

beautiful places has long been a cornerstone of the planning system, albeit the 

language used to articulate this (and the success in achieving it) has clearly varied 

over time. 

6.32 The National Design Guide and Model Design Code now provide a wealth of 

structured guidance and good practice on achieving good design in development and 

place-making. This has been a key driver to the policy approach which has been 

developed in this chapter. Likewise, the approach reflects both the existing nature 

of the built environment in the Parish and the effect of the wider policy framework 

for future development in the Neighbourhood Plan, particularly Policy CCQ1.  

6.33 Taking all these factors together, Policy CCQ4 delivers a response which is both 

proportionate and meaningfully reflective of the aspirations of the local community 

expressed during preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 
22 Ref - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/design 
23 The Commission is an independent advisory body to the Government ‘responsible for developing 
practical measures that will help ensure new housing developments meet the needs and expectations of 
communities, making them more likely to be welcomed, rather than resisted, by existing communities’ 
24 Ref - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-
building-beautiful-commission 
25 In the BBBBC’s report for example there are 390 incidences of the word ‘beauty’ or ‘beautiful’ 

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/design
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-building-beautiful-commission
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/living-with-beauty-report-of-the-building-better-building-beautiful-commission


Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 43 

6.34 It achieves this by providing a distillation of the key relevant maxims for beautiful 

and successful development and place-making in the Parish. This is followed by a 

summary table to aid interpretation and application of the policy. 

POLICY CCQ4 – ACHIEVING BEAUTIFUL AND SUCCESSFUL DEVELOPMENT: 

Development proposals across the Parish should seek to deliver beauty and successful 

place–making and be efficient in terms of functionality and use of resources.  

In order to achieve this, proposals should consider the following maxims (described in 

further detail in the supporting text below) –  

a)  Development is appealing and fosters a sense of delight and wellbeing for 

occupants, visitors and passers-by, and 

b)  Development has a positive and coherent identity and character, thereby creating 

or contributing to a distinct sense of place and belonging, and 

c)  Development enhances the positive qualities of its site and setting and improves 

negative ones, and 

d)  Development is efficient in terms of functionality and resource use. 

6.35 The following table provides an explanatory summary and interpretation of the policy 

elements, with cross references to the relevant provisions of the National Design 

Guide (NDG) for more comprehensive guidance.  

POLICY 
MAXIM 

FURTHER EXPLANATION  
& INTERPRETATION 

NDG 
CROSS-REFERENCES 
(CHARACTERISTICS) 

a) Development is 
appealing and 
fosters a sense 
of delight and 
wellbeing for 
occupants, 
visitors and 
passers-by 

Development proposals should 
consciously and demonstrably embed 
beauty as a universal and underpinning 
theme. Beauty can be perceived at many 
levels, from the individual details of a 
building to its composition within its 
setting or longer-range perspectives of 
it.  
 
A vital contributory aspect to this is the 
creative integration of natural features 
into development, both for beauty and 
wellbeing reasons, but also in their own 

IDENTITY (p.15) 
NATURE (p.27) 

Page 169



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 44 

POLICY 
MAXIM 

FURTHER EXPLANATION  
& INTERPRETATION 

NDG 
CROSS-REFERENCES 
(CHARACTERISTICS) 

right for supporting and enhancing 
biodiversity.  
 
Proposals should also demonstrate an 
understanding of the inherent 
relationships between appealing built 
environments and people’s sense of 
wellbeing and enjoyment. 
 
Attractive, appealing developments in 
turn should help foster a sense of pride 
in the environment, increasing the 
likelihood of it being cared for and 
looked after.  

b) Development 
has a positive 
and coherent 
identity and 
character, 
thereby creating 
or contributing 
to a distinct 
sense of place 
and belonging 

Seeking that new development be 
attractive is not enough without 
recognising its contribution to creating or 
reinforcing a sense of place and identity.  
 
Where the character of an existing place 
has limited or few positive qualities, then 
sensitively creating a new character can 
help establish a more positive identity 
and sense of place. 

IDENTITY (p.15) 
BUILT FORM (p.19) 

c) Development 
enhances the 
positive 
qualities of its 
site and setting 
and improves 
negative ones 

Development should respond 
successfully to the attributes of the site 
and setting, building upon and 
reinforcing its positive qualities whilst 
improving its negative qualities.  

CONTEXT (p.11) 

d) Development is 
efficient in 
terms of 
functionality 
and resource 
use 

Development needs to demonstrate that 
it will ‘work’ well in terms of how it 
operates and is used and will embody 
materials and systems that maximise 
energy efficiency and minimise resource 
use and carbon footprint. 

MOVEMENT (p.23) 
HOMES & 
BUILDINGS (p.39) 
RESOURCES (p.43) 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 45 

CHAPTER 7: MONITORING AND REVIEW OF THE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

7.1 The Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared to operate for 

the period 2020 – 2035. This does not however mean that it will be left unchecked 

throughout this 15-year period. Appropriate monitoring is essential to ensure that 

its objectives remain relevant and its policies effective.  

7.2 Monitoring will allow changing circumstances to be considered, whether in terms of 

shifts in wider planning policy frameworks, emerging issues, trends or development 

patterns. If these indicate a need for changes, then the Neighbourhood Plan can be 

reviewed and, where appropriate, revised. 

7.3 The Government’s Planning Practice Guidance confirms that ‘Communities in areas 

where policies in a neighbourhood plan that is in force have become out of date may 

decide to update their plan, or part of it’26.  

7.4 Durham County Council have monitoring and review procedures in place for their 

planning policies and this will include the relationships between the County Durham 

Plan and Neighbourhood Plans.  

7.5 As the Qualifying Body behind this Neighbourhood Plan, CCQ Parish Council will, 

however, undertake its own monitoring in liaison with the County Council to ensure 

that the Plan remains relevant and effective and aligned with the County Durham 

Plan. This will include –  

a) Reviewing the operation of the Neighbourhood Plan at timely intervals; 

b) Assessing the extent to which policies are being effectively implemented; 

c) In the light of b), identifying whether steps need to be taken to ensure policies 

are more effectively implemented, or whether any need to be amended or 

replaced; 

d) Identifying whether policies need amending or replacing to reflect changes in 

national or local planning policy or changed circumstances since the policy was 

drafted. 

 

 

 

 
26 Reference – Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 084 Reference ID: 41-084-20190509 

Page 171



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 46 

POLICIES MAPS 
 

The following Table provides a summary of the Policies Maps which follow:  

 

POLICIES 
MAP 

PAGE 
No 

RELATED 
POLICY MAP DESCRIPTION 

1 46 

Protected Rural 

Settings (CCQ1) 

 

Policies Map 1 identifies the Protected Rural 

Settings (PRS’s) which provide the essential open 

gaps around and between Bowburn, Parkhill and 

nearby settlements.  

2  

(parts 1 

to 17) 

47 
Local Green 

Spaces (CCQ2) 

Policies Map 2 (parts 1-17) identifies 17 Local 

Green Spaces (LGS’s) within and adjacent to the 

built-up areas of the Neighbourhood Area. Each 

LGS is identified individually on its own separate 

map. 

3  

(parts 1 

to 6) 

64 

Locally Valued 

Heritage Assets 

(CCQ3) 

Policies Map 3 (parts 1-6) identifies 6 Locally 

Valued Heritage Assets (LVHA’s) in the 

Neighbourhood Area. Each LVHA is identified 

individually on its own separate map. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 47 

POLICIES MAP 1: Protected Rural Settings (Policy CCQ1)  
 
 

 
 

Page 173



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 48 

POLICIES MAP 2(1): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS1 (Bowburn – Mary Terrace) 
 

 

Page 174



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 49 

POLICIES MAP 2(2): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS2 (Bowburn – Cavell Drive) 

 

 

Page 175



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 50 

POLICIES MAP 2(3): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS3 (Bowburn – Tail-upon-End Lane/Sherburn Road 

 

 

Page 176



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 51 

POLICIES MAP 2(4): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS4 (Bowburn – John Hare’s Wood 
 

 

Page 177



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 52 

POLICIES MAP 2(5): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS5 (Bowburn – Doorstep Green) 
 

 

Page 178



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 53 

POLICIES MAP 2(6): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS6 (Bowburn – Burn Street Allotments 
 

 

Page 179



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 54 

POLICIES MAP 2(7): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS7 (Bowburn - Allotments opposite Community Centre) 
 

 

Page 180



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 55 

POLICIES MAP 2(8): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS8 (Bowburn – Allotments adjacent to Bowburn Park) 
 

 

Page 181



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 56 

POLICIES MAP 2(9): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 

LGS9 (Bowburn – Bowburn Park) 
 

 

Page 182



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 57 

POLICIES MAP 2(10): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS10 (Parkhill – Park Avenue Island) 
 

 

Page 183



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 58 

POLICIES MAP 2(11): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS11 (Parkhill – West Hetton Lodge Woods 
 

 

Page 184



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 59 

POLICIES MAP 2(12): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS12 (Parkhill – Coxhoe Ponds Local Wildlife Site) 
 

 

Page 185



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 60 

POLICIES MAP 2(13): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS13 (Parkhill – Play Area) 
 

 

Page 186



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 61 

POLICIES MAP 2(14): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS14 (Parkhill – Crow Trees Local Nature Reserve) 
 

 

Page 187



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 62 

POLICIES MAP 2(15): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS15 (Cassop - Allotments) 
 

 

Page 188



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 63 

POLICIES MAP 2(16): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS16 (Cassop – Play Area) 
 

 

Page 189



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 64 

POLICIES MAP 2(17): Local Green Space (Policy CCQ2) 
 
LGS17 (Tursdale – Play Area and Allotments) 
 

 

Page 190



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 65 

POLICIES MAP 3(1): Locally Valued Heritage Asset (Policy CCQ3) 
 
LVHA1 (Bowburn – Bowburn School, Wylam Street) 
 

 

Page 191



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 66 

POLICIES MAP 3(2): Locally Valued Heritage Asset (Policy CCQ3) 
 
LVHA2 (Old Cassop – The Hemmel) 
 

 

Page 192



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 67 

POLICIES MAP 3(3): Locally Valued Heritage Asset (Policy CCQ3) 
 
LVHA3 (Parkhill – WWII Air Raid Shelter) 
 

 

Page 193



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 68 

POLICIES MAP 3(4): Locally Valued Heritage Asset (Policy CCQ3) 
 
LVHA4 (Parkhill – Former Clarence Railway) 
 

 

Page 194



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 69 

POLICIES MAP 3(5): Locally Valued Heritage Asset (Policy CCQ3) 
 
LVHA5 (Crow Trees – Colliery Winding Building) 
 

 

Page 195



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 70 

POLICIES MAP 3(6): Locally Valued Heritage Asset (Policy CCQ3) 
 
LVHA6 (Tursdale – Former School) 
 

 

Page 196



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 71 

APPENDICES 
 

The following Table provides a summary of the Appendices which follow: 

 

APPENDIX PAGE No DESCRIPTION 

1 71 
Local Green Spaces: Site Assessment Summary Table  

(note - table extends over 2 pages)  

2 73 Locally Valued Heritage Assets: Assessment Summary Table 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 72 

APPENDIX 1:  

Local Green Spaces - Site Assessment Summary Table 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ke
y 

to
 L

GS
 v

al
ue

s a
nd

 a
tt

rib
ut

es
 in

 c
ol

um
ns

 1
 to

 8
 b

el
ow

:  

1)
 B

ea
ut

y;
 2

) H
ist

or
ic

 v
al

ue
; 3

) R
ec

re
at

io
na

l v
al

ue
; 4

) T
ra

nq
ui

lli
ty

; 5
) W

ild
lif

e 
va

lu
e;

 6
) R

ea
so

na
bl

y 
cl

os
e 

to
 c

om
m

un
ity

; 7
) L

oc
al

 in
 c

ha
ra

ct
er

; 8
) N

ot
 e

xt
en

siv
e 

 Si
te

 
Re

f 
Si

te
 N

am
e 

Si
ze

 
(h

a)
 

D
EM

O
N

ST
RA

BL
Y 

SP
EC

IA
L 

TO
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y:
 

O
TH

ER
 A

TT
RI

BU
TE

S:
 

O
w

ne
rs

hi
p 

1 
2 

3 
4 

5 
Br

ie
f s

um
m

ar
y 

of
 ju

st
ifi

ca
tio

n 
fo

r L
G

S 
6 

7 
8 

LG
S1

 
Bo

w
bu

rn
: 

M
ar

y 
Te

rr
ac

e 
2.

46
 


 


 


 
 

 
Lo

ng
 c

or
rid

or
 o

f w
el

l-m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 
va

lu
ed

 v
isu

al
 a

m
en

ity
 b

uf
fe

r b
et

w
ee

n 
ho

us
in

g 
an

d 
A1

77
  


 


 


 
D

ur
ha

m
 C

ou
nt

y 
Co

un
ci

l 

LG
S2

 
Bo

w
bu

rn
: C

av
el

l 
D

riv
e 

0.
68

 
 

 


 
 

 
Am

en
ity

 o
pe

n 
sp

ac
e 

se
t a

sid
e 

as
 p

ar
t o

f s
ur

ro
un

di
ng

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t –
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

ly
 v

al
ue

d 
fo

r r
ec

re
at

io
n 


 


 


 

D
ur

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
y 

Co
un

ci
l 

LG
S3

 

Bo
w

bu
rn

: 
Ju

nc
tio

n 
of

 T
ai

l-
up

on
-E

nd
 L

an
e 

&
 

Sh
er

bu
rn

 R
d 

0.
50

 


 
 


 
 

 
Li

ne
ar

 a
re

a 
of

 o
pe

n 
sp

ac
e 

w
ith

 tr
ee

s a
nd

 p
la

nt
ed

 a
re

as
 –

 
va

lu
ed

 a
s a

 v
isu

al
 a

m
en

ity
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s f
or

 in
fo

rm
al

 
re

cr
ea

tio
n 

an
d 

re
la

xa
tio

n 
 


 


 


 

D
ur

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
y 

Co
un

ci
l 

LG
S4

 
Bo

w
bu

rn
: 

Jo
hn

 H
ar

e’
s 

W
oo

d 
2.

24
 


 
 


 
 


 
Ar

ea
 o

f m
at

ur
e 

be
ec

h 
an

d 
oa

k 
w

oo
dl

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 is

 ra
re

 in
 

th
e 

bu
ilt

-u
p 

se
tt

le
m

en
t o

f B
ow

bu
rn

. C
on

ta
in

s w
el

l-u
se

d 
pa

th
s p

lu
s t

w
o 

al
lo

tm
en

ts
 


 


 


 

D
ur

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
y 

Co
un

ci
l &

 O
gd

en
 

Pr
op

er
tie

s 

LG
S5

 
Bo

w
bu

rn
: 

D
oo

rs
te

p 
Gr

ee
n 

0.
29

 
 

 


 
 

 
‘Is

la
nd

’ o
f o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

va
lu

ed
 a

m
en

ity
 to

 
su

rr
ou

nd
in

g 
te

rr
ac

ed
 p

ro
pe

rt
ie

s l
ac

ki
ng

 th
ei

r o
w

n 
ga

rd
en

 s
pa

ce
 


 


 


 

CC
Q

 P
ar

ish
 C

ou
nc

il 

LG
S6

 
Bo

w
bu

rn
: 

Al
lo

tm
en

ts
 (B

ur
n 

St
re

et
) 

0.
21

 
 

 


 
 

 
Tw

o 
se

pa
ra

te
 a

llo
tm

en
t g

ar
de

ns
, m

ee
tin

g 
im

po
rt

an
t 

lo
ca

l n
ee

d 
fo

r n
ei

gh
bo

ur
in

g 
te

rr
ac

ed
 h

ou
sin

g 
w

hi
ch

 la
ck

 
ga

rd
en

 s
pa

ce
 


 


 


 

D
ur

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
y 

Co
un

ci
l 

LG
S7

 

Bo
w

bu
rn

: 
Al

lo
tm

en
ts

 (o
pp

. 
Co

m
m

un
ity

 
Ce

nt
re

) 

0.
28

 
 

 


 
 

 
Al

lo
tm

en
ts

 b
ac

ki
ng

 o
nt

o 
Bo

w
bu

rn
 B

ec
k 

– 
m

ee
t 

im
po

rt
an

t l
oc

al
 n

ee
d 

fo
r n

ea
rb

y 
te

rr
ac

ed
 h

ou
sin

g 
w

hi
ch

 
la

ck
 g

ar
de

n 
sp

ac
e 


 


 


 

D
ur

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
y 

Co
un

ci
l 

LG
S8

 

Bo
w

bu
rn

: 
Al

lo
tm

en
ts

 (a
dj

. 
to

 B
ow

bu
rn

 
Pa

rk
) 

1.
37

 
 

 


 
 

 
M

ai
n 

al
lo

tm
en

t s
ite

 in
 B

ow
bu

rn
 –

 w
el

l u
se

d 
an

d 
cl

ea
rly

 
m

ee
tin

g 
im

po
rt

an
t l

oc
al

 n
ee

d 
 


 


 


 

CC
Q

 P
ar

ish
 C

ou
nc

il 

 

Page 198



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 73 

APPENDIX 1: 

Local Green Spaces - Site Assessment Summary Table (continued) 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Ke
y 

to
 L

GS
 v

al
ue

s a
nd

 a
tt

rib
ut

es
 in

 c
ol

um
ns

 1
 to

 8
 b

el
ow

:  

1)
 B

ea
ut

y;
 2

) H
ist

or
ic

 v
al

ue
; 3

) R
ec

re
at

io
na

l v
al

ue
; 4

) T
ra

nq
ui

lli
ty

; 5
) W

ild
lif

e 
va

lu
e;

 6
) R

ea
so

na
bl

y 
cl

os
e 

to
 c

om
m

un
ity

; 7
) L

oc
al

 in
 c

ha
ra

ct
er

; 8
) N

ot
 e

xt
en

siv
e 

 
Si

te
 

Re
f 

Si
te

 N
am

e 
Si

ze
 

(h
a)

 
D

EM
O

N
ST

RA
BL

Y 
SP

EC
IA

L 
TO

 C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y:

 
O

TH
ER

 A
TT

RI
BU

TE
S:

 
O

w
ne

rs
hi

p 
1 

2 
3 

4 
5 

Br
ie

f s
um

m
ar

y 
of

 ju
st

ifi
ca

tio
n 

fo
r L

G
S 

6 
7 

8 

LG
S9

 
Bo

w
bu

rn
: B

ow
bu

rn
 

Pa
rk

 
5.

83
 

 
 


 
 

 
Th

e 
la

rg
es

t, 
m

os
t i

m
po

rt
an

t a
nd

 w
el

l u
se

d 
re

cr
ea

tio
na

l 
op

en
 s

pa
ce

 in
 B

ow
bu

rn
, w

ith
 fo

ot
ba

ll 
pi

tc
he

s a
nd

 
ch

ild
re

n’
s p

la
y 

ar
ea

 


 


 


 
D

ur
ha

m
 C

ou
nt

y 
Co

un
ci

l 

LG
S1

0 
Pa

rk
hi

ll:
 P

ar
k 

Av
en

ue
 Is

la
nd

 
0.

32
 


 
 


 
 

 
Is

la
nd

 o
f o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
su

rr
ou

nd
ed

 b
y 

ho
us

in
g.

 W
ith

 
ch

ild
re

n’
s p

la
y 

ar
ea

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g,
 it

 is
 a

 v
al

ue
d 

re
cr

ea
tio

na
l a

nd
 v

isu
al

 a
m

en
ity

 


 


 


 
D

ur
ha

m
 C

ou
nt

y 
Co

un
ci

l 

LG
S1

1 
Pa

rk
hi

ll:
 P

ar
kh

ill
 

(W
es

t H
et

to
n 

Lo
dg

e)
 W

oo
ds

 
1.

63
 


 


 


 


 


 
W

oo
dl

an
d 

w
ith

 w
el

l-u
se

d 
pa

th
 li

nk
in

g 
th

ro
ug

h 
to

 L
G

S1
2.

 
Co

nt
ai

ns
 a

bu
nd

an
ce

 o
f w

ild
flo

w
er

s, 
bi

rd
lif

e 
an

d 
hi

st
or

ic
 

ai
r r

ai
d 

sh
el

te
r (

se
e 

LV
HA

2)
 


 


 


 

Ec
cl

es
ia

st
ic

al
 

Co
m

m
iss

io
n 

LG
S1

2 
Pa

rk
hi

ll:
 C

ox
ho

e 
Po

nd
s L

oc
al

 
W

ild
lif

e 
Si

te
 

11
.2

9 
 


 


 


 


 

Tr
an

qu
il 

sit
e,

 w
el

l u
se

d 
by

 w
al

ke
rs

, w
ith

 a
bu

nd
an

t w
ild

lif
e 

re
fle

ct
ed

 in
 it

s L
W

S 
st

at
us

 in
 th

e 
Co

un
ty

 D
ur

ha
m

 P
la

n.
 

Al
so

, h
ist

or
ic

al
 v

al
ue

 a
s f

or
m

er
 C

la
re

nc
e 

ra
ilw

ay
 (s

ee
 

LV
H

A5
) 


 


 


 

Re
ds

ca
pe

 

LG
S1

3 
Pa

rk
hi

ll:
 P

la
y 

Ar
ea

 
2.

40
 

 
 


 
 

 
Es

ta
bl

ish
ed

 c
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

pl
ay

 a
re

a 
an

d 
pl

ay
in

g 
fie

ld
 


 


 


 

D
ur

ha
m

 C
ou

nt
y 

Co
un

ci
l 

LG
S1

4 
Cr

ow
 T

re
es

 L
oc

al
 

N
at

ur
e 

Re
se

rv
e 

9.
89

 


 


 


 


 


 

Im
po

rt
an

t n
at

ur
al

 a
re

a,
 re

fle
ct

ed
 in

 it
s L

N
R 

st
at

us
 in

 th
e 

Co
un

ty
 D

ur
ha

m
 P

la
n.

 S
ig

ni
fic

an
t w

ild
lif

e 
va

lu
e 

an
d 

w
el

l 
us

ed
 b

y 
w

al
ke

rs
, c

yc
lis

ts
 a

nd
 h

or
se

 ri
de

rs
. A

lso
, h

ist
or

ic
al

 
va

lu
e 

du
e 

to
 m

in
in

g 
le

ga
cy

 a
nd

 c
on

ta
in

s f
or

m
er

 c
ol

lie
ry

 
w

in
di

ng
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

(s
ee

 L
VH

A3
)  


 


 


 

Ta
rm

ac
/D

ur
ha

m
 

Co
un

ty
 C

ou
nc

il 

LG
S1

5 
Ca

ss
op

: 
Al

lo
tm

en
ts

 
0.

20
 

 
 


 
 

 
Im

po
rt

an
t a

s o
nl

y 
al

lo
tm

en
t s

ite
 in

 C
as

so
p 


 


 


 

Ch
ur

ch
 

Co
m

m
iss

io
ne

rs
 

LG
S1

6 
Ca

ss
op

:  
Pl

ay
 A

re
a 

1.
24

 
 

 


 
 

 
Ch

ild
re

n’
s e

qu
ip

pe
d 

pl
ay

 a
re

a.
  

Im
po

rt
an

t a
s i

t’s
 th

e 
on

ly
 p

la
y 

ar
ea

 in
 C

as
so

p 


 


 


 
D

ur
ha

m
 C

ou
nt

y 
Co

un
ci

l 

LG
S1

7 
Tu

rs
da

le
: P

la
y 

Ar
ea

 
&

 A
llo

tm
en

ts
 

0.
69

 
 

 


 
 

 
Eq

ui
pp

ed
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s p
la

y 
ar

ea
, s

m
al

l p
la

yi
ng

 fi
el

d 
an

d 
al

lo
tm

en
ts

 s
er

vi
ng

 lo
ca

l r
es

id
en

ts
 o

f T
ur

sd
al

e 


 


 


 
CC

Q
 P

ar
ish

 
Co

un
ci

l 

 

Page 199



Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035 

 Page 74 

APPENDIX 2:  

Locally Valued Heritage Assets - Assessment Summary Table 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Ke
y 

to
 L

VH
A 

at
tr

ib
ut

es
 &

 v
al

ue
s 

a)
 to

 h
) b

el
ow

:  

a)
 R

ar
ity

; b
) R

ep
re

se
nt

at
iv

en
es

s;
 c

) A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 in

te
re

st
; d

) L
an

dm
ar

k 
Va

lu
e;

 e
) G

ro
up

 V
al

ue
; f

) A
es

th
et

ic
 in

te
re

st
; g

) H
is

to
ric

al
 A

ss
oc

ia
tio

n;
 h

) A
rc

ha
eo

lo
gi

ca
l i

nt
er

es
t 

 
LV

HA
  

Re
f 

LV
HA

 N
am

e 
At

tr
ib

ut
es

 &
 v

al
ue

s o
f L

VH
A 

(s
ee

 k
ey

 a
bo

ve
) 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 w
hy

 L
VH

A 
is 

lo
ca

lly
 v

al
ue

d 
a 

b 
c 

d 
e 

f 
g 

h 

LV
HA

1 
Bo

w
bu

rn
 S

ch
oo

l 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 

Pr
om

in
en

t l
an

dm
ar

k 
bu

ild
in

gs
 in

 B
ow

bu
rn

 C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
Ar

ea
. T

he
se

 a
tt

ra
ct

iv
e 

sc
ho

ol
 

bu
ild

in
gs

 w
er

e 
bu

ilt
 fo

r t
he

 n
ew

 c
ol

lie
ry

 v
ill

ag
e 

in
 1

90
9 

an
d 

ar
e 

th
e 

on
ly

 s
ch

oo
ls 

(a
t a

 ti
m

e 
w

he
n 

m
an

y 
ot

he
rs

 w
er

e 
bu

ilt
) t

o 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

de
sig

ne
d 

by
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

 H
. T

. G
ra

do
n,

 w
ho

 a
lso

 
de

si
gn

ed
 D

ur
ha

m
 M

in
er

s 
Ha

ll 
(a

 li
st

ed
 b

ui
ld

in
g)

 a
t R

ed
 H

ill
, D

ur
ha

m
, b

ui
lt 

in
 1

91
5 

LV
HA

2 
Th

e 
He

m
m

el
, 

O
ld

 C
as

so
p 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 

Tr
ad

iti
on

al
 4

 b
ay

 st
on

e/
pa

nt
ile

 a
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l b
ui

ld
in

g 
pr

om
in

en
tly

 s
ite

d 
in

 th
e 

O
ld

 C
as

so
p 

Co
ns

er
va

tio
n 

Ar
ea

. R
em

na
nt

 o
f a

 fo
rm

er
 la

rg
er

 fa
rm

st
ea

d 
da

tin
g 

ba
ck

 to
 a

t l
ea

st
 th

e 
18

th
 

ce
nt

ur
y.

 T
he

 C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
Ar

ea
 C

ha
ra

ct
er

 A
pp

ra
isa

l r
ec

or
ds

 th
at

 th
e 

bu
ild

in
g 

fo
rm

s a
 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 v
ie

w
 n

or
th

 a
nd

 is
 a

 re
m

in
de

r o
f t

he
 n

ow
 lo

st
 fa

rm
st

ea
d.

 

LV
HA

3 
W

W
2 

Ai
r R

ai
d 

Sh
el

te
r, 

Pa
rk

hi
ll 


 


 


 


 
 

 


 
 

Co
nc

re
te

 u
nd

er
gr

ou
nd

 a
ir 

ra
id

 sh
el

te
r, 

pr
es

um
ed

 to
 h

av
e 

be
en

 b
ui

lt 
fo

r t
he

 o
cc

up
an

ts
 o

f t
he

 
ne

ar
by

 c
ol

lie
ry

 m
an

ag
er

’s
 h

ou
se

, W
es

t H
et

to
n 

Lo
dg

e,
 w

hi
ch

 w
as

 d
em

ol
ish

ed
 in

 1
96

1.
 

Po
ss

ib
ly

 th
e 

on
ly

 re
m

ai
ni

ng
 W

W
II 

ai
r r

ai
d 

sh
el

te
r (

an
d 

ce
rt

ai
nl

y 
th

e 
on

ly
 re

m
ai

ni
ng

 d
om

es
tic

 
W

W
II 

ai
r r

ai
d 

sh
el

te
r)

 in
 th

e 
pa

ris
h.

 B
el

ie
ve

d 
to

 b
e 

of
 u

nu
su

al
 (a

nd
 p

os
sib

ly
 ra

re
) c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

de
si

gn
, b

ei
ng

 m
ad

e 
of

 c
on

cr
et

e.
  

LV
HA

4 
Fo

rm
er

 C
la

re
nc

e 
Ra

ilw
ay

, P
ar

kh
ill

 


 


 
 


 


 
 


 

 
Th

is
 c

ut
tin

g 
an

d 
em

ba
nk

m
en

t w
er

e 
th

e 
m

ai
n 

ea
rt

hw
or

ks
 o

f a
ll 

th
at

 w
as

 b
ui

lt 
of

 th
e 

‘S
he

rb
ur

n’
 b

ra
nc

h 
of

 th
e 

hi
st

or
ic

al
ly

 im
po

rt
an

t C
la

re
nc

e 
Ra

ilw
ay

. T
ha

t b
ra

nc
h 

w
as

 c
ru

ci
al

 to
 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f c
ol

lie
rie

s 
in

 th
e 

Q
ua

rr
in

gt
on

 c
oa

lfi
el

d 
in

 th
e 

m
id

-1
9t

h 
ce

nt
ur

y.
  

LV
HA

5 
Co

lli
er

y 
W

in
di

ng
 

Bu
ild

in
g,

 C
ro

w
 

Tr
ee

s 


 


 
 


 


 
 


 


 

Co
lli

er
y 

he
ad

 g
ea

r h
ou

si
ng

 st
ru

ct
ur

e 
– 

a 
pr

om
in

en
t l

an
ds

ca
pe

 fe
at

ur
e 

as
 w

el
l a

s b
ei

ng
 b

es
id

e 
pu

bl
ic

 fo
ot

pa
th

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
Cr

ow
tr

ee
s L

oc
al

 N
at

ur
e 

Re
se

rv
e.

 B
el

ie
ve

d 
to

 b
e 

th
e 

on
ly

 
re

m
ai

ni
ng

 c
ol

lie
ry

 s
tr

uc
tu

re
 w

ith
in

 so
m

e 
m

ile
s.

 In
 th

e 
19

th
 c

en
tu

ry
 it

 w
as

 in
 th

e 
he

ar
t o

f a
 

he
av

ily
 in

du
st

ria
lis

ed
 a

re
a.

 T
he

 st
ru

ct
ur

e 
its

el
f i

s 
be

lie
ve

d 
to

 b
e 

th
e 

on
ly

 o
ne

 o
f i

ts
 k

in
d 

in
 th

e 
no

rt
h 

ea
st

 b
ut

 m
ay

 h
av

e 
m

or
e 

th
an

 ju
st

 re
gi

on
al

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nc
e.

  

LV
HA

6 
Fo

rm
er

 S
ch

oo
l, 

Tu
rs

da
le

 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 

Fr
on

ta
ge

 o
f o

rig
in

al
 sc

ho
ol

 p
re

se
rv

ed
 w

he
n 

th
e 

bu
ild

in
g 

w
as

 c
on

ve
rt

ed
 in

to
 fo

ur
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 in
 

20
03

. T
he

 sc
ho

ol
, d

es
ig

ne
d 

by
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

 W
. R

us
hw

or
th

, w
as

 o
pe

ne
d 

by
 L

ad
y 

Fl
or

en
ce

 B
el

l i
n 

19
13

. I
ts

 fr
on

ta
ge

 is
 v

al
ue

d 
bo

th
 fo

r i
ts

 a
tt

ra
ct

iv
e 

de
sig

n 
an

d 
its

 h
is

to
ric

al
 a

ss
oc

ia
tio

ns
. 

 

Page 200


	Agenda
	1 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2021
	7 Report from the Cabinet
	8 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2022/23 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	9 Treasury Management Outturn 2020/21 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	10 Report of the Audit Committee for the Period September 2020 to August 2021 - Report of Chair of the Audit Committee
	11 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2020-2021 - Report of Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
	Appendix 2 - CPP Annual Report

	12 Adoption of Cassop-cum-Quarrington Neighbourhood Plan - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Neighbourhood Plan CCQ
	Acknowledgements
	Frank Salisbury
	What is the Neighbourhood Plan, how will it operate and how is it structured?
	Why has a Neighbourhood Plan been prepared for the Parish?
	What process was followed in preparing the Neighbourhood Plan?
	How does the Neighbourhood Plan fit into other planning policies or legal requirements?
	Introduction
	2.1 The area covered by this Neighbourhood Plan is the same as the area covered by the civil parish of Cassop-cum-Quarrington (hereafter abbreviated to CCQ). The Neighbourhood Area boundary therefore follows the Parish boundary as defined in the map b...
	2.2 For consistency, the Plan will hereafter simply use the term ‘the Parish’ when referring to the Neighbourhood Area.
	2.3 The purpose of this chapter is to set the scene for the Neighbourhood Plan by providing a descriptive overview of the Parish and its people. This will include a brief account of its geography, history and population characteristics and some of the...
	Geography
	2.4 The Parish of CCQ extends to 1415 hectares6F  straddling the A1(M) motorway, approximately 3 miles to the south east of Durham City (see geographical context map below).
	Coal Mining
	1) BOWBURN
	2.19 Before 1906, Bowburn was a tiny agricultural settlement. Today it is by far the largest in the Parish, benefitting from its proximity to the A1(M). It grew firstly with the erection of the first 200 colliery houses near the Durham-Stockton road (...
	2.20 By the 1930’s, the first Council estate had started to be built at Park Hill (formerly part of Bowburn), with other estates being added either side of Crowtrees Lane. North Bowburn Council estate followed post war, together with others near Bowbu...
	2.21 More recently, permission has been granted for further large-scale housing, extending southwards from Bowburn. This is part of the major mixed-use development site known as Integra 61 owing to its strategic location near junction 61 of the A1(M).
	2) PARKHILL
	3) TURSDALE
	5) OLD CASSOP
	6) CASSOP

	Population
	Employment

	APPENDIX 2:
	Locally Valued Heritage Assets - Assessment Summary Table





